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PART I

FORWARDLOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain “forwaroking statementsiithin the meanin
of the Private Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Exalep of forwardlooking statements include, but are not limited (&) projections of «
statements regarding return on investment, futar@iegs, interest income, sales, volume, othernregoearnings or loss per share, gre
prospects, capital structure, and other finaneiahs, (b) statements of plans and objectives ofag@ment, (c) statements of future econt
performance, and (d) statements of assumptionk, asieconomic conditions underlying other statemeuich forwardeoking statements c
be identified by the use of forward-looking termingy such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “continuégould,” “estimate,” “expects,” “intend,”
“may,” “might,” “outlook,” “potential,” “predict,” “should, “ “will,” as well as the negative of any of the foregoingasiations of such terms
comparable terminology, or by discussion of stratdgo assurance may be given that the future esidscribed by the forwatdeking
statements will be achieved. While we believe theserardlooking statements are reasonable, they are omlgligtions and are subject
known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and othetdirs, many of which are beyond our control, whichld cause actual results, perform:
or achievement to differ materially from anticipdtiiture results, performance or achievement espkesr implied by such forwaldeking
statements. In addition, other risks, uncertainssumptions, and factors that could affect osmlte and prospects are described in this re
including under the heading “ltem 1A. Risk Factoasid elsewhere, and may further be described irotingorior and future filings with tt
Securities and Exchange Commission and other writed oral statements made or released by us. fBughrdlooking statements in tt
Annual Report on Form 10-K include, without limitat, those contained in Iltem 1. Business, Item @ndjemens Discussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations, I&rrinancial Statements and Supplementary Dathyding, without limitation, the Notes
Consolidated Financial Statements, and Item 11clie Compensation.

” o LT

” o« " ow

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are caetionot to place undue reliance on such forwardigpstatements. These forwambking
statements speak only as of the date they were,raadeve assume no obligation to update forwaotting statements to reflect actual res
or changes in or additions to the factors affecingh forward-looking statements.
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| tem 1. Business

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

CurtissWright Corporation is a diversified, multinatioraiovider of highly engineered, technologically adeed products and services. We
the corporate descendants of the Wright brothéws,fathers of flight, and Mr. Glenn Curtiss, theh& of naval aviation. In 1929, {
companies founded by these three great aviatiomepie merged to form the largest aircraft compdrtheatime, Curtis®V/right Corporatior
Today, we design and manufacture highly engineemddanced technologies that perform critical fumtdiin demanding conditions in
defense, power generation, oil and gas, commeagisdspace, and general industrial markets, whdetysperformance, and reliability ¢
essential. We are incorporated under the laws efState of Delaware and headquartered in ParsippahyWe are listed on the New Y
Stock Exchange and trade under the symbol CW.

Our strategy is to maintain a balanced portfoliogimw sales and profitability consistently throughganic growth supplemented
acquisitions. We intend to accomplish this by =itilg our technical capabilities to maintain andangb our niche market positions with hig
engineered products and services. We maintainambedl and diversified business portfolio with raxesgenerated across our defense, er
and commercial/industrial markets. We also contitmedevelop new core competencies, such as elécteord sensor technologies, .
continue to look for innovative ways to serve oustomer base. We believe our ability to design @exklop future generations of advar
electronics systems is a strategic growth areghiohigh performance platforms in our served matkadrticularly in embedded computing
electronic systems. We intend to continue to exeout growth strategy that focuses on diversifaratn complementary markets that dern
high performance and highly engineered productssandices.

Our core competence is providing advanced techmedofpr customers operating in harsh environmdntaddition to meeting demandi
performance requirements, our technologies aredle to improve worker safety, minimize impact be énvironment, and improve opera
efficiency. We compete globally primarily based t@echnology and pricing. Our business challengehlidlec price pressure, environmel
impact, geopolitical events, such as the war omotism and diplomatic accords. Our ability to padwmihighperformance, advanc
technologies on a cost-effective basis is fundaaieatour strategy for meeting customer demand.

Business Segments

We manage and evaluate our operations based qrdbtacts we offer and the different markets we seBased on this approach, we ope
through three segments: Flow Control, Controlsnferly known as Motion Control), and Surface Tecbg@s (formerly known as Me
Treatment).

Our principal manufacturing facilities are locatiedthe United States in New Jersey, New York, Oreddorth Carolina, Pennsylvania, i
Texas, and internationally in Canada and the Uri{iegdom.

Flow Control

Our Flow Control segment specializes in the desigth manufacture of highly engineered, crititaletion products including valves, purr
motors, generators, instrumentation, shipboardesyst vessels, and control electronics. These ptednanage the flow of liquids and ga
generate power, provide electronic operating systemd monitor or provide critical functions. In12) net sales in our Flow Control segn
of $1,095 million represented 52% of our total sees.

This segment’s primary markets are naval deferm@epgeneration, oil and gas, and general indlistria

The Flow Control segment operates through four afpeg divisions: Electrddechanical Systems, Nuclear Group, Oil and Gasesyst an
Marine and Power Products.

Electro-Mechanical Systems

Our Electro-Mechanical Systems division producesaded electranechanical and pumping solutions for the navalmEfepower generatic
oil and gas, and other general industrial markete division designs and manufactures advanceidairfunction pumps, motors, generat
ship propulsors, mechanical seals, control rodedrivechanisms, power conditioning electronics, pylseer supplies, integrated mc
controls, composite materials applications, andgaten technologies solutions.
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In the naval defense market, we are a supplie@feride array of ship building programs includingclear aircraft carrier and submat
programs, offering power and propulsion technolegés well as auxiliary systems. This division deps, designs, manufactures, and perft
qualification testing of critical-function, electroechanical solutions for its primary customer, th&. Navy, including main coolant pum
critical-function pumps, poweatense compact motors, main and ship service gemgraecondary propulsion systems, and design esagim
and testing services. The division has served tise Navy for over 50 years and is a preferred seppl single source provider of pumps
are used in nuclear propulsion systems. The divisilso overhauls and provides critical spares futsuserving the fleet on operatio
platforms. Current platforms include the Nimitz aRdrd class aircraft carriers and the Virginia, LAsgeles, Seawolf, and Ohio CI
submarines.

Electro-Mechanical Systemgroducts are also sold to the nuclear power gedoeraharket. We provide Reactor Coolant Pump (F
technology, pump seals, and control rod drive meisinas for commercial nuclear power plants.

In the general industrial market, we design, dgwetmd manufacture integrated motontrols and protection technology solutions fagioal
equipment manufacturers (OEMs) and industrial gusts. We engineer and manufacture a full rangaigded, reliable, and internation:
compliant products that control the amount of eleat current provided to motors. Custom panel Sois include a variety of low and medi
voltage components, such as starters, drives, cionga breakers, and other related devices. Whike is a highly competitive market, «
installed base of control units, with hundreds o$tom designed systems supports customers in thestimal heating, ventilation, and
conditioning (HVAC) market, as well as in the mupal services and energy processing markets, imgupetrochemicals, power generat
mining, and transportation.

Nuclear Group

The Nuclear Group division designs, manufacturesridutes, and qualifies flow control products farclear power plants, nuclear equipn
manufacturers, hydroelectric energy producersiii& Department of Energy (DoE), and the U.S. Diapamt of Defense (DoD). This divisi
offers a wide range of hardware, including pum@dyes, pressure vessels, fastening systems, spedialontainment doors, airlock hatcl
and electrical units. In addition, we provide agarof services including bolting solutions, nucletorage solutions, spent fuel managel
solutions, nordestructive examination (NDE), fluid sealing teclogies and services, obsolescence solutions, atedpgise resource plannit
We provide diagnostic equipment, consulting, testand inspection services that help support gdlmextensions and power upgrades ol
104 operating reactors in the United States, akasedperating reactors located throughout thedvorl

We maintain all of the regulatory certificationsi@vn as “N-stamps”) required to provide represématand certification and/or qualify value-
added nuclear-grade products both domesticallyiatgdnationally. N-stamp certification indicatescteargrade status as designated by
NRC. We compete in this market through an exparded/ of nuclear technology, indus-benchmarked quality assurance programs, stri
alliances, resident expertise, and customer retiognior our longterm service commitment to solving the unique @raes of the nucle
market.

Oil and Gas Systems

Our Oil and Gas Systems division designs and matwikes valves, vessel products and related equipraed also provides Maintenar
Repair and Overhaul (MRO) services and supporthéoglobal oil and gas industry. Primary produets/ing downstream refinery custom
include coke unheading systems, fluidic catalytacking unit (FCCU) components, pressure relief/es) pressure protection systems, s
vessels, and engineering design tools for theirgfijrchemical, and process industries, and wedbled control systems for refinery monito
and process control. Products serving midstreamugstream customers include energy production,gasing and environmental soluti
such as separators, combination separator/hyduaits, and flow back and oil treating equipmente Tdivision also provides production :
processing equipment to the U.S. shale oil andhgaket.

In the process industry, our coke unheading systeich includes top and bottom unheading valveslat®n valves, cutting tools, val
automation, process control, and protection systemables safer coke drum operation during theirgfiprocess.

In addition, our FCCU product portfolio includesstem-designed valves, engineered pressure vessels,canplamentary components t
operate in industrial process applications inclgdinid, residual, and catalytic cracking unitsvesll as power generation, steel manufac
and ore reduction. We manufacture, repair, and fpatifice chambers, hydrotreaters, and Americani&@y of Mechanical Engineers cc
pressure vessels. In addition, we provide a widagyaof field services, including equipment repaigdification, and replacement; inspectiol
valves, controls, pipes, and refractory linings;jmtenance planning and scheduling for valves androbsystems; diagnostic assistance
troubleshooting problems in




critical components; and on-site system trainimg2011, we opened a new manufacturing facility addblarge thickwalled vessels (call¢
“super vesselstvhich include coke drums, fractionators, reactorgenerators, hydrotreaters, and fluid catalytacking units) for the refinin
petrochemical, and nuclear power industries.

The division also is a supplier of global MRO seed and support. Our safety relief valve and presgrotection system portfolio incorpore
a broad range of valve sizes and ratings used wida range of chemical and process industry apidies. The valves are marketec
individual components or at the subsystem/systeml.|& he proprietary iPRSM®oftware provides a broad set of design and mangdools
for process operators, incorporating the lateststy and regulatory standards.

Marine and Power Products

Our Marine and Power Products division producesh-pigrformance, specialized valve solutions, desigmd manufactures valves
commercial nuclear markets and valves, actuatods ather shipboard naval systems including airchafihdling systems, cable handli
systems, and specialized electronic instrumentatf@hcontrol equipment.

Our valve solutions control the flow of liquids agdses for vessels and equipment used in the defpawer generation, and general indus
markets. We design, engineer, and manufacturegsfpsaded, piloteperated pressure relief valves and solenoid operalves, as well as b
valves used in standard and advanced applicatiocisding high-cycle, higlpressure, extreme temperature, and corrosive ptantonments
Our products are engineered to meet stringent pedoce and reliability requirements. We provideieegring support, testing, repair, i
consulting services globally.

In the naval defense market, we design valvesdtetitilized in the nuclear propulsion system ofudlly every nuclear submarine and airc
carrier commissioned by the U.S. Navy. The divisadso designs and manufactures eleoteshanical systems for securing and trave
military aircraft and helicopters aboard naval etssThese shipboard aircraft and helicopter hagddiystems are used by the U.S. Navy
more than ten other navies around the world. We @ésign and build shipboard specialized strucflinetuding telescopic hangars and dc
Specialized cable handling systems are designednamdfactured for towing active and passive sopstess for both submarines and sur
ships. This division also provides custom desigaed commercial-off-thehelf (COTS) electronic circuit boards and systémthe U.S. Navy

For commercial markets, we provide specialized emlio commercial nuclear power plants and geneomegsing industries worldwide. \
also provide towbarless and conventional aircraftdting systems to the commercial aerospace induStbmpetition is based upon quality
technology, price, installed base, and deliveryem

Backlog

Total backlog includes both funded (unfilled ord&swhich funding is authorized, appropriated, aodtractually obligated by the custon
and unfunded backlog (firm orders for which fundings not been appropriated and/or contractualligatdd by the customer). We ar
subcontractor to prime contractors for the vastomitgj of our government business; as such substgn@ll amounts in backlog are fund
Backlog excludes unexercised contract options aenpial orders under ordering type contracts (edefinite Delivery / Indefinite Quantity
Backlog is adjusted for changes in foreign exchamages and is reduced for contract cancellatiostanminations in the period in which tt
occur. There were no significant contract candeltet which affected backlog in 2012.

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2012, $1a888 million, of which $659 million is expecteal lte shipped after one year, comp.
with backlog of $1,154 million at December 31, 2011

Controls

Our Controls segment designs, develops, manufagtarel maintains mechanical actuation and driveeBys specialized sensors, motors
electronic controller units, and missiornitical embedded computing components and corgystems. In 2012, net sales in our Con
segment of $727 million represented 35% of our tw¢h sales.

This segment’s primary markets are commercial e aerospace defense, ground defense, and Igadasdrial.

Our Controls segment is managed through four ojperativisions: Defense Solutions (previously knoas Embedded Computing), Fli
Systems, Avionics and Industrial, and Integratexs8ey.




Defense Solution:

Our Defense Solutions division designs, develops] enanufactures rugged embedded computing beasd- modules and integral
subsystems, primarily for the aerospace and groefighse markets, and supports the U.S. Governs€estnmand, Control, Communicatic
Computers, Intelligence, Surveillance, and Recawaamice (C4ISR) applications. Using standard, cowiaigr available electroni
technologies, coupled with applicatidemain specific knowledge, we offer COTS hardwand aoftware modules based on open indi
standards. We also offer high performance eleatrpatkaging and thermal management systems usstgnaiand standardsased enclosure
Our advanced subsystems are integrated using sthndalules and custom modules based dmounse intellectual property content as we
third-party technology.

We also offer a broad array of support services ithaude lifecycle management, technical support, training, esmstom engineering
modules and fully integrated subsystems. We aiaglessource supplier for higllensity radar processing, data communicationstadligigna
processing, video and graphics, recording and né&twtwrage, analog acquisition and reconstructiadar, and integrated subsystems.
COTS modules and integrated subsystems are desigrmztform in harsh conditions where space, weightl power constraints are critis
Our rugged products are designed to perform ineextr temperatures and environments, enduring higbksand vibration, as well as
commercial environments for use in laboratory aedign environment applications.

In the air, Defense Solutions supports technoldigiealvanced military platforms including the BogiR-8 Poseidon and Lockheed Martin’s F
35 Lightning Il Joint Strike Fighter (F-35 JSF).&'k-35 JSF is the negeneration fighter aircraft being designed for bgell three branch

of the U.S. military as well as by several forefgovernments. This division also provides the adednmission management system, fl
control computers, and the sensor management fanitedvanced aerospace platforms including the &létawk, the U.S. Air Force’s high-
altitude and high-endurance unmanned aerial vetaslevell as the U.S. Navy’s variant of the Gladaivk platform called Triton.

On the ground, the divisios’'subsystem products are used in a wide variegpplfications for military ground vehicles, includifire control
aiming, and stabilization, munitions loading, amyieonmental processors. These products are usemmibat platforms such as the Brac
Fighting Vehicle, the Abrams Tank, and the Strylenily of vehicles. Our modules, featuring commalgrocessors on open standard b
architectures, are used in numerous active progrartisiding the Improved Bradley Acquisition Systelmproved Tow Acquisition Syste
and U.S. Marine Corps’ Ground/Air Task Orientatl®adar program.

Our products are sold primarily to prime contrastand subsystem suppliers located principally & tited States, United Kingdom,
Canada, both directly and through a network of pehelent sales representatives. In recent yearspetdion in the embedded electro
systems market has migrated away from traditiopaldb competitors toward fully integrated subsysserd system providers, selling to pri
and secondier defense and aerospace companies. Competitithis market is based on quality of technologycgrand delivery time
market.

Flight Systems

Our Flight Systems division’s product offerings ttte commercial OEM and aerospace defense marketistmf electranechanical ar
hydroimechanical actuation control components and systhatsare designed to position aircraft controffates or operate flaps, slats,
utility systems such as canopies, cargo doors, @reajpay doors, and other moving devices used amnaétir Aircraft applications incluc
actuators and electro-mechanical control systemshi® Boeing 737, 747, 743-757, 767, 777, and 787 civil air transports, ltekhee!
Martin F-16 Falcon fighter jet, the Boeing F/A-1&idet fighter jet, the P-8 Poseidon, the Bell Bgeit22 Osprey, and the Sikorsky Bl
Hawk and Seahawk helicopters. The Flight Systemisidn is also developing flight control actuatarsd weapons handling systems for the |
35 JSF program. This division also provides comiaé@rlines, the military, and general aviationstamers with component overhaul
repair of hydraulic, mechanical, and electro-meat&itcomponents and component exchange services\itde array of aircraft.

Flight Systems also designs, manufactures, andildists electro-mechanical and eledigadraulic actuation components and systems
electronic controls for military tracked and whekleehicles within the ground defense and commemalkets. These products include tt
aiming and stabilization and weapons handling systéor armored military vehicles. In addition, weoyide a range of general indust
products, such as fuel control valves for large mw@mcial transport ships, stabilization systems, andriety of commercial servo valves.

Flight Systems products are sold primarily throagtiirect domestic sales force and internationakoit of independent sales representat
Sales are made directly to OEMs, airlines, and gowent agencies.




Our Flight Systems products are sold in competitigtih a number of other suppliers, some of whomehbroader product lines and gre
financial, technical, and human resources. The ebitiye environment for these products is focusadacshort list of companies, with rec
strategic trends at the prime contractor levelltegpin a smaller market of vertically integratsedppliers, while prime contractors specializ
integration and final assembly. Price, technicglatality, performance, service, and investmenttaesprimary forces of competition, toget
with an ability to offer solutions to perform coolftand actuation functions on new production protga

Avionics and Industrial

The Avionics and Industrial division develops systievel products that acquire, consolidate, analgrel record all of an aircraft'critica
sensor and avionics data. The division also igpplger of highly engineered commercial productsduisea wide range of industrial applicatis
such as transportation, off-highway equipment, icaating and recording, and motorsports.

Our avionics products have flown on over 300 ddferaircraft platforms, including the Boeing 73®tafl78 commercial airplanes and
Apache, Black Hawk, Stallion, and Chinook helicogiatforms. Our systems are deployed in a widgeaof airborne applications includi
aerospace controllers, flight recording, air daimputing, flight test, and aircraft ice, fire, ahdzard systems, as well as space data hai
systems.

The divisions airborne products include crash protected, misdimght test, and usage data recorders whichdasigned to provide optirr
performance in the widest range of environments.d&x@mple, our cockpit voice recorders and crashepted recorders meet or exceec
requirements of the Federal Aviation Administrati&®\A) and other key agencies. The divis®proven family of scalable and modular
concentrator units serve in a wide variety of agags controller applications, while our highly dgofable and reliable air data compu
solutions help ensure flight safety. Flying in foasted icing conditions that would formerly havewgrd aircraft is made possible with
advanced ice detection and protection systems.|¥desarve the avionics market as a supplier ofifltgst instrumentation and a broad rang
sensors that provide key functionality in almostmnype of vehicle, from aerial work platformsdieampionship Formula One race cars.

In the industrial transportation field, our joystiproducts deliver state-of-the-art performancea wide variety of offaighway equipment ai
off-road vehicles. We also develop technology solutfongnmonitoring, recording and controlling vehiclesservice under extreme opera
conditions, for critical applications such as piesitsensing and controllers used in railway traciad maintenance vehicles.

Integrated Sensing

Our Integrated Sensing division develops and manurfes a broad range of industry leading sensorgrallers, and electronic control syste
and subsystems for commercial aviation, aerospafende, and general industrial markets. The dirisismoke detection sensors, solen:
and solenoid valve products provide critical fuactlity for a wide variety of platforms includingdraulic, pneumatic, and fuel systems. T
are also used in cooling fan and motor designsdiuition, the division provides controllers, rotagnsors, and electroechanical actuatic
subsystems used in flight, engine, and environnheotarols for aircraft and space applications.

Competitive differentiators for Integrating Sensiimglude technical leadership and support, proguite, and customer service. Integri
Sensing products are marketed through facilitie@United Kingdom, Germany, and the United Statésnufacturing facilities have be
established in Mexico and China.

Backlog

Backlog for this segment at December 31, 2012, $&63 million, of which $390 million is expected be shipped after one year, comp:
with a backlog of $538 million at December 31, 20$uibstantially all amounts in backlog are fundaat] there were no significant cont
cancellations which affected backlog in 2012.

Surface Technologies

Our Surface Technologies segment provides techaaraices to enhance the performance and duragkehtgnd the life, and prevent prema
fatigue and failure on customsupplied metal components. In 2012, net sales oBauface Technologies segment of $276 million Bbatec
13% to our total net sales.




This segmens primary markets are commercial and defense aatespower generation, and general industrial msrkecluding automotiv
transportation, construction equipment, and miaoelbus metal working industries.

This segment provides four primary technical sewion highly stressed, critical function componesit®t peening, laser peening, spec
coatings, and analytical services.

Through a combination of acquisitions and new plamgnings, we continue to increase the segrmergtwork of regional facilities. Surfe
Technologies operations are now conducted througheuworld including in the United States, Canddiaited Kingdom, Western Europe, :
Asia. Our Surface Technologies services are maikaitectly by our employees. We compete in thisvset on the basis of quality, serv
and price.

Shot Peening

Shot peening is a process by which the durabifitjmetal parts is enhanced by bombarding the patitface with spherical media, such as
shot or ceramic or glass beads, creating a layezsiflual, compressive stress that results in er@thresistance to fatigue and stress failui
addition, shot peen forming shapes metal panels agtodynamic curvatures, which are assembled ag skins of commercial and milite
aircraft. Currently, Curtis¥right is conducting shot peen forming on wing ganend other components for Airbus, Boeing, andel
aerospace OEMs.

Laser Peening

Laser peening is a sophisticated surface treatmpesdess that utilizes a proprietary high energerdageveloped in conjunction with 1
Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory. Althoughstsimilar in nature to shot peening, the lasenggg process results in unprecede
resistance to fatigue and stress failure. It iglusgroduction to form the wing skins on the Bapif¥738 aircraft, and also to extend the life
critical commercial and industrial components, ullihg critical turbine engine fan blades.

Specialty Coatings

Specialty coatings primarily consist of the apgima of solid film lubricant and corrosion resistagrotective coatings to metal compont
used in critical applications for a broad rangéndfustries. The coatings are applied by eitherinapmay or a dipping and spinning proces:
bulk applications.

We recently entered the thermal spray coatingsaaradding new offerings in the area of coating€tmtiss-Wrights existing portfolio ¢
coating technologies. Thermal spray coatings ireloidh velocity oxygen fuel, plasma spray, and #aspray coatings.

We also have diversified our capabilities into tirewing medical market by the addition of a vapepdakition process to apply paryl
coatings to medical devices, including rubber aitidoge seals and wire forming mandrels used in rirenufacture of catheters. Paryl
coatings provide resistance to solvents and mastnd are biocompatible.

Analytical Services

Analytical Services provides mechanical and metgibal testing services to materials for the aeaosp power generation, and mec
markets. As a cornerstone of a new engineered ceetviisiness, this technology enables us to engemtlnufacturing value chain
components used in premium industrial markets, ighog a complete range of testing capabilities udels fatigue testing, metallurgi
analysis, chemical analysis, mechanical testirityréaanalysis, and training. Material testing f8ized in the ongoing quality assurance of r
materials for production manufacturing as well asthe validation of new component designs. In @adito the aforementioned capabilit
the Company also provides nondestructive inspectitating, and anodizing.

Backlog

The backlog of Surface Technologies was $3 milaod $2 million, as of December 31, 2012 and 20d4dpectively, substantially all of whi
is expected to be recognized in the first quart&20d.3. Due to the nature of our Surface Technediusiness, we operate with a very lim
backlog of orders and services that are providedasily on new manufactured parts. Thus, the bagkibthis segment is not indicative of
future sales, and as a result, this segment’s sales
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and profitability are closely aligned with generadustrial economic conditions and, in particutae commercial aerospace market.

OTHER INFORMATION

Acquisitions

During 2012, we acquired eight businesses and ¢xpeontinue to seek acquisitions that are comsistith our longierm growth strategy. V'
also divested a business within our Surface Tedyies segment.

Flow Control:

Controls:

The Oil and Gas division acquired Cimarron Energg.,| a manufacturer of customized and engineeregtggnproductior
processing, and environmental solutions for the. WiSand gas industry. The acquisition serves it@mify from our currer
downstream refining segment into the U.S. shaleand gas market in the upstream and midstream sg#groé the industry. |
energy production and processing equipment incls@garators, combination separator/hydrator ufide; back, and oil treatir
equipment. Cimarron also manufactures a full softeenvironmental solutions that control toxic wsite emissions, provis
improved equipment energy efficiency, and enabiaote monitoring of equipment functions. Productsiuide emission contr
devices, burner management systems, and vaporagctowers, as well as meanufactured and repaired production and proce
equipment and related par

The Nuclear Group division acquired the assets BfServices, a supplier of fluid sealing technolsgiad services to the nucl
and fossil power generation markets. Its produattude mechanical valve and pump packing, metalfabdcated gaskets, ani
wide variety of specialized fluid sealing produatsl services

The Avionics and Industrial division acquired thesets that comprise PG Drives Technology, a desaymé manufacturer of higt
engineered controllers and drives used in a widetyaof advanced electrippwered industrial and medical vehicles. PG Di
Technology controller and drive technologies aredui electric vehicles including forklifts, pallédaders, wheelchairs, a
rehabilitation chairs serving the industrial anddical markets. All products incorporate proprietagtivanced motor cont
algorithms, which serve as the backbone for thepamy's wheelchair and powerchair control systems, as ageélectric vehicl
controllers. Available accessories include joystioktrols, power and status displays, and fieldy@mming units

The Avionics and Industrial division acquired Waltns Controls, a designer and manufacturer of eleictisensors and electro
throttle controls for off-road equipment, heavycks, and military vehicles. The company’s prodwadsiress the longerm tren:
toward higher fuel efficiency and lower emissionghwmore highlyealibrated and responsive technology embedded ruttli
systems that are electronicaipgineered and ergonomically designed to fosterarga operating performance. Williams Cont
also designs and manufactures adjustable foot peahal arm rests, a line of pneumatic products dctpair valves, switches, a
throttle controls for the heavy truck and bus megkand a line of joysticks primarily for the -road market

The Integrated Sensing division acquired Exlar Goapon, a designer and manufacturer of electriovators used in motion cont
solutions in industrial and military markets. Exlprovides Curtis8V/right a cornerstone property serving multiple neds
addresses the growing demand for advanced, enéfigig, and environmentall§riendly actuation solutions, and strengthens
existing industrial controls busine:

Surface Technologie

The Surface Technologies segment acquired thesas§dt.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd, a providénwear and abrasi
resistant coatings for energy and power generajmplications. Gartner also provides laser claddprggcision weld repair, a
machining/finishing services to complement its thak spray coating capabilitie

The segment divested its non-complementary heatirige business in the first quarter of 2012. Cefilright entered the he
treating business in 1979 with the acquisition efd2l Heat Treating and subsequently expande
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business through greenfield operations and numegiogsisitions, operating up to nine facilities awrdhe United States prior
exiting the busines:

Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic neggee Note 20 to the Consolidated Financial Sta¢sncontained in Part Il, Iltem 8, of 1
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In 2012, 2011, and 2010, our foreign operationeged 59%, 43%, and 40%, respectively, of outaxesarnings.
Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and forgimrernment end use represented 37%, 41%, and #2&nsolidated revenue during 20
2011, and 2010, respectively. U.S. Government shtih direct and indirect, are generally made ustindard types of government contr:
including fixed price, fixed price-redeterminabdésd cost plus fixed or award fees.

In accordance with normal practice in the case &. Government business, contracts and ordersufjecs to partial or complete terminat
at any time, at the option of the customer. Indkient of a termination for convenience by the goremt, there generally are provisions
recovery of our allowable incurred costs and a pridpnate share of the profit or fee on the worknpteted, consistent with regulations of
U.S. Government. Fixedrice redeterminable contracts, generally on navafjrams, usually provide that we absorb the mgjarf any cos
overrun. In the event that there is a cost undethacustomer recoups a portion of the underrsedapon a formula in which the custorser’
portion increases as the underrun exceeds cedtiblshed levels.

Generally, longerm contracts with the U.S. Government requirgaugvest in and carry significant levels of invent However, whel
allowable, we utilize progress payments and othezrim billing practices on nearly all of these taats, thus reducing the overall work
capital requirements. It is our policy to seek onsdry progress payments on certain of our contraeteere we obtain such payments ul
U.S. Government prime contracts or subcontracts, 5. Government has either title to or a secumgatest in the materials and work
process allocable or chargeable to the respectinracts. (See Notes 1.F, 5, and 6 to the Congetidginancial Statements, contained in
I, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K).

Patents

We own and are licensed under a number of UnitateStand foreign patents and patent applicatiohghwhave been obtained or filed ow
period of years. We also license intellectual prop® and from third parties. Specifically, theSJ Government has licenses in our patent:
are developed in performance of government corgraatd it may use or authorize others to use thentions covered by such patents
government purposes. Additionally, unpatented meseaevelopment, and engineering skills, some litkwhave been acquired by us thro
business acquisitions, make an important contidioutd our business. While our intellectual propeigits in the aggregate are important tc
operation of our business, we do not consider tieeessful conduct of our business or business sagrne be materially dependent upon
timing of expiration or protection of any one oogp of patents, patent applications, or patenheeagreements under which we now operate

Customers

We have hundreds of customers in the various inggstve serve. No commercial customer accountedanfme than 10% of our total sa
during 2012, 2011, or 2010.

Approximately 30%, 34%, and 36% of our total sdtes2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively, were ddrivem contracts with agencies of, i
prime contractors to, the U.S. Government. Inforamabn the Companyg’ sales to the U.S. Government, including diretdéssas a prirr
contractor and indirect sales as a subcontractas follows:
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Year Ended December 2

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010
Flow Control $ 27452¢ $ 299,19t $ 332,92:
Controls 313,20° 343,90( 308,65«
Surface Technologie 40,01 39,35 28,98¢
Total Government sale $ 627,75( $ 682,44¢ $ 670,56:

Research and Developme

We conduct research and development activities uogitomersponsored contracts, shared development conteaudspur own independe
research and development activities. Custospemnsored research and development costs are dhargests of goods sold when the assoc
revenue is recognized. Funds received under stdmedlopment contracts are a reduction of the tiéaklopment expenditures under
shared contract and are shown net as research emedogment costs. Compasponsored research and development costs are dhi
expense when incurred. Custonsgoensored research and development activity amouot$19 million, $30 million, and $26 million, 2012
2011, and 2010, respectively, and were attributedustomers within our Flow Control and Controlgreents. Research and developr
expenses amounted to $60 million, $62 million, &5d million in 2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

Raw Materials

Raw materials are generally available in adequasatties from a number of suppliers; however, un Gontrols segment we may utilize sole
source suppliers. Thus, the failure and or inabiit a solesource supplier to provide product to the Conteglgment could have an adve
impact on the segmestfinancial performance. While alternatives couddidentified to replace a sole source supplieraasition could rest

in increased costs and manufacturing delays.

Environmental Protectio

We are subject to federal, state, local, and fordéégvs, regulations, and ordinances that goveriviaes or operations that may have adv
environmental effects, such as discharges to arveater. These laws, regulations, and ordinances ats® apply to handling and dispc
practices for solid and hazardous waste and impabdity for the costs of cleaning up and for @nt damages resulting from sites of |
spills, disposals, or other releases of hazardobstances.

At various times, we have been identified as a mi@hHy responsible party pursuant to the Comprehen Environmental Respon
Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980 (“CERCLA3nd analogous state environmental laws, for thenclp of contamination resulting fre
past disposals of hazardous wastes at certainntuared former facilities and at sites to which aejong others, sent wastes in the |
CERCLA requires potentially responsible personpay for cleanup of sites from which there has baemlease or threatened releas
hazardous substances. Courts have interpreted CERELmpose strict joint and several liability ofi persons liable for cleanup costs. #
practical matter, however, at sites where thererariple potentially responsible persons, the sastcleanup typically are allocated amonc
parties according to a volumetric or other stanslard

Information concerning our specific environmentalbilities is described in Notes 1.N and 17 to tBensolidated Financial Stateme
contained in Part Il, Iltem 8, of this Annual RepontForm 10-K.
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Executive

Name Current Positiot Business Experienc Age  Officer Since
Martin R. Benante Chairman of the Board of Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief Exa@ 60 1999
Directors and Chief Executi  Officer of the Corporation since April 2000.
Officer
David C. Adams President and Chief Operati President and Chief Operating Officer of the Coapior 58 2005
Officer since October 2012. Prior to his promotion servedCa
Chief Operating Officer since November 2008; Pres
of CurtissWright Controls since June 2005 and \
President of the Corporation from November 2(
David J. Linton Vice President of Corporate Vice President of the Corporation since October228f 57 2004
and President of Flow Conti  President of Flow Control since May 2004; Chiel
Operating Officer of the Corporation since Novemb@o¢
and Vice President of the Corporation since May42
Thomas P. Quinly Vice President of Corporate Vice President of the Corporation since NovembetC 54 2010
and President of Controls Inc. and President of Curtidskight Controls, Inc. sinc
November 200¢
Glenn E. Tynan Vice President of Finance a Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Cffio! 54 2000
Chief Financial Officer the Corporation since June 2002; Controller of
Corporation from June 2000 to May 20!
Michael J. Denton Vice President, Secretary, ¢ Vice President, Secretary, and General Counselhe 57 2001
General Counse Corporation since August 20C
Glenn G. Coleman Vice President and Corporate Vice President and Corporate Controller of the @aapor 45 2008
Controller since May 2008
Harry S. Jakubowitz ~ Vice President and Treasurer Vice President of the Corporation since May 2004d 60 2005
Treasurer of the Corporation since September
Director of Taxes of the Corporation from June 2Q6
September 200!
Paul J. Ferdenzi Vice President- Human Vice President -Human Resources of the Corpora 45 2011
Resources, Associate Generalsince November 2011 and has served as Associater&
Counsel, and Assistant Counsel and Assistant Secretary of the Corporatinne
Secretary June 1999 and May 2001, respectivi
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Employee!

At the end of 2012, we had approximately 9,300 eyges, 7% of which are represented by labor urémaiscovered by collective bargain
agreements.

Available informatior

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly mpamn Form 10-Q, current reports on ForniK,8and proxy statements for our anr
stockholders’ meetings, as well as any amendmentisase reports, with the Securities and Exchangmr@ission (“SEC”).The public ma
read and copy any of our materials filed with tHeCSat the SEG Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgstrin DC 20549. Tt
public may obtain information on the operation leé Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at@-8BC0330. The SEC also mainta
an Internet site at www.sec.gov that contains fspgroxy and information statements, and otheorinftion regarding issuers that
electronically with the SEC, including our filingEhese reports are also available free of changritfin our web site atww.curtisswright.coi
as soon as reasonably practicable after we elecadbnfile.

| tem 1A. Risk Factors.

We have summarized below the significant, knownemalt risks to our business. Our business, findmciadition, and results of operations
cash flows could be materially and adversely impaidt any of these risks materialize. Additionakrfactors not currently known to us or |
we believe are immaterial may also impair our bess financial condition, and results of operatioRse risk factors below should
considered together with information included elsere in this Annual Report on Form KOas well as other required filings by us to
Securities Exchange Commission, such as our For@Q'§0Form 8-K5, proxy statements for our annual shareholderingsstand subseque
amendments, if any.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earnidgpends upon the continued willingness of the @dvernment and our other customer
the defense industry to buy our products and sesvic

In 2012, approximately 30% of our revenues weravddrfrom or related to defense programs, with epjpnately 14% attributable to U.
Navy procurements. U.S. defense spending has icistlgrbeen cyclical, and defense budgets tends® when perceived threats to natic
security increase the level of concern over thentrgis safety. At other times, spending by the militeayn decrease. Competing demand
federal funds can put pressure on all areas ofatisoary spending, which could ultimately impalce tdefense budget. A decrease in
Government defense spending or changes in speradiocation could result in one or more of our pegs being reduced, delayed
terminated. Reductions in defense industry spendiag or may not have an adverse effect on progfam&hich we provide products a
services. In the event expenditures are reducedrémucts we manufacture or services we provideamadot offset by revenues from fore
sales, new programs, or products or services tleatwwrently manufacture or provide, we may exp@&eéea reduction in our revenues
earnings and a material adverse effect on our basjrfinancial condition, and results of operatiénsther, there can be no assurance the
significant customers will continue to buy our puots and services at current or increased levels.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are subjeattamber of procurement rules and regulatic

We must comply with and are affected by laws argllaions relating to the award, administrationd grerformance of U.S. Governm
contracts. Government contract laws and regulatidfest how we do business with our customers andpme instances, impose added ¢
on our business. A violation of specific laws aregjulations could result in the imposition of finesd penalties or the termination of
contracts or debarment from bidding on contractese fines and penalties could be imposed fonéaild follow procurement integrity a
bidding rules, employing improper billing practicesotherwise failing to follow cost accounting refards, receiving or paying kickbacks
filing false claims. We have been, and expect taticoe to be, subjected to audits and investigatimn government agencies. The failur
comply with the terms of our government contraaisld harm our business reputation. It could alsultein our progress payments be
withheld.

In some instances, these laws and regulations ienfgems or rights that are more favorable to theegament than those typically available
commercial parties in negotiated transactions. &ample, the U.S. Government may terminate anyuofgmvernment contracts and,
general, subcontracts, at its convenience as wdbadefault based on performance. Upon terminafitw convenience of a fixepFice type
contract, we normally are entitled to receive thechase price for delivered items, reimbursementliowable costs for work-iprocess, ar
an allowance for profit on work actually completau the contract or adjustment for loss if completid performance would have resulted
loss. Upon termination for convenience
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of a cost reimbursement contract, we normally aéled to reimbursement of allowable costs plysogion of the fee. Such allowable cc
would normally include our cost to terminate agreata with our suppliers and subcontractors. Theummnof the fee recovered, if any
related to the portion of the work accomplishe@ptd termination and is determined by negotiation.

A termination arising out of our default could espous to liability and have a material adversecefts our ability to compete for futt
contracts and orders. In addition, on those cotgrfmc which we are teamed with others and arghmprime contractor, the U.S. Governn
could terminate a prime contract under which wesasebcontractor, irrespective of the quality of services as a subcontractor.

In addition, our U.S. Government contracts typicalban one or more base years and multiple opgansy The U.S. Government generally
the right to not exercise option periods and mayexercise an option period if the agency is ntisad with our performance on the cont
or does not receive funding to continue the progrdrs. Government procurement may adversely affectash flow or program profitability.

A significant reduction in the purchase of our proid by the U.S. government could have a matede¢ise effect on our business. The
that governmental purchases of our products malngestems from the nature of our business withlte. government, where it may:

. terminate, reduce, or modify contracts or subcatdri its requirements or budgetary constrainsngfe;
. cancel muli-year contracts and related orders if funds becamawailable; anc
. shift its spending prioritie:

In addition, as a defense contractor, we are stufgetisks in connection with government contrastsluding without limitation

. the frequent need to bid on programs prior to cetimd the necessary design, which may result imn@seen technologic
difficulties and/or cost overrun

. the difficulty in forecasting long-term costs arathedules and the potential obsolescence of prodelet®d to longerm, fixec
price contracts

. contracts with varying fixed terms that may notréeewed or followed by follo-on contracts upon expiratio

. cancellation of the follo-on production phase of contracts if program regquéets are not met in the development ph

. the failure of a prime contractor customer to penf@n a contrac!

. the fact that government contract wins can be abedeby other contractors; a

. the inadvertent failure to comply with any the UG&vernment rules, laws and regulations, includimgFalse Claims Act
the Arms Export Control Ac

Sequestration and regulatory changes related toUh®. Government Defense Budget could negativghadtmour revenues and results
operations.

In August 2011, the Budget Control Act (the Acthannced a reduction in the United States DepartimieDefense (U.S. DoD) top line bud
by approximately $490 billion over 10 years startin 2013. Furthermore, in June 2012, the Officéahagement and Budget announced
the budget for Overseas Contingency Operationsaagdinobligated balances in prior year funds wilbébe included in aggregate reducti
In addition, further mandatory budget cuts (or ssiation) as outlined in the Act were to be impated starting on January 2, 2(
However, on January 1, 2013, Congress elected lay dae impact of sequestration until at least Madc 2013, and these cuts \
automatically be implemented if an agreement hasbaen reached by March 27, 2013. Sequestratiold dead to additional reductions
approximately $500 billion from the Pentageribp line budget over the next decade, resultingggregate reductions of approximatel
trillion over 10 years. The U.S. DoD has takenpbsition that such reductions would generate sicanit operational risks and may require
termination of certain, as yet undetermined, prement programs. As a result, various proposals baxfaced ranging from $1@B0 billion
in budget cuts to the 1y@ear DoD budget. Any reduction in levels of U.S.[Dspending, cancellations or delays impacting axgstontracts ¢
programs, including through sequestration, coultelmaterial impact on the Corporation’s operatasylts.
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The success of our growth strategy is dependent apoability to complete acquisitions and integratcquired businesses.

Our strategy includes growth through acquisitiohs.a result, our future growth depends in part an ability to implement our acquisiti
strategy and successfully integrate acquired base®into our existing operations. If we are unableentify suitable candidates, negot
appropriate acquisition terms, obtain financingl] anccessfully integrate acquired businesses imtexgisting operations, our growth strat
may not be successful. In addition, acquisition®ive numerous risks, including difficulties in thssimilation of the operations, technolog
services, and products of the acquired company,pttential loss of key employees of the acquirethgany, and the diversion of «
managemens attention from other business concerns. Thisescase particularly in the fiscal quarters immisdjafollowing the completion «
an acquisition since the operations of the acquiesiness are integrated into the acquiring buse®sperations during this period. We car
be sure that we will accurately anticipate all bé tchanging demands that any future acquisition mgyose on our management,
operational and management information systems,ocamdinancial systems. Once integrated, acquineerations may not achieve levels
revenue, profitability, or productivity comparalitethose of our existing operations or may othezwist perform as we expected. We may
to discover liabilities relating to a pending aditidon during the due diligence investigation, iigies for which we, as the successor ow
might be responsible. Although we seek to minintize impact of potential undiscovered liabilities ftyucturing acquisitions to minimi
liabilities and obtaining indemnities and warrastigom the selling party, these methods may naly fpkotect us from the impact
undiscovered liabilities. For example, indemnitiswarranties are often limited in scope, amount] duration and may not fully cover
liabilities for which they were intended. If indeities or warranties are limited, the liabilitiesattare not covered by the limited indemnitie
warranties could have a material adverse effecdurbusiness and financial condition.

We use estimates when accounting for long-ternracist Changes in estimates could affect our pbiiity and overall financial position.

Longterm contract accounting requires judgment relaiivassessing risks, estimating contract revenaggasts, and making assumptions
schedule and technical issues. Due to the sizenatate of many of our contracts, the estimatiototdl revenues and costs at completic
complicated and subject to many variables. For gr@enassumptions have to be made regarding théharigime to complete the contraci
costs also include expected increases in wageprees for materials. Similarly, assumptions havdé made regarding the future impac
efficiency initiatives and cost reduction effortecentives, awards, price escalations, or penatédsted to performance on contracts
considered in estimating revenue and profit rates are recorded when there is sufficient infornmatio assess anticipated performance.
possible that materially different amounts couldoixained, because of the significance of the juslgisiand estimation processes desc
above, if different assumptions were used or ifithderlying circumstances were to change. Chamgasderlying assumptions, circumstan
or estimates may have a material adverse effeat fytare period financial reporting and performar@ee Critical Accounting Estimates a
Policies” in Part Il, Item 7.

If we fail to satisfy our contractual obligationsitocontracts may be terminated and we may incuniiant costs or liabilities, includir
liquidated damages and penalties.

In general, our contracts may be terminated for failure to satisfy our contractual obligations. dddition, some of our contracts con
substantial liquidated damages provisions and @izupenalties related to our failure to satisfy oantractual obligations. Consequently,
result of the above matters, we may incur signifia@osts or liabilities, including penalties, whicbuld have a material adverse effect or
financial condition and results of our operation.

Our backlog is subject to reduction and cancellatiohich could negatively impact our revenues aslits of operations.

Backlog represents products or services that ostoowers have committed by contract to purchase frenTotal backlog includes both funi
(unfilled orders for which funding is authorizegypaopriated, and contractually obligated by thetmmer) and unfunded backlog (firm orc
for which funding has not been appropriated andfmtractually obligated by the customer). The Comfion is a subcontractor to pri
contractors for the vast majority of our governménsiness; as such, substantially all amounts tklbg are funded. Backlog exclut
unexercised contract options and potential ordedeu ordering type contracts (e.g. Indefinite Detiv/ Indefinite Quantity). Backlog
adjusted for changes in foreign exchange ratesiameélduced for contract cancellations and termamatiin the period in which they occ
Backlog as of December 31, 2012 was $1,654 bilBacklog is subject to fluctuations and is not rssegily indicative of future sales. The L
government may unilaterally modify or cancel itsntracts. In addition, under certain of our commedraontracts, our customers n
unilaterally modify or terminate their orders afyame for their convenience. Accordingly, cert@ortions of our backlog can be cancelle
reduced at the option of the U.S. government amdnoercial customers. Our failure to replace candetlereduced backlog could negati\
impact our revenues and results of operations.
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Our future financial results could be adversely aofed by asset impairment charges.

At December 31, 2012, we had goodwill and othearigtble assets of approximately $1,432 million, efebccumulated amortization, wh
represented approximately 46% of our total as€ats.goodwill is subject to an impairment test onaamual basis and is also tested wher
events and circumstances indicate that goodwill beimpaired. Any excess goodwill resulting frore tmpairment test must be written of
the period of determination. Intangible assetsgothan goodwill) are generally amortized over tiseful life of such assets. In addition, fi
time to time, we may acquire or make an investnirerat business that will require us to record godidwdased on the purchase price anc
value of the acquired assets. We may subsequerbrience unforeseen issues with such businessaitvarsely affect the anticipated rett
of the business or value of the intangible assedstdgger an evaluation of the recoverability loé recorded goodwill and intangible asset:
such business. Future determinations of signifieaite-offs of goodwill or intangible assets as a restiimimpairment test or any acceler:
amortization of other intangible assets could haweaterial adverse impact on our results of opmratand financial condition.

We operate in highly competitive markets.

We compete against companies that often have greales volumes and financial, research, humanpeartteting resources than we have
addition, some of our largest customers could dgvéhe capability to manufacture products or prevagrvices similar to products that
manufacture or services that we provide. This waakllt in these customers supplying their own pet&lor services and competing dire
with us for sales of these products or servicdspfalvhich could significantly reduce our revenu&sirthermore, we are facing increa
international competition and crobsrder consolidation of competition. Our managenietieves that the principal points of competitiorou
markets are technology, product quality, perforneaipeice, service, previous installation histogghnical expertise, and timeliness of deliv
If we are unable to compete successfully with éxisir new competitors in these areas, our busjr@sancial condition, and results
operations could be materially and adversely ingzhct

Our future growth and continued success is depanggmn our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of onioisenanagement personnel and our ability to atteexd retain other highly qualifi
management and technical personnel. We face campefor management and qualified technical persbrfrom other companies a
organizations. Therefore, we may not be able taimedur existing management and technical persomnéll new management or techni
positions or vacancies created by expansion ootwemat our existing compensation levels. Althoughhave entered into change of cor
agreements with some members of senior managemento not have employment contracts with our kegcakves. We have madt
concerted effort to reduce the effect of the loE®wr senior management personnel through managesuenession planning. The loss
members of our senior management and qualifiechteghpersonnel could have a material and advdfeet®n our business.

Our international operations are subject to riskedavolatility.

During 2012, approximately 31% of our consolidatedenue was from customers outside of the UnitateSt and we have operating facili
in foreign countries. Doing business in foreign mivies is subject to numerous risks, including with limitation: political and econorr
instability; the uncertainty of the ability of ndhS. customers to finance purchases; restricti@detrpolicies; and complying with fore
regulatory and tax requirements that are subjechtmge. While these factors or the impact of tlies®rs are difficult to predict, any one
more of these factors could adversely affect owaragons. To the extent that foreign sales arestretied in foreign currencies and we dc
enter into currency hedge transactions, we ares@to risk of losses due to fluctuations in fonedgrrency exchange rates, particularly fo
Canadian dollar, the Euro, Swiss franc, and thésBrpound. Significant fluctuations in the valudettte currencies of the countries in which
do business could have an adverse effect on oultsed operations.

We may be unable to protect the value of our ietélial property.

Obtaining, maintaining, and enforcing our intelleadt property rights and avoiding infringing on timellectual property rights of others
important factors to the operation of our busin&¥hile we take precautionary steps to protect eghmological advantages and intellec
property and rely in part on patent, trademarlddraecret, and copyright laws, we cannot assutdhtbgrecautionary steps we have taken
completely protect our intellectual property righBecause patent applications in the United Statesmaintained in secrecy until either
patent application is published or a patent isddsuwe may not be aware of thipdsty patents, patent applications, and other ledtla
property relevant to our products that may blockse of our intellectual property or may be ugethirdparty products that compete with
products and processes. When
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others infringe on our intellectual property rightse value of our products is diminished, and wayrncur substantial litigation costs
enforce our rights. Similarly, we may incur subsilnitigation costs and the obligation to pay atties if others claim we infringed on th
intellectual property rights. When we develop iletefual property and technologies with funding frdmS. Government contracts,
government has the royalty-free right to use thaperty.

In addition to our patent rights, we also rely arpatented technology, trade secrets, and confaleinformation. Others may independe
develop substantially equivalent information anchtéques or otherwise gain access to or discloseemnology. We may not be able
protect our rights in unpatented technology, traderets, and confidential information effectivee require each of our employees
consultants to execute a confidentiality agreenagrthe commencement of an employment or consutitationship with us. There is
guarantee that we will succeed in obtaining andimatg executed agreements from all employees osutants. Moreover, these agreem
may not provide effective protection of our infoia or, in the event of unauthorized use or disate, they may not provide adeqt
remedies.

Our operations are subject to numerous domestic iatetnational laws, regulations, and restrictiorsad noncompliance with these la
regulations, and restrictions could expose us tedi penalties, suspension, or debarment, whickdduave a material adverse effect on
profitability and overall financial conditior

We have contracts and operations in many parth@fatorld subject to United States and foreign land regulations, including the Fe
Claims Act, regulations relating to impakport control (including the International Traffit Arms Regulation promulgated under the A
Export Control Act), technology transfer restricti) repatriation of earnings, exchange controks,Rbreign Corrupt Practices Act, the L
Anti-Bribery Act, and the antboycott provisions of the U.S. Export AdministratidAct. Although we have implemented policies
procedures and provided training that we beliewesaifficient to address these risks, we cannotaguiee that our operations will never fai
comply with these laws and regulations. Failuraubyor our sales representatives or consultantsnply with these laws and regulations cc
result in administrative, civil, or criminal lialties and could, in the extreme case, result ipension or debarment from government cont
or suspension of our export privileges, which cchage a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to liability under environmental faw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefedsral, state, local, and foreign laws and retgpra relating to the use, manufact
storage, handling, and disposal of hazardous matégeand other waste products. Environmental laweigdly impose liability for investigatio
remediation, and removal of hazardous materialsotinelr waste products on property owners and thwsedispose of materials at waste s
whether or not the waste was disposed of legallthattime in question. We are currently addresgingironmental remediation at cert
current and former facilities, and we have been ethras a potentially responsible party along witheotorganizations in a number
environmental cleamp sites and may be named in connection with fusitess. We are required to contribute to the costhe investigatio
and remediation and to establish reserves in manfiial statements for future costs deemed probadk estimable. Although we hi
estimated and reserved for future environmentaleddation costs, the final resolution of these litlbs may significantly vary from o
estimates and could potentially have an adverseteéin our results of operations and financial tpmsi

Unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or esyre to additional income tax liabilities couldedt our profitability.

Our business operates in many locations under gowant jurisdictions that impose income taxes. Charig domestic or foreign income
laws and regulations, or their interpretation, dordsult in higher or lower income tax rates ass#s® changes in the taxability of cer
revenues or the deductibility of certain expensiesreby affecting our income tax expense and mdoifity. Corporate tax reform continues
be a priority in the U.S. and other jurisdictio@hanges to the tax system in the U.S. could hayréfiiant effects, positive and negative, on
effective tax rate and on our deferred tax assetk labilities. In addition, audits by income tawtlaorities could result in unanticipa
increases in our income tax expense.

Our current debt, and debt we may incur in therfeitgould adversely affect our business and firarmbsition.

As of December 31, 2012, we had $880 million oftdmhiistanding, of which $752 million is lorigkrm debt. Our debt consists primarily
principal payable under our fixed rate senior no@sr level of debt could have significant consewes for our business including: requi
us to use our cash flow to pay principal and irgeom our debt, reducing funds available for adtjaiss and other investments in our busin
making us vulnerable to economic downturns ancem®es in interest rates; limiting us from obtairangitional debt; and impacting our abi
to pay dividends.
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A percentage of our workforce is employed undeectVe bargaining agreement

Approximately 7% of our workforce is employed undetlective bargaining agreements, which from tifmdime are subject to renewal :
negotiation. We cannot ensure that we will be ss&fte in negotiating new collective bargaining agnents, that such negotiations will
result in significant increases in the cost of kalmy that a breakdown in such negotiations will result in the disruption of our operatic
Although we have generally enjoyed good relatioith Wwoth our unionized and namionized employees, if we are subject to laboioast we
may experience an adverse impact on our operagsgts.

For example, on August 24, 2012, the Electronic hd@ical Division (EMD) of Curtiss Wrighg' Flow Control segment experienced a stril
its Cheswick, Pennsylvania facility. The financiadpacts of the strike were an $18 million and $6lian shift in revenue and operati
income, respectively, from 2012 to 2013, due totémeporary suspension of work which resulted ihi& sf longterm contract milestones tl
will now be completed and recognized in 2013. Iditon, the strike resulted in an additional $5 liori unfavorable impact to operati
income as a result of unrecoverable absorptiorveflead costs.

Substantial defaults by our customers related woaats receivable or the loss of significant cugmtould have a significant negative imj
on our business, results of operations, financaldition or liquidity.

A significant portion of our working capital consisof accounts receivable from customers. If custsmesponsible for a significant amour
accounts receivable were to become insolvent eratise unable to pay for products and servicesyare to become unwilling or unable
make payments in a timely manner, our business|tsesf operations, financial condition or liquigitould be adversely affected. An econc
or industry downturn could adversely and materialffect the servicing of these accounts receivablach could result in longer paym
cycles, increased collection costs, and defaulex@ess of management’s expectations.

Our earnings and margins depend in part on subaattr performance, as well as raw material and comgmt availability and pricing.

Our businesses depend on suppliers and subcomtrdotoraw materials and components. At times sotrectors perform services that
provide to our customers. We depend on these stiactors and vendors to meet their contractuabakibons in full compliance with custon
requirements. Generally, raw materials and purchasenponents are available from a number of diffeseippliers, though several suppl
are our sole source of certain components. If asmlirce supplier should cease or otherwise be urtabtieliver such components,
operating results could be adversely impacted.ddit®n, our supply networks can sometimes expesgeprice fluctuations. Our ability
perform our obligations as a prime contractor meyativersely affected if one or more of these sapplire unable to provide the agrespar
supplies or perform the agreed-upon services imely and coseffective manner. While we have attempted to mitighe effects of increas
costs through price increases, there are no asmsdnat higher prices can effectively be passexalitih to our customers or that we will be
to offset fully or on a timely basis the effectshiher raw materials costs through price increases

Our business involves risks associated with complaxufacturing processes.

Our manufacturing processes depend on certain stiqated and highalue equipment. Unexpected failures of this eqeiptrmay result i
production delays, revenue loss, and significapairecosts. In addition, equipment failures couwdult in injuries to our employees. Moreo
the competitive nature of our businesses requiset® wontinuously implement process changes intttal@chieve product improvements
manufacturing efficiencies. These process changag at times result in production delays, qualityna@rns, and increased costs. .
disruption of operations at our facilities due tpugment failures or process interruptions couldeha material adverse effect on our business.

The airline industry is heavily regulated, and & ¥ail to comply with applicable requirements, oeisults of operations could suffer.

Governmental agencies throughout the world, inclgdhe U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)cathe European Aviation Safi
Agency, prescribe standards and qualification megoénts for aircraft components, including virtyadll commercial airline and gene
aviation products. Specific regulations vary froauotry to country, although compliance with FAA vggments generally satisfies regula
requirements in other countries. We include, with products that we sell to our aircraft manufantucustomers, documentation certify
that each part complies with applicable regulateguirements and meets applicable standards obehimess established by the FAA or
equivalent regulatory agencies in
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other countries. In order to sell our products,amel the products we manufacture must also be iegriify our individual OEM customers
any of the material authorizations or approvaldifyiag us to supply our products is revoked ormersded, then the sale of the subject prc
would be prohibited by law, which would have anee effect on our business, financial condition gesults of operations.

From time to time, the FAA or equivalent regulat@gencies in other countries propose new regukatinchanges to existing regulatic
which are usually more stringent than existing fatjons. If these proposed regulations are adoptetl enacted, we may incur signific
additional costs to achieve compliance, which cdislde a material adverse effect on our businasandial condition, and results of operatic

Our future success will depend, in part, on ouligbto develop new technologies.

Virtually all of the products produced and sold txy are highly engineered and require sophisticatadufacturing and systemtegratior
techniques and capabilities. The commercial ancegouent markets in which we operate are charaetttiy rapidly changing technologi
The product and program needs of our government aomdmercial customers change and evolve regulabcordingly, our futur
performance depends in part on our ability to idgmmerging technological trends, develop and nfiacture competitive products, and bi
those products to market quickly at cost-effecfiviees.

Potential product liability risks exist from theqatucts that we sel

We manufacture highly engineered products, and guotucts may contain design or manufacturing ermrdefects, which may result
product liability claims against us. We currenthaintain what we believe to be suitable and adequatéuct liability insurance. There can
no assurance, however, that we will be able to taairour product liability insurance on acceptatielens or that our product liability insurai
will provide adequate protection against potedigdilities. In the event of a claim against usaek of sufficient insurance coverage could t
a material adverse effect on our business, findoiadition, and results of operations. Moreoveereif we maintain adequate insurance,
successful claim could have a material adverseceffie our business, financial condition, resultsopérations, and on the ability to obt
suitable or adequate insurance.

Increasing costs of certain employee and retiragefits could adversely affect our financial positioesults of operations, or cash flov

Our earnings may be positively or negatively impddby the amount of income or expense we recorddopension and other postretiren
benefit plans. U.S. GAAP requires that we calcuiatome or expense for the plans using actuaribdati@ns. These valuations refl
assumptions relating to financial market and o#manomic conditions. Changes in key economic iridisacan change the assumptions.
most significant yeaend assumptions used to estimate pension or otstrepirement benefit expense for the followingryae the discou
rate, the expected lortgrm rate of return on plan assets, expected futugdical cost inflation, and expected compensaitcneases. |
addition, we are required to make an annual meamntof plan assets and liabilities, which may Itesua significant change to equ
through a reduction or increase to other comprateriscome. For a discussion regarding how ourrfai@ statements can be affectec
pension and other postretirement benefit planswadawg policies, see “Management’s Discussion andlysis—Critical Accounting Estimatt
and Policies—Pension and Other Postretirement Behéf Part Il, Item 7. Although U.S. GAAP expense gmathsion or other postretirem
contributions are not directly related, the keyremic factors that affect U.S. GAAP expense wout dikely affect the amount of cash
company would contribute to the pension or othestqgtirement plans. Potential pension contributiomdude both mandatory amou
required under federal law, Employee Retiremenbime Security Act, and discretionary contributiomsnhprove the plansunded status. A2
obligation to make contributions to pension plaosld reduce the cash available for working cagitad other corporate uses.

Our operating results and financial condition mag/ddversely impacted by the current worldwide eounaonditions.

We currently generate significant operating casiwé, which combined with access to the credit mark@ovides us with significa
discretionary funding capacity. However, finanaiarkets in the United States, Europe, and Asia baea experiencing extreme disruptio
recent years, including, among other things, ex¢remolatility in security prices, severely diminishéquidity and credit availability, ratir
downgrades of certain investments and decliningatains of others. While currently these conditibase not impaired our ability to oper
our business, there can be no assurance thatwlhlergot be a further deterioration in financial rkats and confidence in major econon
which could impact consumer and customer demandudoproducts, as well as our ability to managemadrcommercial relationships with ¢
customers, suppliers, and
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creditors. We are unable to predict the likely diora and severity of the current disruption in ficé&l markets and adverse econc
conditions, and the effects they will have on ousihess and financial condition.

Future terror attacks, war, natural disasters, dher events beyond our control could adversely ithpar businesse

Despite our concerted effort to minimize risk tor garoduction capabilities and corporate informat&ystems and to reduce the effec
unforeseen interruptions to us through businessiragty planning and disaster recovery plans, téstattacks, war, natural disasters, suc
hurricanes, floods, tornados, pandemic diseasesthmr events such as strikes by a significantotost’s or supplies workforce coul
adversely impact demand for or supply of our présland could also cause disruption to our facditee systems which could also inter
operational processes and adversely impact ouityalsl manufacture our products and provide sesviaad support to our customers.
operate facilities in areas of the world that arpased to natural disasters, such as but not kimaeurricanes, floods, tornados, and pand
diseases. For example, Hurricanes lke and Gusta0@8 caused disruption to the oil and gas maxkeodr products and services. Simila
the terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 andespkent terrorist attacks worldwide caused decdedsmand in the commercial aerosy
market for our products and commercial overhaul eephir services. Financial difficulties of our tarsers, delays by our customer:
production of their products, high fuel prices, dwncern of another major terrorist attack, andaerall decreased demand for our customet
products could adversely affect our operating tesand financial position.

Intrusion on our systems could damage our busir

We store sensitive data, including intellectualgeny, proprietary business information, and caafitial employee information, on our sen
and databases. Despite our implementation of fiteywswitchgear, and other network security measuoerr servers, databases, and «
systems may be vulnerable to computer hackers,igdlyar electronic breakis, sabotage, computer viruses, worms, and sirdiuption:
from unauthorized tampering with our computer syste We continue to review and enhance our compspstems to try to preve
unauthorized and unlawful intrusions, but in theufa it is possible that we may not be able to n¢all intrusions. Such intrusions ca
result in our network security or computer systéymasig compromised and possibly result in the misgmpation or corruption of sensiti
information or cause disruptions in our serviceg Might be required to expend significant capital eesources to protect against, remec
or alleviate problems caused by such intrusionsy surch intrusion could cause us to be wompliant with applicable laws or regulatic
subject us to legal claims or proceedings, disouptoperations, damage our reputation, and cauessaof confidence in our products |
services, any of which could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition, egglilts of operations.

There are risks associated with owning our comniooks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactstare price including: there is a limi
trading market in our common stock; we may notie future be able to pay dividends on our commookstwe may issue common stock
acquisitions or other purposes that could be @#duto current stockholders; and we have varioustakéover defenses such as our rights
and our ability to issue preferred stock that miagalirage a potential acquirer.

| tem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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| tem 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters is located at a leasglyf in Parsippany, New Jersey. As of Decemlier2012, we had 206 facilities worldwi
Approximately 65% of our facilities operate as mfacturing and engineering, metal treatment, or sgoe overhaul plants, while
remaining 35% operate as selling and administradiffices facilities. The number and type of fa@gd# utilized by each of our reporta
segments is summarized below:

Owned Facilities

Location Flow Control Controls Surface Technologie: Total
North America 18 3 9 30
Europe 1 1 11 13
Asia 1 — 1 2
Total 2C 4 21 45
Leased Facilities

Location Flow Control Controls Surface Technologie! Total
North America 52 21 38 112
Europe 4 19 14 37
Asia 2 6 3 11
Total 58 46 55 16C

Flow Control has principal manufacturing facilitidescated in Canada, New York, Pennsylvania, anda$exControls has princig
manufacturing facilities located in California, Gala, Oregon, and North Carolina. Surface Technetolgas principal manufacturing facilit
located in England. The buildings on the propentégsrred to in this Item are well maintained, ood condition, and are suitable and adec
for the uses presently being made of them. Managebwdieves the productive capacity of our progsris adequate to meet our anticip
volume for the foreseeable future.

| tem 3. Legal Proceedings.

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridisisies are subject to various pending claims slait¢, and contingent liabilities. We do
believe that the disposition of any of these matterdividually or in the aggregate, will have atereal adverse effect on our consolide
financial position or results of operations.

We have been named in approximately 111 pendinguasvthat allege injury from exposure to asbedtosddition, to date, we have sect
dismissals with prejudice and without prejudiceapproximately 68 and 232 lawsuits, respectively aredcurrently in discussions for sim
dismissal of several other lawsuits, and have penifound liable or paid any material sum of moimegettlement in any case. We believe
the minimal use of asbestos in our past and cuwopatations and the relatively nénable condition of asbestos in our products maik
unlikely that we will face material liability in gnasbestos litigation, whether individually or inetaggregate. We do maintain insur:
coverage for these potential liabilities and weedyed adequate coverage exists to cover any unpatez asbestos liability.

| tem 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable
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P ART Il
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases &quity Securities.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our common stock is listed and traded on the NevkYatock Exchange under the symbol CW.

Stock Price Rang 2012 2011

High Low High Low
Common Stock
First Quartel $ 41917 $ 353t $38.92 $32.3¢
Second Quarte 37.3¢ 29.07% 35.7¢ 30.97
Third Quartel 33.11 28.5¢ 33.1¢ 25.61
Fourth Quarte 33.41 28.9¢ 36.0( 26.9:2

As of January 1, 2013, we had approximately 4, &8fistered shareholders of our common stock, $1a@@adue.
DIVIDENDS

In the second quarter of 2012, the Corporationeiased its dividend to nine cents a share, a 1hb#édse over the prior year dividend.

2012 2011
Common Stock
First Quartel $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Second Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Third Quartel 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Fourth Quarte 0.0¢ 0.0¢

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY CAMENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regamgliour equity compensation plans as of DecemberB12, the end of our most recel
completed fiscal year:

Number of securities

to Number of securities remaining
be issued upon Weighted average available for future issuance uni
exercise exercise price of
of outstanding option outstanding option equity compensation plans
(excluding securities reflected in
Plan categor warrants, and right  warrants, and righ the first column’
Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrs 4,546,785(a $32.48 2,415,124(b
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders None Not applicable Not applicable

(&) Consists of 4,300,460 shares issuable upon exeofigeitstanding options and vesting of performasbares, restricted shares,
restricted stock units under the 2005 Ldreym Incentive Plan, 150,609 shares issuable utdeEmployee Stock Purchase Plan,
95,715 shares outstanding under the 2005 Stockf@ator-Employee Directors

(b) Consists of 1,280,295 shares available for futygoa grants under the 2005 Lofigrm Incentive Plan, 1,113,068 shares rema
available for issuance under the Employee StockHase Plan, and 21,761 shares remaining availabissuance under the 2005 St
Plan for No-Employee Directors

24




Issuer Purchases of Equity Securitie

The following table provides information about a@purchases of equity securities that are regidtbyeus pursuant to Section 12 of
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, dtinaguarter ended December 31, 2012.

Maximum
Total Number of Number of
Shares Purchased  Shares that may
as Part of a yet be
Total Number o Publicly Purchased
Average Price Announced Under the
shares purchas Paid per Shar Program Program
October 1- October 31 227,90( $ 30.97 645,10: 3,044,89
November + November 3( 364,88 30.57 1,009,98 2,680,01:
December = December 3: 80,80( 31.4¢ 1,090,78 2,599,21:
For the quarter ende 673,58 $ 30.7¢ 1,090,78 2,599,21.

We repurchase shares under a program announceéptanter 28, 2011, which authorizes the Corporatiorepurchase up to 3,000,(
shares of our common stock, in addition to apprexély 690,000 shares remaining under a previousiiyaized share repurchase progi
and is subject to a $100 million repurchase linotat Under the current program, shares may be jgezh on the open market, in priva
negotiated transactions and under plans complyittgRules 10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Securitieh&mge Act of 1934, as amended.

The following performance graph does not constitiniéciting material and should not be deemed fidednhcorporated by reference into any
our other filings under the Securities Act or tlec@ities Exchange Act of 1934, except to the éxterspecifically incorporate this informati
by reference therein.
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PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the annual changdéncumulative total return on our Companyommon Stock during the last five fis
years with the annual change in the cumulativd tetarn of the Russell 2000 Index, the S&P Smah®80 Index, and the S&P 500 Aerosg
& Defense Index. The graph assumes an investmeftL0® on December 31, 2007 and the reinvestmeiatl afividends paid during tl
following five fiscal years.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

$160

$50
su T T T T
2007 2008 2009 2010 201 2012

i Curtiss-Wright Corp —tr— S&P SmallCap 800 Index

—=— Russell 2000 ceeeiyes SEP 500 Aerospace & Defense
Company / Index 2007 200¢ 200¢ 201C 2011 201z
Curtiss-Wright Corp 10C 67.0¢ 63.5¢ 68.0¢ 73.2( 68.7¢
S&P SmallCap 600 Index 10C 68.9¢ 86.5¢ 109.3: 110.4¢ 128.4¢
Russell 200( 10C 66.21 84.2( 106.8: 102.3¢ 119.0¢
S&P 500 Aerospace & Defense 10C 63.4¢ 79.1( 91.0¢ 95.8¢ 109.8:

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table presents our selected finandaia from continuing operations. The table shduddread in conjunction with Item
Managemer's Discussion and Analysis of Financial ConditiamdaResults of Operationsand Item 8Financial Statements and Supplemen
Data, of this Annual Report on Form 10-Certain information for prior years has beenatpd to reflect the restatement discussed in N
to our Consolidated Financial Statements includeldeim 8. For further details on the correctiorceftain amounts related to prior years, pl
see Note 2 to our Consolidated Financial StatenmsmdsFootnotes 1, 2 and 3 to the table below. Hitiad, certain reclassifications have b
made within our selected financial data table belowxclude the results of the heat treating bgsinehich was sold on March 30, 2012.
results of its operations are reflected as disooeti operations in the Consolidated Statementsofiigs. For further details on the sale o
heat treating business see Note 3 to our Consetidéihancial Statements.
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Five-Year Financial Highlights

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

2012 2011 20100 2009 20080
(In thousands, except per share date
Net sales $2,097,711  $2,016,74; $1,854,51. $1,781,97' $1,794,39
Earnings from continuing operatio 92,28¢ 118,62( 97,88¢ 93,17( 101,57.
Total asset 3,114,58: 2,635,54 2,233,14. 2,137,95! 2,035,28:!
Total debt 880,21 586,43( 396,64 465,09: 516,70¢
Basic earnings per share from continuing opera $ 1.9¢ % 256 $ 214 % 206 $ 2.21
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operes $ 198 % 252 % 212 % 204 % 2.2¢4
Cash dividends per she $ 0.3t % 03z $ 03z $ 03z $ 0.3

(1) The 2010 selected financial information was restdtem amounts previously reported for the cortii discussed above
further described in Note 2 to our ConsolidatedaRial Statements. The consolidated balance skesftBecember 31, 2010 w
corrected to reduce total assets by $8.9 mill

(2) The 2009 selected financial information was restdtem amounts previously reported for the cortii discussed above
further described in Note 2 to our ConsolidatedaRgial Statements. The consolidated statementrofregs for the year end
December 31, 2009 was corrected to decrease reet bgl$1.5 million and decrease net earnings b¥ 80llion. The correctio
decreased 2009 basic and diluted net earningsheee dy $0.01. The consolidated balance sheet &eoémber 31, 2009 w
corrected to reduce total assets by $4.1 mill

(3) The 2008 selected financial information was restdtem amounts previously reported for the cormudi discussed above
further described in Note 2 to our ConsolidatedaRtial Statements. The consolidated statement rofregs for the year end
December 31, 2008 was corrected to increase nes bgl $2.7 million and decrease net earnings b9 &illion. The correctio
decreased 2008 basic and diluted net earningshaee dy $0.04. The consolidated balance sheet &ecémber 31, 2008 w
corrected to reduce total assets by $6.7 mill

| tem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Rancial Condition and Results of Operations.
Analytical Definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analysimaficial condition and results of operations, thens “incremental” and “organicdre
used to explain changes from period to period. fEmm “incremental”is used to highlight the impact acquisitions hadtloa current ye:
results, for which there was no comparable pymear period. Therefore, the results of operatiarsatquisitions are incremental for the 1
twelve months from the date of acquisition. The agnmg businesses are referred to as the “orgamitg. definition of “organic’excludes th
effect of foreign currency translation.

On March 30, 2012, we completed the sale of out treating business, which had been previously ntegowithin the Surface Technolog
segment. The results of operations of this busiaadsthe gain that was recognized on the saleepated within discontinued operations
prior year amounts have been reclassified to camtorthe current year presentation.
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COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Our Managemend’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord dResults of Operations begins with an overviewoof company
followed by economic and industwyide factors impacting our company and the marketsserve, a discussion of the overall resul
operations, and finally a more detailed discussioiihose results within each of our reportable apieg segments.

We manage and evaluate our operations based qmndtacts and services we offer and the differedtistries and markets we serve. Base
this approach, we have three reportable segmelas. Eontrol, Controls, and Surface Technologies. feother information on our produ
and services and the major markets served by oee thbegments, refer to the Business DescriptidPait |, Item | of this Annual Report
Form 10-K. See the table below for our sales byketar

Market Analysis and Economic Factors
Economic Factors Impacting Our Marke
General Economy

Many of our U.S industrial businesses are drivelaige part by global economic growth. World ecormestontinue to slowly recover from
20082009 global recession, as well as the aftermathefarthquake and tsunami that struck Japan iea2§11. However, pockets of glo
economic instability remain, particularly in Europe 2012, the U.S. economy, as measured by reabgtomestic product (GDP), showed 1
modest growth resulting in annual GDP growth o2 &ccording to the most recent estimate, compaittdarl .8% increase in 2011 and a
increase in 2010. While U.S. GDP reflects the ongaurnaround from the previous global economi@ssion, the U.S. continues to deal \
high levels of unemployment, higher taxes and uag#y in the housing market.

Looking ahead to 2013, the broader U.S. econonexpected to continue to recover at a moderate petiea range of current estimates
U.S. GDP growth approximating 2.0%. However, waltbnomies may continue to experience volatility thuéhe impact of Europs’deh
crisis and possible contagion effects that couldesmine economic growth in Europe and the reshefworld. Overall, 2013 GDP growth
world economies is expected to be higher than 2@tPby Brazil, Russia, India, and China, while @a#an economies are expected to on
up slightly. Given that backdrop, we remain cauigwptimistic that our commercial and industrigdnkets will continue to improve in 2013.

Defense

During 2012, approximately 37% of our business atasbuted to the defense sector, predominantihéUnited States, and characterize
long-term programs and contracts driven primariithe DoD budgets and funding levels. We have & digérsified portfolio of products ai
services that supply all branches of the U.S. arifitwith content on many high performance progrant platforms.

The U.S. Defense budget serves as a leading indioatour defense market, and its future outlook haen marked with some uncertai
Over the past two years, top-line reductions réfleamer Defense Secretary Panettguidance to deliver approximately $487 billioncists
over 10 years. Uncertainty in our defense marksb atems from the Budget Control Act of 2011, whgréhe CongressionalSupe
Committee” failed to identify $1.2 trillion of sawjs in order to further reduce the courgrgounting deficit. The inability to reach a deaé
produce additional savings meant that sequestraticautomatic cuts of $500 billion in defense otrer next 10 years, would have taken e
beginning on January 2, 2013, resulting in aggeegatluctions of about $1 trillion over 10 yearswdwer, on January 1, 2013, Cong
elected to delay the impact of sequestration atieast March 1, 2013, and these cuts will autarally be implemented if an agreement
not been reached by March 27, 2013.

Meanwhile, the release of the fiscal year 2013 Badget Request in February 2012 indicated a smaiidrleaner structure moving forwe
consistent with the Presidesitstrategy. The Pentagon has requested $525 Hifiiats base budget in fiscal year 2013 (down fi®831 billior
in 2012), and an additional $88 billion for Oversé&ontingency Operations (OCO) to support our tsdapcombat (down from $115 billion
FY12). The OCO funding request was lower, as alrefuscaled down operations and reduced needrémps in Iraq and Afghaniste
However, as Congress was unable to reach an agneemeesired fiscal year 2013 funding levels ptithe start of its fiscal year (in Octo
2012), it agreed to operate under a continuingluéisa of the 2012 fiscal year budget until at keldarch 27, 2013.
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Following a period of significant growth in the oa# defense budget and related supplemental badsestn in the previous decade, fu
defense spending, as it relates to the 2013 Fifases Defense Plan, is expected to be flat ovemthe five years. While we monitor |
budget process as it relates to programs in whietparticipate, we cannot predict the ultimate impdduture DoD budgets, which tend
fluctuate year-by-year and program-psegram. As a result, some of the budget reductsns program cancellations may negatively im
programs in which we participate. In our groundethse market, we anticipate ground vehicle upgraddsmodernization programs to conti
to be funded over the next five years, althoughtitinéng is uncertain following years of rapid grédwirom the supplemental defense bud
and the impending draw down of our forces from egas operations. Additionally, we expect to berfedin increased funding levels
CA4ISR, electronic warfare, unmanned systems andramitations programs within our aerospace deferedeh In our naval defense mar
we expect continued funding for the U.S. shipbuaidprogram, particularly as it relates to the rampgn production on the CVN9 Ford clas
aircraft carrier over the next two years.

Commercial Aerospace

Approximately 17% of our revenue is derived frone tjlobal commercial aerospace market, includingcttramercial jet, regional jet, a
commercial helicopter markets. Our primary focusthis market is OEM products and services for coneiak jets, where we provide
combination of flight control and utility actuatisystems, sensors, and other electronics, as wethat and laser peening services, tc
primary customers in Boeing and Airbus. Shot arsgdgeening are also utilized on highly stressedpoments of turbine engine fan blac
landing gear, and aircraft structures.

The largest driver of the commercial aerospacenessi is OEM parts, which is highly dependent on a@waraft production. Industry ds
supports a solid increase in commercial aircralivddes over the next few years, as 2011 markedfitist year in a multi-year production up-
cycle for the commercial aerospace market. Ovemthd few years, OEMyriented companies are expected to perform we#, tduplanne
increases in production by Boeing and Airbus, othbdegacy and new aircraft. In addition, accordingthe International Air Transp:
Association (IATA), air travel continues to be raband is likely to continue to expand in futur@sge As such, following a solid performa
over the past two years, the commercial aerospasméss is expected to continue its strong growtB013. Industry experts also expe
modest growth outlook for both regional and bussrjess.

Oil and Gas

Approximately 12% of our revenue is derived frone tiil and gas market. We have a diverse offerinthéooil and gas market, includ
critical-function valves, valve systems, large process &saad control electronics, as well as varioudasdr treatment services on hig
stressed metal components, throughout the enfireerg, as well as in petrochemical and other pssggg plants. In 2012, we expanded
offering to service the emerging shale oil and gasket, including hydraulic fracturing (frackinggchniques, and are now able to sug
upstream, midstream and downstream product offeriife also maintain a significant MRO businessoiar pressureelief valve technologit
and field services, which has been growing steadilyefineries opportunistically service or upgradaipment which has been operating a
capacity in recent years. For 2012, our MRO businepresented approximately 60% of the total s@lesur oil and gas market, with 1
remainder in our large capital projects business.

The most prevalent driver impacting this marketcépital spending by refiners for maintenance, ugpesa capacity expansion, sa
improvements, and compliance with environmentall&ipns, which is experienced by both our domestid international customers. Refi
profitability and global crude oil prices in genkevall impact their capital spending levels. In ZQlthe oil and gas market continued tc
hampered by a reduction in new capital equipmetérsrdue to a lack of capital spending, particylarlinternational markets, despite a str
rebound in MRO activity.

Crude oil prices (based on West Texas Intermediaée® essentially flat in 2012, due to ongoing tilifya and uncertainty regarding Euroge’
debt crisis. Prices are forecasted to decreasespmately 5% in 2013, according to the Energy Infation Administration (EIA), as wor
economies recover leading to an increase in glsbpply that should more than offset higher globahsumption. Furthermore, the L
experienced higher total crude oil production i120vhich is expected to increase in 2013, despigwimg uncertainty in several internatic
markets. Meanwhile, the fluctuations in refineryrgias in 2012 cause modest uncertainty for refimeaygins in 2013.

Looking ahead, we believe a base level of maintemarapital spending will result in continued MROndend. Furthermore, as glo
economies continue to rebound, we anticipate a stomenaround in our large capital projects busindsis includes our complete co
deheading system, which enables safer coke drumatiqe during the refining process, and also
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for our large vessel sales. We also will look tpitalize on opportunities in the emerging shaleamitl gas market, where we supply en
production and processing equipment, and envirotethsolutions.

Longer term, as global dependence on natural ressypersists, oil exploration deepens, and trahspquirements widen, we anticip
additional opportunities will arise for Flow Conitneroducts. Additionally, global environmental cemnas will drive incremental spending
comply with more stringent emissions standards.dMatinue to take a lontgrm view that energy and energy production, trassion, an
consumption will provide a foundation of economi@gegth.

Power Generatiol

Approximately 21% of our revenue is derived frone ttommercial nuclear power generation market, whexesupply a variety of high
engineered products and services, including reamtotant pumps, control rod drive mechanisms, \&hraotors, spent fuel managem
containment doors, bolting solutions, and entegpresource planning and plant process controlsigifirour Flow Control segment.

According to the NRC, nuclear power comprises axiprately 20% of all the electric power producedhe United States, with 104 reac!
operating across 65 nuclear power plants in 3estadur strong growth in recent years is a reduthe U.S. plant recertification proce
Nearly all of the operating U.S. nuclear power gamve applied for or will be applying for-year plant life extensions as they reach the
of their current 40rear operating lives. As of December 31, 2012, §&ctors have received plant life extensions, agfitins from 1
additional reactors have been submitted and ardipgmpproval, and letters of intent to apply haeen submitted from 16 more reactors
expected application submittal dates from 2013uhho2020. During 2012, U.S. courts rejected the NR@aste confidence decision, requi
a general environmental impact study and evaluatfoie storage of spent nuclear fuel before furtlie extensions will be approved. A
result of this legislation, no further license apmls (beyond the 73 completed or currently in pss¢ will be granted until the wa
confidence decision has been resolved. CurtissiWdgdiverse product offering may aid any necessaugias or spent fuel managenr
solutions.

Additionally, as assessments and analysis froneteats at Fukushima continue to drive safety ahahiéty improvements, we have seen
continue to expect increased opportunities worl@afiak our vast portfolio of advanced nuclear tedbgies that are specifically designec
enhance plant safety, fire safety, seismic desigh @ntrols, spent fuel storage, backup site powamrd, also comply with other regulat
requirements on existing plants, particularly ther T regulations as proposed by the NRC.

In addition to plant recertifications, there argesal emerging factors that could precipitate apa@sion in global commercial nuclear po
demand over the next several years. The EIA foted¢hat worldwide total energy consumption is expedo increase at an average annua
of 0.3% between 2011 and 2040. Continued growtjflabal demand for electricity, especially in deygiay countries with limited supply su
as China and India, will require increased capadityaddition, the continued supply constraints angdironmental concerns attributed to
current dependence on fossil fuels have led toaasessment of the value of nuclear technology esnibist efficient and environment:
friendly source of energy available today. As auliesve expect growth opportunities in this marketh domestically and internationa
although the timing of orders remains uncertain.

Domestically, applications for 28 new reactors &pbdwer plants have been submitted to the NRC. Tdmushe Westinghouse AP1000 rea
design, for which we are the sole supplier of r@acbolant pumps, has been selected for 14 of thential new reactors. Our Flow Con
segment has significant content on the AP1000 oeaitte only Generation 11+ advanced design dediby the NRC.

Internationally, new nuclear plant constructioraiive. Currently, there are approximately 66 néants under construction in 14 countr
with approximately 160 planned and over 320 mompgpsed. In particular, China intends to expandutdear power capabilities significar
through the construction of new nuclear power glamter the next several years. Looking ahead, wadle nuclear energy consumptior
expected to grow at an average annual rate of ghd8agh 2035, according to the EIA, led by solidwth in China and India.

As a result, we expect to see continued solid neleroactivity and increased sales for our vastyaofanuclear technologies due to ongc
maintenance and upgrade requirements on operatioigar plants, a renewed interest in products dosafety and extend the reliability
existing reactors, and the continued emphasis a@wmatjhuclear power construction.
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General Industrial

Approximately 13% of our revenue is derived front diversified offering to the general industrial tiet, which consists of surface treatn
services, industrial sensors and control produwatsl, motor and machine control systems for OEMs iaddstrial customers, including 1
HVAC, automotive, construction, transportation,-afbd equipment, entertainment, and medical indsst®ur performance in this marke
typically sensitive to the performance of the UaBd global economies, with gains in U.S. GDP ardlistrial Production leading to higl
volumes, particular for our surface treatment s@wi

For 2012, we experienced a modest increase inengrgl industrial market, primarily related to imyped performance in sensors and con
systems, as well as surface treatment servicesdimg shot peening, engineering coatings, and &nalyservices. In addition, we had st
sales in our domestic automotive market due toitheease in auto production. Looking ahead, base@xpectations for improved glol
economic conditions in 2013, the general indusimarket is likely to experience continued modesingh based on higher volumes ac
several industries in which we participate.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Corrections to Prior Period Amounts

The prior period amounts included in our manageitsatiscussion and analysis have been correctedléatrthe errors described in Note :
our Consolidated Financial Statements. Please st 2\for additional information on these correasio

Year Ended December 2 Percent change

2012 vs. 2011 vs.

2012 2011 2010 2011 2010
(In thousands, except percentag

Sales:
Flow Control $1,095,34' $1,060,77. $1,024,82 3% 4%
Controls 726,67¢ 709,15¢ 639,58 2% 11%
Surface Technologie 275,68¢ 246,80! 190,09° 12% 30%

Total sales $2,097,71  $2,016,74. $1,854,51. 4% 9%
Operating income
Flow Control $ 78,77¢ $ 103,42: $ 104,39: (24%) (1%)
Controls 86,51¢ 75,42! 74,17: 15% 2%
Surface Technologie 27,49 31,47¢ 18,94: (13%) 66%
Corporate and eliminatior (31,347 (23,46¢) (30,82() (34%) 24%

Total operating incom $ 161,44¢ $ 186,85: $ 166,68 (14%) 12%
Interest expens (26,329 (20,839 (22,107 26% (6%)
Other income, ne 24k 862 57& (72%) 50%
Earnings before income tax 135,36 166,88: 145,15! (19%) 15%
Provision for income taxe (43,079 (48,267) (47,269 (11%) 2%
Net earnings from continuing operatic $ 92,28¢ $ 11862( $ 97,88 (22%) 21%
New orders $1,981,011  $2,029,41. $1,887,47
Backlog $1,653,94; $1,694,65  $1,669,59
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Sales

Sales increased $81 million, or 4%, in 2012, aspamed with 2011. The increase in sales in 2012imsgyily due to an increase in sales in
Flow Control and Surface Technologies segments3&f ®illion and $29 million, respectively. The inase in sales in our Flow Coni
segment was primarily due to the incremental immdicicquisitions of $50 million, while the increasesales in our Surface Technolog
segment was due to strong demand for our shot pgetvatings, and analytical services and the mergal impact of acquisitions.

Sales increased $162 million, or 9% in 2011, aspamed with 2010, primarily due to higher volumealhsegments, with the largest per«
increase occurring in the Surface Technologies segnThe first table below further depicts our sddg market, while the second table de|
the impact of acquisitions and foreign currencystation on our sales and operating income.

Year Ended December 2 Percent change

2012 vs. 2011 vs
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010
(In thousands, except percentag

Defense market:

Aerospace $ 307,25¢ $ 310,51 $ 271,88 (1%) 14%

Ground 107,40t 119,38: 119,53: (10%) (0%)

Naval 337,57. 362,82t 365,01: (7%) (1%)

Other 27,28t 32,53¢ 25,90: (16%) 26%
Total Defenst $ 779,52 $ 825,25t $ 782,32 (6%) 5%
Commercial markets

Aerospace $ 363,88: $ 299,81t $ 211,43 21% 42%

Oil and Gas 253,74 241,36 259,45( 5% (7%)

Power Generatio 433,78. 385,45: 356,56( 13% 8%

General Industrie 266,78 264,84¢ 244,74 1% 8%
Total Commercia $1,318,19! $1,191,48  $1,072,18. 11% 11%
Total Curtis-Wright $2,097,711  $2,016,74. $1,854,51 4% 9%
Components of sales and operating income growttrédse):

2012 vs. 2011 2011 vs. 2010
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income

Organic 0% (12%) 4% 15%
Acquisitions/divestiture 5% (1%) 4% (1%)
Foreign currenc (1%) (1%) 1% (2%)
Total 4% (14%) 9% 12%
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Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011
Sales

Defense sales decreased $46 million, or 6%, as amdpo the prior year period, primarily due to émgales in the naval and ground defi
markets. In our Flow Control segment, lower defeseles were due to the winding down of certain hdeéense programs, partially offset
increased production on the CVI®. In our Controls segment, sales decreased phlynirathe ground defense market, due to lower poticr
levels on the TOW Improved Target Acquisition Syst@TAS) and Abrams platforms, slightly offset bigher sales of turret drive system:
international customers. Defense sales in our Berfachnologies segment were essentially flat.

Commercial sales increased $127 million, or 11%c@spared to the prior year period, driven by iasesl sales across all of our m
commercial markets. In our Flow Control segmerg,ittcremental impact of acquisitions contributegbfably to our power generation marl
which was somewhat offset by lower sales due twesloorders from our commercial heating, ventilatiamd air conditioning (HVAC
customers in the general industrial market. In ©antrols segment, the incremental impact of actiois contributed to increased sales ir
general industrial market. In addition, higher saé our flight control products and the incremémtgact of acquisitions contributed favora
to sales in the commercial aerospace market. Ir'Batiace Technologies segment, strong demand frorbase businesses and the increm
impact from acquisitions contributed to higher satethe commercial aerospace and general industaeets, respectively.

Operating income

Operating income decreased $25 million, or 14%c@®mpared to the prior year period. In our Flow @Coinsegment, operating incol
decreased $25 million to $79 million, impacted leytain onetime items, including a strike, additional assemdatyg preparation for shipmi
costs related to the Reactor Coolant Pumps (RQ@Pshé AP1000 program, and restructuring costeuiControls segment, operating incc
grew $11 million to $87 million, as a result of otwst reduction and containment efforts and theeetgul accretive impact and operatit
improvements from our ACRA acquisition. In our Saoé Technologies segment, operating income dedéisenillion to $27 million, an
was negatively impacted by $12 million of restruittg costs, of which $5 million were non-cash clear@s we redigned our business 1
strategic growth. Excluding restructuring costseming income grew $8 million, to $40 million iruro Surface Technologies segm
Acquisitions, net of divestitures, were $3 millidilutive to year-todate operating income, while the effects of foreigrrency translation we
not significant.

Nor-segment operating expense

Non-segment operating expense increased $8 millior81oriillion, primarily due to higher pension expengke increase in pension expe
was primarily due to a decrease in the discoustafibur pension benefit obligation.

Interest expens

Interest expense increased $5 million to $26 mmillie 2012, primarily due to higher average debelswand borrowing rates compared ta
same period in 2011.

Effective tax rate

Our effective tax rates for 2012 and 2011 were @&1.8nd 28.9%, respectively. The increase in thectffe tax rate in 2012, as compare
2011, is primarily due to a $4.1 million researcil @evelopment tax credit recognized in 2011 tlicihdt recur in the current year period.
further information on the changes in effective tates, see Note 13 to the Consolidated Finantaat®ents.

Net earnings

Net earnings decreased $26 million to $92 millior2012, as compared to the prior year period, pilyndue to the impacts of the strike ¢
additional investments on the AP1000 program within Flow Control segment, restructuring costsun $urface Technologies segment,
higher interest expense and effective tax ratesudiged above.
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Backlog and new orde!

Backlog decreased 2% to $1,654 million at Decenfie2012 from $1,695 million at December 31, 2044w orders decreased $48 millio
2012 as compared to the prior year period, primalile to the timing of funding on certain navalatefe programs and lower demand of ce
refinery projects and services in the oil and gasket. Acquisitions, net of divestitures, contrédi$$86 million of incremental new orders.

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010
Sales

Defense sales increased $43 million, or 5%, as eoedjto the prior year period, primarily due toh@gsales in the aerospace defense m.
Sales in the aerospace defense market improvetbdoereases on the 22 Osprey program and higher sales of our embedaieguting an
sensing products on the Blackhawk, offset by exqibdecreases on the2R- The slight decrease in sales in the groundhdefenarket is due
lower sales on the Bradley program somewhat offfigehigher sales of turret drive servo systems amdnanition handling systems
international customers. The slight decrease iassal the naval defense market is primarily dueeolines in production cycles on cer
aircraft carrier programs, particularly the CVi8-and the Electromagnetic Aircraft Launching Syst&hese decreases were somewhat «
by increased production on the Virginia class suiimea

Commercial sales increased $119 million, or 11%campared to the prior year period, primarily doertcreased sales across most of
major markets. The higher sales in the commereedspace, general industrial, and power generatiarkets were primarily due to increa
demand for our metal treatment services, increaabss of flight controls on Boeing aircraft as wadlour Douglas acquisition, and higher ¢
in support of AP1000 and other operating reactojegts. The increases were partially offset by eide in the oil and gas market, prima
due to the timing of new orders for internationapital projects.

Operating income

Operating income increased $20 million, or 12%ceaspared to the prior year period, primarily duehigher sales volume in our Surfi
Technologies segment resulting in improved absomptif overhead costs, as well as contributions foem2011 acquisitions of BASF Surf:
Technologies and IMR Test Labs. This increase watiglly offset by lower operating income and opieigi margins in our Flow Contr
segment, largely driven by a decline in internaiacapital projects in our oil and gas busines@unControls segment, higher sales volun
our sensors and controls products and ammunitiodlimgy systems contributed to improved operatirgpine, somewhat offset by the nege
impacts of unfavorable foreign currency translatsnwvell as purchase accounting and transactids fesn our ACRA acquisition.

Nor-segment operating expense

The decrease in na@egment operating expense in 2011 of $7 milliorgaspared to the prior year period, is primarilyeda lower legal ar
medical expenses in the current year period.

Interest expens

Interest expense decreased $1 million in 2011pawpeared to the prior year period, primarily dudower average debt levels and interest |
for the period. In December 2011, we completed @%8illion private placement offering, which wasdsin part, to pay down our revolv
credit facility. The net debt outstanding as a ltestithe December 2011 private placement offeimgeased our outstanding debt level ¢
December 31, 2011. However, our debt levels weseldhrough most of 2011 than the prior year.

Effective tax rate

Our effective tax rates for 2011 and 2010 were Z8.8nd 32.6%, respectively. The decrease in thexife tax rate in 2011, as compare
2010, is primarily due to a $4.1 million researctd @evelopment tax credit recognized in the curyeatr that did not occur in the prior ye
For further information on the changes in effectiave rates, see Note 13 to the Consolidated FiaaBtatements.
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Net earnings

Net earnings increased $21 million in 2011, as cneg to the prior year period, primarily due to tigher operating income, lower intel
expense, and lower effective tax rates discussedeab

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog increased 2% to $1,695 million at Decen8fer2011 from $1,670 million at December 31, 2096w orders increased $142 mill
in 2011 as compared to the prior year period, piilgpndue to an increase in new orders in the pogareration market that support exis
nuclear operating reactors, increased demand ioittend gas market for MRO projects, strong demianthe commercial aerospace ma
due to production rate increases by the OEMs, aodeésed orders in the naval defense market forC¥MN-79 program. Acquisitior
contributed incremental new orders of $92 milliorthie current year.

RESULTS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

Flow Control
Year Ended December 3 Percent Change
2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010
(In thousands, except percentag

Sales $ 1,09534 $ 1,060,77. $ 1,024,822 3% 4%
Operating incomi 78,77¢ 103,42: 104,39: (24%) (1%)
Operating margil 7.2% 9.7% 10.2% (250)bps (50)bps
Items impacting comparabilit
Restructuring charge (3,690 (200 (2,479 NM NM
Change in estimat

AP1000 (23,689 (9,72)) (11,446 NM NM

Tech Transfe 14,21 — — NM NM
Impacts of strikél):

Production suspensic (6,230 — — NM NM
Under absorption of overhead co (5,119 — — NM NM
New orders $ 97737 $ 1,07296¢ $ 987,54 (9%) 9%
Backlog $ 1,087,68 $ 1,154,14 $ 1,148,71 (6%) 0%

NM - not meaningfu

(1 On August 24, 2012, the Electro Mechanical DivisfgD) of Curtiss-Wrights Flow Control segment experienced a strike, w
led to a temporary suspension of work on open eotgr On September 24, 2012, the Union ratifiedgreement with the Compe
to end the strike and operations have since resumgdliscussed further below, the aggregate impadhe strike on 201
production resulted in a $5 million unfavorable Bwpto operating income as a result of unrecoverabsorption of overhead co
In addition, the temporary suspension of work reslin a shift of longerm contract milestones, which will now be comgtean:
recognized in 2013, causing a decrease in cureidgsales of $18 million and operating incom&@million.
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Components of sales and operating income growttrédese):

2012 vs. 201: 2011 vs. 201
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic 0% (23%) 1% 0%
Acquisitions/divestiture 4% (1%) 3% (1%)
Foreign currenc (1%) 0% 0% 0%
Total 3% (24%) 4% (1%)

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011
Sales

Sales increased $35 million, or 3%, as comparethéoprior year period, primarily due to higher sale the commercial market of 7
somewhat offset by lower sales of 6% in the defenaeket. The incremental impact of acquisitions,afalivestitures, contributed $40 millic
or 4%, of incremental sales, while the effectsapéign currency rate changes decreased curremidpgsies by $2 million or less than 1%.

The increase in sales in our commercial marketpvasarily due to the incremental effects of our 2@tquisitions of Anatec and LMT, wh
favorably impacted sales in our power generatiorketaTo a lesser extent, the incremental impacurf2011 Douglas acquisition, a supy
of aviation towing tractors, improved sales in @ammercial aerospace market. In our oil and gakenaincreased aftermarket MRO
pressure relief valve projects and the incrememtalact of our Cimmaron acquisition more than offdet lower orders for capital refine
projects and services. In our general industrialketa sales decreased due to slower orders fronHW&C customers due to slowing econo
conditions.

The decrease in sales in our defense market wasphy due to the temporary suspension of prodactio certain naval defense programs
result of the strike, which shifted revenue rectignimilestones into 2013. In addition, the timisigproduction on the Virginia class subma
program, the completion of production on the Adwah@rresting Gear and the Electromagnetic Airctaftinching System programs
certain aircraft handling systems programs, coutedd to lower naval defense sales.

Operating income

Operating income decreased $25 million, or 24%$1® million, as compared to the prior year periGgerating income was unfavora
impacted by several factors including the impadhefstrike, unanticipated additional costs in @mtion with the assembly and shipment o
RCPs for the China AP1000 nuclear reactor of $2#lamj and restructuring charges of $4 million. $headditional assembly and prepare
for shipment costs will benefit the production atedivery of the remaining RCPs. Somewhat offsetthrgse unfavorable items was a favor
change in estimate of our cost assumptions on tA&080 technology transfer contract. The changesiimate was primarily due to t
achievement of several significant milestones lier AP1000 program, including the final qualificatiof the RCPs, shipment of the first f
pumps, and a reduced scope of work being perfotmetlird party suppliers. Excluding the impact loése items, operating income decre
slightly primarily due to higher than anticipatedsts for the construction of super vessels and Haweers for capital refinery products
services in our oil and gas business. Acquisiti@asiced operating income by $2 million.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog decreased $66 million to $1,088 millioncasnpared to the prior year period. New orders desereé $96 million, primarily due to 1
timing of funding on certain naval defense prograans lower demand of capital refinery projects apdvices in the oil and gas mar
Acquisitions contributed $40 million to new ordewshile the prior year period included $18 millio @rders associated with a dives
business line.
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Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010
Sales

Sales increased $36 million, or 4%, year-oyear, due to the incremental contributions fromuggitions as well as increased sales in the p
generation, commercial aerospace, and generaltimalurarkets. The increased sales in the poweeigdion market was due to progress ot
AP1000 domestic and China reactor projects asagealhcreased product demand on domestic operaagars. In addition, higher sales of
commercial heating, ventilation, and air conditiapiproducts contributed to the increase in our gariedustrial market. Our acquisition
Douglas, which expands our presence in the comaleagirospace market, contributed $22 million oesab this market in 2011. Thi
increases were partially offset by a decline indhi@nd gas market due to delays in internati@painding on capital projects.

Sales in the defense market decreased slightlyaldeclines in production cycles on certain airceafrier programs, particularly the CVR&
and the Electromagnetic Aircraft Launching Syst&imese decreases were somewhat offset by increasddgtion cycles on the Virginia cle
submarine, Advanced Arresting Gear, and CVN-7%aftcarrier programs.

Operating income

Operating income decreased $1 million, or 50 basists, compared to the prior year. The decreasermainly due to under absorption of fi.
overhead costs in our oil and gas division, pritgahe result of delays in new capital projectshaiitternational customers as well as start-
costs relative to our super vessel business. Iitiaddwe had certain changes to our cost estimatdsngterm contracts, which had an ove
minimal effect on 2011 results. Included withingbechanges were net additional investments of $lliemto address a localized heating is
in the reactor coolant pump (RCP) that we are supglfor the Westinghouse AP1000 nuclear power tglam China. The net impact of 1
additional investments in the RCPs was offset st decreases on other lotegm contracts; particularly for certain U.S. Nawaald Aircraf
carrier programs, as progressive improvementsodypetion resulted in realized cost decreases. Asdhenue related to lorigrm contracts
recorded on the percentageeaimpletion method, the cumulative effect of changegstimated total contract costs were recognineithe
current year. In our other major markets, partidulauclear power, operating income improved priitgagdue to higher sales volume and
cost containment efforts.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog was essentially flat as compared to therpyear period. New orders increased $85 millioscampared to the prior year per
primarily due to higher orders in the power gerieratmarket that support existing nuclear operatesygtors as well as increased demand i
oil and gas market for MRO projects. Acquisitiomsitibuted $35 million of incremental new orderghe current period.

Controls
Year Ended December 3 Percent Change
2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010
(In thousands, except percentag
Sales $ 726,67¢ $ 709,15¢ $ 639,58t 2% 11%
Operating incomi 86,51! 75,42! 74,17 15% 2%
Operating margil 11.% 10.€% 11.€% 13C bps (10Q)bps
Restructuring charge 3,42¢ — 71 NM NM
New orders $ 72735 $ 709,19: $ 709,42 3% 0%
Backlog $ 563,29¢ $ 538,13¢ $ 519,03 5% 4%

NM - not meaningfu
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Components of sales and operating income growttrédese):

2012 vs. 201: 2011 vs. 201
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic (2%) 18% 5% 12%
Acquisitions/divestiture 5% (3%) 5% (5%)
Foreign currenc (1%) 0% 1% (5%)
Total 2% 15% 11% 2%

Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011
Sales

Sales increased $18 million, or 2%, as comparédeaqrior year period, driven by increases in themercial markets of 18% somewhat of
by lower sales in the defense markets of 6%, rdés@de Acquisitions contributed $33 million, or 5%o the increase in sales, while the e
of foreign currency translation decreased sale$5million, or 1%.

The increase in sales in the commercial marketpsiasarily due to 22% growth in the commercial a@axe market due to higher sales of |
our flight control products on Boeing aircraft aathergent and specialty production support on Bosinf@7 aircraft. In addition, stro
demand for sensor and control products servingrélggonal jet and commercial helicopter markets Gbuated to increased commer
aerospace sales. To a lesser extent, the increhedfetet of repairs and overhaul sales from our AC&tquisition contributed favorably to 1
commercial aerospace market.

The decrease in sales in the defense market wasiisi due to lower production levels on the TOWAH and Abrams platform in the grot
defense market. To a lesser extent, sales decrégasbd defense aerospace market, primarily duth@éowinding down of the Global Ha
program and lower production work on the V-22 Ogpeogram.

Operating income

Operating income increased $11 million, or 15%$83 million, as compared to the prior year periOgerating margin increased 130 b
points from the prior year period to 11.9%, prihadue to our cost containment efforts and the etguk accretive impact and operatic
improvements from our ACRA acquisition. ACRA hadlidutive impact on operating income in the compéeatrior period due to high
intangible amortization expenses and purchase atioguadjustments. Acquisitions completed in tharflo quarter of 2012 had a dilut
impact on operating income of $2 million.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog increased 5% to $563 million at December2Z 2 from $538 million at December 31, 2011. Nmwers increased $18 million,
compared to the prior year period, primarily du¢h® incremental impact of acquisitions of $47 imillsomewhat offset by lower orders in
defense business.

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010
Sales

Sales increased $70 million, or 11%, as comparékeqrior year, driven by increases in the comiaesnd defense markets, of 15% and
respectively. The incremental impact of acquisgi@ontributed $29 million in increased sales, wiiile effects of foreign currency translai
increased sales by $9 million.

The increase in sales in our commercial marketsdsigen by higher sales in the commercial aerospackgeneral industrial markets of 1
and 15%, respectively. The growth in sales in thmercial aerospace market was primarily due teeases of our flight control products
Boeing 747 and 787 aircraft as well as increasednoercial repairs and overhaul, including contribo§ from our acquisition of ACRA.
addition, higher sales in our general industriatkeaiare mainly due to increased demand for ous@srand controls products.
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The increase in sales in our defense markets islyndie to higher sales in the aerospace defenskeindriven by increased demand for
embedded computing and sensing products on vahelisopter programs, most notably the Blackhawkadidition, we realized solid grow
on the V-22 Osprey program. These increases wetialpaoffset by the previous cancellation of the22 program. The ground defense me
was down slightly due to the previous cancellatiohthe FCS program and lower sales on the Braplieform which were somewhat offset
increases on turret drive systems to internationsfomers.

Operating income

Operating income was essentially flat year-oyear, while operating margin decreased 100 basigspfrom the prior year to 10.6%. Curr
year operating margin was negatively impacted aworable currency translation as well as purclEs®unting and transactions costs rel
to our ACRA acquisition. The negative impact wastiply offset by higher organic sales volume ofr @&nsors and controls products
ground vehicle applications, which contributedrtgproved operating income.

Backlog and new orde!

Backlog increased 4% to $538 million at December2Bil1 from $519 million at December 31, 2010. Nwders were flat, as compared to
prior year period, primarily due to incremental ensl from acquisitions of $27 million, offset by thiming of new orders on our embed
computing products.

Surface Technologies

Year Ended December 3 Percent Change
2012 vs. 2011 vs.
2012 2011 2010 2011 2010
(In thousands, except percentag

Sales $ 27568 $ 246,80¢ $ 190,09 12% 30%
Operating incom: 27,49« 31,47¢ 18,94: (13%) 66%
Operating margil 10.(% 12.8% 10.C% (280)bps 28C bps
Restructuring and impairment char¢ 12,08¢ — 15z NM NM
New orders $ 276,27¢ $ 247,25 $ 190,49 12% 30%

NM - not meaningfu

Components of sales and operating income growttrédse):

2012 vs. 201: 2011 vs. 201
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic 6% (12%) 12% 48%
Acquisitions 7% 1% 16% 14%
Foreign currenc (1%) (2%) 2% 4%
Total 12% (13%) 30% 6€%
39



Year ended December 31, 2012 compared to year ended December 31, 2011
Sales

Sales increased $29 million, or 12%, as comparededqrior year period, due to increased demanasaaill of our major lines of business
markets, particularly for our shot peening, coaingnd analytical services. Sales in the commeagabspace and general industrial me
increased 18% and 10%, respectively. Acquisitiagributed $17 million to current year sales wiiile effects of foreign currency translal
decreased sales $3 million.

Operating income

Operating income, excluding the effects of restrting charges, increased $8 million, or 26%, to 4lion, and operating margin increase:
14.4%, a 160 basis point improvement over the pyear. The improvement was driven primarily by @ased sales volume resulting
favorable absorption of fixed overhead costs, nyambur shot peening and coatings businesses.

New orders

New orders increased $29 million, from the prioayelue to increased orders for coatings and shertipg services. Acquisitions contribt
$17 million of new orders to the current period.

Year ended December 31, 2011 compared to year ended December 31, 2010
Sales

Sales increased $57 million, or 30%, from the psiear, due to increased demand across all of oyorniiaes of business and mark
particularly for our shot peening and coatings ®e to commercial markets. Acquisitions and theat$ of foreign currency translati
contributed $30 million and $4 million, respectiyeo current year sales, which accounted for dnedfr of the sales increase.

Operating income

Operating income increased $13 million, or 66%nTfrihe prior year and was favorably impacted by apipnately $3 million from acquisitiol
and the effects of foreign currency translationcliging these items, operating margin increaseiBt&%, a 310 basis point improvement «
the prior year. The improvement was driven prinyakl increased sales volume resulting in favorateorption of fixed overhead co:
mainly in our shot peening and coatings businesses.

New orders
New orders increased $57 million, from the prioayerimarily due to increased orders for domestid international shot peening servic
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash infliam receipts on the sale of goods and servicdscash outflow for the procurement
materials and labor; cash flow is therefore subjeeharket fluctuations and conditions. A substrtiortion of our business is in the defe
sector, which is characterized by long-term congra®lost of our longerm contracts allow for several billing points dgress or mileston
that provide us with cash receipts as costs angriied throughout the project rather than upon eamntcompletion, thereby reducing work
capital requirements. In some cases, these payroantsxceed the costs incurred on a project.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

December 31, 201 December 31, 201

Cash provided by (used ir

Operating activitie! $ 152,47  $ 201,85:
Investing activities (492,999 (251,82)
Financing activitie: 254,24: 179,80
Effect of exchange rate 3,91¢ (3,56%)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis $ (82,369 $ 126,26!

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities decreasedriflibn to $152 million during the twelve montheded December 31, 2012 as compart
the prior year period, primarily due to lower adead payments on long-term contracts and, to adessent, lower net earnings.

I nvesting Activities
Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were $83 million in 205Zampared to $84 million in 2011. Capital expemdis in 2012, as compared to 2011, \
essentially flat as prior year facility expansiaovighin our oil and gas and commercial aerospacéksses were offset by higher investmen
the current year in the Surface Technologies segfoetaser peening equipment and internationdlifpémprovements and expansion. Caf.
expenditures relate primarily to new and replacegmmachinery and equipment, the expansion of newdymblines within the busine
segments, and the construction of new facilitied @mgrade of existing facilities.

Acquisitions and divestitures of busines

During both 2012 and 2011 we acquired eight busi®sind expect to continue to seek acquisitiortsattgaconsistent with our lortgsrr
growth strategy. A combination of cash resouraesluding cash on hand, funds available under ceditagreement, and proceeds from
Senior Notes were utilized to fund our acquisitiowsich totaled $460 million and $178 million in ZDand 2011, respectively. Additio
acquisitions will depend, in part, on the avail@pibf financial resources at a cost of capitaltthreet our stringent criteria. As such, fu
acquisitions, if any, may be funded through the afeur cash and cash equivalents, through additibnancing available under the cre
agreement, or through new financing alternatives.

Our 2012 heat treat divestiture resulted in $52ionilof cash proceeds while divestures in 2011ltedun $8 million of proceeds.
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Financing Activities
Debt Issuance

In August 2012, we amended and refinanced our iegistredit facility by entering into a Third Amerdi@and Restated Credit Agreen
(Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of financiastitutions, led by Bank of America N.A., Wells Fard\.A, and JP Morgan Chase Be
N.A.. The proceeds available under the Credit Agreret are to be used for working capital, internalwgh initiatives, funding of futu
acquisitions, and general corporate purposes. Uhdeterms of the revolving credit agreement, weeha borrowing capacity of $500 millic
In addition, the credit agreement provides an atioarfeature which allows us to borrow an additidgb00 million. As of December 30, 20.
we had $47 million in letters of credit supportedtbe credit facility and $287 million of borrowiaginder the credit facility.

The revolving credit agreement contains covenah#$ tve consider usual and customary for an agreewfethis type for comparak
commercial borrowers, including a maximum consdédanet debt-t@apitalization ratio of 60 percent. The agreemexst tustomary events
default, such as non-payment of principal when dusnpayment of interest, fees, or other amountsssspayment default and cross
acceleration with the Corporation’s other senialeintedness.

Borrowings under the credit agreement will accmterest based on (i) Libor or (i) a base ratehef highest of (a) the federal funds rate
0.5%, (b) BofAs announced prime rate or (c) the Eurocurrency paie 1%, plus a margin. The interest rate andllefidacility fees ar
dependent on certain financial ratios, as defimedhe Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement alsawvigdes customary fees, includ
administrative agent and commitment fees. In cotimeevith the Credit Agreement, we paid customaapsaction fees that have been defe
and are being amortized over the term of the Crsgiieement.

On December 8, 2011, we issued $300 million of &eNbtes (the 2011 Notes). The 2011 Notes con&i$1@0 million of 3.84% Senior Not
that mature on December 1, 2021 and $200 millioA.®4% Senior Series Notes that mature on Decemli#)26. The 2011 Notes are se
unsecured obligations, equal in right of paymerduo existing senior indebtedness. We, at our aptian prepay at any time all or any pa
our 2011 Notes, subject to a makbele payment in accordance with the terms of tbéeNPurchase Agreement. In connection with our
Notes, we paid customary fees that have been defand are being amortized over the term of oufl 20dtes. We are required under the !
Purchase Agreement to maintain certain financi@sathe most restrictive of which is a debt titaization limit of 60%. The 2011 Not
also contain a cross default provision with oureotbenior indebtedness.

On December 1, 2005, we issued $150 million of ®%5enior Series Notes (the 2005 Notes). Our 20G8s\Nmature on December 1, 2017
are senior unsecured obligations, equal in righgayfment to our existing senior indebtedness. Weuaoption, can prepay at any time al
any part of our 2005 Notes, subject to a makele payment in accordance with the terms of tbeeNPurchase Agreement. In connection
our 2005 Notes, we paid customary fees that haga teferred and are being amortized over the téimmro2005 Notes. We are required ur
the Note Purchase Agreement to maintain certaanfiral ratios, the most restrictive of which isebtito capitalization limit of 60%. The ni
also contains a cross default provision with otieosenior indebtedness.

On September 25, 2003 we issued $200 million of@eyotes (the 2003 Notes). The 2003 Notes cowi$75 million of 5.13% Senior Not
that matured and were repaid on September 25, a0d®125 million of 5.74% Senior Notes that matmeSeptember 25, 2013. Our 2
Notes are senior unsecured obligations and ard agrght of payment to our existing senior indethess. We, at our option, can prepay a
time all or any part of our 2003 Notes, subjecatmakewhole payment in accordance with the terms of tiekeNPurchase Agreement.
connection with our 2003 Notes, we paid customagsfthat have been deferred and are being amoavardhe terms of the 2003 Notes.
are required under the Note Purchase Agreemenatotain certain financial ratios, the most resivietof which is a debt to capitalization lit
of 60%, and a cross default provision with our otfenior indebtedness.

Debt outstanding for our industrial revenue bonds %8 million at December 31, 2012. The loans antihg under the 2003, 2005, and Z
Notes, Revolving Credit Agreement, and Industrial&ue Bonds had interest rates averaging 3.920ft2 and 3.5% for 201

Our current portion of debt was $128 million at Beder 31, 2012, and $3 million at December 31, 2Uh# increase in our shdgrm debt i
due to the September 2013 maturity of our $125@nilSenior Notes. Our longrm debt was $752 million at December 31, 2012nareas
of $168 million from $584 million at December 3012A.
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Debt Complianct
As of the date of this report, we were in complamdth all debt covenants.
Repurchase of Common St

On September 28, 2011, the Company received aattiimm from its board of directors to enter intslare repurchase program. The s
repurchase program authorizes the Company to psechg to approximately 3,000,000 shares of its comrstock, in addition -
approximately 690,000 shares remaining under aiquiely authorized share repurchase program, asdbgct to a $100 million repurch:
limitation.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 2042 Gompany repurchased approximately 830,000 slodresr common stock for $.
million. During the twelve months ended DecemberZil1, the Company repurchased 261,000 sharas @oonmon stock for $8 million.
2013, the Company will continue to evaluate striateges of its cash and cash equivalents incluttiagise of cash to repurchase shares.

Dividends

In the second quarter of 2012, the Corporationeased its dividend to nine cents a share, a 12n6%adse over the prior year dividend. C
used to make dividend payments during the twelvathwoended December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, ¥&sndlion, $15 million, and $1
million, respectively.

Cash Utilization

As of December 31, 2012, the Corporation has cashcash equivalents of $112 million and $128 millaf shortterm debt, of which $1:
million is for the September 25, 2013 maturity of @003 Notes. The Corporation is currently consipavailable financing opportunities
raise additional capital and take advantage ofctireent low interest rate environment through atdsfering. The Company expects to
complete with any additional debt offering by tlestf half of 2013. Management continually evaluatash utilization alternatives, includ
share repurchases, acquisitions, and increasededids to determine the most beneficial use of aiglcapital resources. We believe that
cash and cash equivalents, cash flow from opemtiamailable borrowings under the credit faciliand ability to raise additional cap
through the credit markets, are sufficient to meath the short-term and lorigrm capital needs of the organization, including teturn ¢
capital to shareholders through dividends and stegmerchases and growing our business through sitiqos.

Future Commitments

Cash generated from operations should be adeqaateeét our planned capital expenditures of apprateiy $90 million and expect
dividend payments of approximately $16 million i613. There can be no assurance, however, that Weantinue to generate cash fr
operations at the current level. If cash generfxtad operations is not sufficient to support theperating requirements and investing activi
we may be required to reduce capital expenditdses,ow from our existing credit line, refinance argion of our existing debt, or obt:
additional financing. While all companies are sabje economic risk, we believe that our cash aaghequivalents, cash flow from operati
and available borrowings are sufficient to meehtibe short-term and long-term capital needs obtiganization.

In 2012, we made contributions of approximately $adlion to the CurtisdAright Pension Plan and expect to make contribstioi
approximately $35 million in 2013. In addition, ¢lmgh 2017, we expect to make cumulative pensionspt@ntributions of $220 million. F
more information on our pension and other postratent benefits plans, please see Note 18 to thedlidated Financial Statements.
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The following table quantifies our significant fuéucontractual obligations and commercial commitises of December 31, 2012:

(In thousands Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter
Debt Principal Repaymen $ 880,95t $128,22' $ 7,48: $ 34 $ 14 $ 436,800 $ 308,40
Interest Payment on Fixed Rate D 198,36! 25,83¢ 20,58¢ 20,58¢ 20,58¢ 19,88: 90,89:
Operating Lease 200,78! 31,18( 27,33¢ 24,04¢ 20,29( 17,23( 80,70(
Total $ 1,280,100 $ 185,23¢ $ 55407 $ 44,66! $40,88¢ $47391 $ 479,99

We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbstur raw material purchase commitments are ma@etty pursuant to specific contr;
requirements.

We enter into standby letters of credit agreemamd guarantees with financial institutions and eurgrs primarily relating to futu
performance on certain contracts to provide praslacd services and to secure advance paymentsweead@eived from certain internatio
customers. At December 31, 2012, we had continlgailities on outstanding letters of credit duefaltows:

(In thousands Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 Thereafter (1)

Letters of Credi $ 62,13t $ 32,82( $ 544: $ 2,290 $ 8,05¢ $ 1,742 $ 11,78:

(M Amounts indicated as Thereafter are letters ofitthdt expire during the revolving credit agreemtemm but will automatically renew
the date of expiration. In addition, amounts exelbdnk guarantees of approximately $7 million.

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and accomnipgmpotes are prepared in accordance with geneasaltgpted accounting principles in
United States of America. Preparing consolidatedrftial statements requires us to make estimagsssumptions that affect the repo
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, and esggerThese estimates and assumptions are affgctd bpplication of our accounting polic
Critical accounting policies are those that reqapelication of managemestimost difficult, subjective, or complex judgmerdfien as a rest
of the need to make estimates about the effectsatters that are inherently uncertain and may ohamgubsequent periods. We believe
the following are some of the more critical judgrmareas in the application of our accounting pelcihat affect our financial condition ¢
results of operations:

Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingtsfrecognition in our accounts and is generallpsidered realized or realizable and ea
when the earnings process is substantially compledeall of the following criteria are met: 1) pggisive evidence of an arrangement exist
delivery has occurred or services have been redfd8jeour price to our customer is fixed or deterafile; and 4) collectability is reasone
assured.

We record sales and related profits on productiwh service type contracts as units are shippedi@dnd risk of loss have transferred o
services are rendered. This method is used in otfa& Technologies segment and in some of thenessiunits within the Controls and F
Control segments that serve commercial markets.

For certain contracts in our Flow Control and Colstisegments that require performance over an dg&teperiod before deliveries begin, s
and estimated profits are recorded by applyingpieentage-of-completion method of accounting. paentage-oéompletion method «
accounting is used primarily for our defense cattrand certain lonterm commercial contracts. This method recogniegenue and profit .
the contracts progress towards completion. Foaitedontracts that contain a significant numbepeafformance milestones sales are recc
based upon achievement of these performance milestorhe performance milestone method is an outmasure of progress towa
completion made in terms of results achieved. leotain fixed price contracts, where none or a Baiihumber of milestones exist, the cost-tc
cost method is used, which is an input measurer@jrpss toward completion. Under the costd¢st method, sales and profits are recc
based on the ratio of costs incurred to an estimfatests at completion.
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Application of percentage-afempletion methods of revenue recognition requinesuse of reasonable and dependable estimatég @diture
material, labor, and overhead costs that will beuired and a disciplined cost estimating systerwhich all functions of the business

integrally involved. These estimates are determibasied upon industry knowledge and experience ofeagineers, project managers,

financial staff. These estimates are significartt eaflect changes in cost and operating performaime®ighout the contract and could ha
significant impact on our operating performancejustiments to original estimates for contract revgrastimated costs at completion, anc
estimated total profit are often required as warbgpesses throughout the contract and more inféomas obtained, even though the scop
work under the contract may not change. These @saage recorded on a cumulative basis in the pénmydare determined to be necessary.

Under the percentage-obmpletion method of accounting, provisions forireated losses on uncompleted contracts are recediz the
period in which the likelihood of such losses aetedmined to be probable. However, costs associatidcosts deferred in anticipation
future contract sales and certain loss developroentracts may be deferred if follomr production orders are deemed probable. Am
representing contract change orders are includeeivienue only when they can be estimated reliabtytheir realization is reasonably asst
Certain contracts contain provisions for the redghmieation of price and, as such, management defepsrtion of the revenue from th
contracts until such time that the price has bewlifed.

In 2012, the aggregate net changes in estimatesrdfact costs resulted in a decrease to sale®paiting income of $9 million and ¢
million, respectively. The aggregate net changesstimates of contract costs for 2011 and 2010 wetenaterial to the consolidated stater
of operations for such annual period.

Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct labod aarchasing and manufacturing overhead costs hadrie stated at the lower of cost or ma
where market is limited to the net realizable vaMige estimate the net realizable value of our itmées and establish reserves to reduc
carrying amount of these inventories to net reblzaalue, as necessary. We continually evaluateattequacy of the inventory reserve:
reviewing historical scrap rates, band quantities as compared with historical andepted usage levels, and other anticipated comtai
requirements. The stated inventory costs are alfective of the estimates used in applying thepetage-olcompletion revenue recogniti
method.

We purchase materials for the manufacture of cormpienfor sale. The decision to purchase a set ipafita particular item is influenced
several factors including: current and projectadeprfuture estimated availability, existing anajpected contracts to produce certain items
the estimated needs for our businesses.

For certain of our longerm contracts, we utilize progress billings, whielpresent amounts billed to customers prior todilesery of good
and services and are recorded as a reduction ¢émtiosy and receivables. Amounts are first appleedrtbilled receivables and any remaind
then applied to inventory. Progress billings arenegeally based on costs incurred, including direosts, overhead, and general
administrative costs.

Pension and Other Postretirement Bene

In consultation with our actuaries, we determine dppropriate assumptions for use in determinimglitibility for future pension and ott
postretirement benefits. The most significant efsthassumptions include the number of employeesmitheceive benefits, their tenure, tr
salary levels, their projected mortality, expeatetirn on plan assets, the discount rates useetéordine plan obligations, and the trends ir
costs of medical and other health care benefithéncase of the postretirement benefit obligati@isanges in these assumptions, if signifi
in future years, may have an effect on our penaiwh postretirement expense, associated pensiopaaticetirement assets and liabilities,
our annual cash requirements to fund these plans.

The discount rate used to determine the plan beolefigations as of December 31, 2012, and the anperiodic costs for 2013, was redu
from 4.5% to 4.0% for the Curtidskight Pension Plan and from 4.5% to 3.75% for BMD postretirement benefit plan to reflect cur
economic conditions. The rates reflect the hypathétates at which the projected benefit obligasi@ould be effectively settled or paid ot
participants on that date. We determine our distoates utilizing selected bond yield curves depetbby our actuaries, by using the rate
return on high-quality, fixed-income corporate bsralvailable at the measurement date with maturities match the plas’expected ca
outflows for benefit payments. The discount rate tfee Curtiss/right Restoration and postretirement benefit pldasreased to 3.5% ¢
2.5%, respectively, in 2012 to reflect the shodwration of liabilities of these plans. These chemgontributed to an increase in the
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benefit obligation of $110 million. The rate of cpansation increase for the pension plans remainaavaighted average of 4.0% based uf
graded scale of 5.0% to 3.0% that decrements afmpesases, which reflects the experience ovep#st years and the Compasgxpectatio
of future salary increases. We also utilized the RB0 mortality tables, which assume mortality ioy@ments into the future for the U
pension and postretirement benefit plans.

The overall expected return on assets assumptibased primarily on the expectations of future gentaince. Expected future performanc
determined by weighting the expected returns fahessset class by the plan’s asset allocation.€kpected returns are based on loeigr
capital market assumptions provided by our investneensultants. We have consistently used the 8#&i%as a longerm overall averag
return, and consider this rate to be a reasonalslenaption of the future long-term investment regurn

The long-term medical trend assumptions start witturrent rate that is in line with expectationstfte near future. The trergltate is the
graded down over time until it reaches an ultimate that is close to expectations for growth inRGDhe reasoning is that medical tre
cannot continue to be higher than the rate of GBRvth in the long term. The health care cost tresigs used to determine the ber
obligations of the plans as of December 31, 20hd,the annual periodic costs for 2013 were on #ialinrend of 8.0% grading down to
ultimate trend of 5.5% in 2019. In 2010 we modifieé EMD postretirement benefit design for péStretirees, effectively capping the plai
future medical inflation. As a result, any changehie expectation of these rates to return to enablevel should not have a material impac
the amount of expense we recognize.

The timing and amount of future pension income xpease to be recognized each year is dependerheodemographics and expec
compensation of the plan participants, the expetttstest rates in effect in future years, inflatiand the actual and expected invest
returns of the assets in the pension trust.

The funded status of our domestic qualified penpian decreased by $15 million in 2012, primariliedo the decline in the discount rate
to value plan obligations at December 31, 2012aTesser extent, the reduction in funded statusoffast by positive asset returns of 15.6¢
2012. Prior financial market underperformance amel ¢ontinued lower interest rate environment hageased our future cash func
requirements and future pension expense. Howewercamtributed $40 million to this plan in 2012, aexpect to contribute approximat
$220 million more over a five year period beginnin@2013. Additionally, we expect pension expent&4 million associated with this pl
in 2013.

The following table reflects the impact of changeselected assumptions used to determine the fusi@d¢us of the Compars/U.S. qualifie
and nonqualified pension plans as of December @12 2in thousands, except for percentage pointgdian

Increase in
Percentage Benefit Increase in
Assumptior Point Chang Obligation Expense
Discount rate (0.25%) $ 21,93¢ % 3,22i
Rate of compensation incree 0.25% 3,872 952
Expected return on asst (0.25%) — 91€

See Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther information on our pension and pdsgeent plans.
Environmental Reservi

We provide for environmental reserves on a sitesibg-basis when, in conjunction with internal anteenal legal counsel, it is determined
a liability is both probable and estimable. In maages, the liability is not fixed or capped whenfikst record a liability for a particular sitd
only a range of potential liability can be estintaéand no amount within the range is more probdide inother, a reserve will be establishi
the low end of that range. At sites involving npikéi parties, we accrue environmental liabilitiesdshupon our expected share of the liab
taking into account the financial viability of oather jointly liable partners. Judgment is requivdten we make assumptions and estimate
expected to be incurred for environmental remealiadictivities because of, among other factorsiadifies in assessing the extent and type
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environmental remediation to be performed, the ichd complex environmental regulations and remgémhatechnologies, and agreeme
between potentially responsible parties to sharéhéncost of remediation. In estimating the futliadility and continually evaluating tl
sufficiency of such liabilities, we weigh certaiactors including our participation percentage due tsettlement by or bankruptcy of of
potentially responsible parties, a change in theirenmental laws requiring more stringent requiretse an increase or decrease in
estimated time required to remediate, a changédénestimate of future costs that will be incurredrémediate the site, and change
technology related to environmental remediation. &idenot believe that continued compliance with emvinental laws applicable to «
operations will have a material adverse effect an financial condition or results of operation. Hoxer, given the level of judgment ¢
estimation used in the recording of environmenéslerves, it is reasonably possible that materigiffigrent amounts could be recorde
different assumptions were used or if circumstamge® to change, such as environmental regulatonsmediation solution remedies.

As of December 31, 2012, our environmental resetotged $16.4 million, the majority of which isnig term. Approximately 25.9% of t
environmental reserves represent the current \&loer anticipated remediation costs and are rextalinted primarily due to the uncertaint
timing of expenditures. The remaining environmengskerves are discounted to reflect the time vafuaoney since the amount and timiny
cash payments for the liability are reasonably meitgable. All environmental reserves exclude anteptial recovery from insurance carrier:
third-party contribution legal actions.

Purchase Accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oguigitions. Under this method, we allocate the cbdusiness acquisitions to the as
acquired and liabilities assumed based on theimastd fair values at the date of acquisition, camiy referred to as the purchase p
allocation. As part of the purchase price alloaatidor our business acquisitions, identifiable rigiale assets are recognized as assets
from goodwill if they arise from contractual or ethlegal rights, or if they are capable of beingasated or divided from the acquired busil
and sold, transferred, licensed, rented, or exabdnbhe purchase price is allocated to the undwyltangible and intangible assets acquirec
liabilities assumed based on their respective rfarket values, with any excess recorded as goodwd determine the fair values of s
assets and liabilities, generally in consultatiathwhird-party valuation advisors. Such fair value assessnequire significant judgments ¢
estimates such as projected cash flows, discotes,reoyalty rates, and remaining useful lives teat differ materially from actual results. -
analysis, while substantially complete, is finatize later than twelve months from the date of &itjon. The fair value of assets acquired
of cash) and liabilities assumed of our 2012 adtjois were estimated to be $585 million and $12[Ban, respectively.

Goodwill

We have $ 1,013 million in goodwill as of DecemB4r 2012. Generally, the largest separately idabié# asset from the businesses the
acquire is the value of their assembled workforedsch includes the additional benefit receivedrfrmanagement, administrative, market
business development, scientific, engineering,tanldnical employees of the acquired businessessiteess of our acquisitions, including
ability to retain existing business and to sucadisitompete for and win new business, is basedhenadditional benefit received fr(
management, administrative, marketing, and busidegslopment, scientific, engineering, and tecHrskdls and knowledge of our employ:t
rather than on productive capital (plant and eqeiptntechnology, and intellectual property). Theref since intangible assets for assernr
workforces are part of goodwill, the substantialjority of the intangible assets for our acquiredsiness acquisitions are recognizes
goodwill.

The recoverability of goodwill is subject to an aahimpairment test based on the estimated fairevaf the underlying businesses. The te
performed in the fourth quarter, which coincideshwthe preparation of our fivgear strategic operating plan. Additionally, gooldive tester
for impairment when an event occurs or if circums&s change that would more likely than not redbedair value of a reporting unit bel
its carrying amount.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unit iglgmental in nature and involves the use of sigaifi estimates and assumptions tha
believe are reasonable but inherently uncertaitu#diaesults may differ from those estimates. Tiowate the fair value of a reporting unit,
consider both comparative market multiples as wsllestimated discounted cash flows for the repputinit. The significant estimates ¢
assumptions include, but are not limited to, reegrowth rates, operating margins, and future ezdn@and market conditions. The discc
rates are based upon the reporting unit's weigatetdage cost of capital.

The first step is to identify any potential impa@m by comparing the carrying value of the repgrtimit to its fair value. As a supplement,
conduct additional sensitivity analysis to asshegisk for potential impairment based upon charigése
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key assumptions such as the discount rate, expentgderm growth rate, and cash flow projections. lfimpairment is identified, the secc
step is to measure the impairment loss by compdhiegmplied fair value of goodwill with the carng value of the goodwill on the report
unit. Based upon the completion of our annual t@stdetermined that there was no impairment ofevalnd that all reporting units estime
fair values, with the exception of the oil and gegorting unit within the Flow Control segment, wesubstantially in excess of their carry
amounts. Therefore, it is not reasonably likelyt Significant changes in these estimates would ottt would result in an impairment cha
related to these assets.

Based on the annual analysis, we determined thabiband gas reporting ung’estimated fair value was not substantially inesgcof it
carrying amount. The amount of goodwill for our aild gas reporting unit amounted to $187 milliobatember 31, 2012, which inclu
approximately $68 million related to our Cimarrargaisition. While we determined that there was nodyvill impairment of the oil and g
reporting unit as of October 31, 2012, the futuceuwrence of a potential indicator of impairment¢cts as a significant adverse chang
business climate, a material negative change atiogiships with the reporting urst'significant customers, a significant decline efag ir
capital projects, loss of key personnel, unantieigacompetition, or an adverse action or assesshyeatregulator, would require an inte
assessment prior to the next required annual assessas of October 31, 2013. If management detesnthat impairment exists,
impairment will be recognized in the period in whit is identified. We continue to monitor the perhance of this reporting unit in relatior
the key assumptions in our analysis.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are generally the resudicqliisitions and consist primarily of purchasezhimlogy, customer related intangibles,
trademarks. Intangible assets are recorded at filieivalues as determined through purchase actwyribased on estimates and judgm
regarding expectations for the estimated futureraéx earnings and cash flows arising from followsales. Definitdived intangible assets ¢
amortized on a straight-line basis over their estéd useful lives, which generally range from R€oyears, while indefinitéved intangible
assets are not amortized. Customer related intesggsimarily consist of customer relationshipsjchhreflect the value of the benefit deri
from the incremental revenue and related cash flsa direct result of the customer relationship.

Indefinitedived intangible assets are reviewed for impairmamiually based on the discounted future cash fléwsglitionally, we review th
recoverability of all intangible assets, includithg related useful lives, whenever events or changeircumstances indicate that the carr
amount might not be recoverable. We would recorgl iampairment in the reporting period in which itshbeen identified. Based upon
completion of our annual impairment review, we deieed that there was no impairment of value.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures adout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chaimgigerest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating
financing activities. We seek to minimize any mierisks from foreign currency exchange rate flattons through our normal operating
financing activities and, when deemed approprititegugh the use of derivative financial instrumentée used forward foreign currer
contracts to manage our currency rate exposurésgdtire year ended December 31, 2012. In additioarder to manage our interest rate |
we may, from time to time, enter into interest rsweaps to balance the ratio of fixed to floatinterdebt. We do not use such instrument
trading or other speculative purposes. Informatiegarding our accounting policy on financial instents is contained in Notellio the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Rate

The market risk for a change in interest ratesteslprimarily to our debt obligations. Our interese exposure was 65% and 98% fixe
December 31, 2012 and December 31, 2011, resplyctimenrder to manage our interest rate expoduoe) time to time, we enter into inter
rate swap agreements to manage our mix of fixezl-aatl variablegate debt. With the interest rate swap agreeméiatsvtere in place as
December 31, 2012 our interest rate exposure wasfd@d. As of December 31, 2012, a change in @gerates of 1% would have an img
on consolidated interest expense of less than #&milnformation regarding our 2011, 2005 and 200otes, Revolving Credit Agreeme
and Interest Rate Swaps is contained in Note tdet@onsolidated Financial Statements.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rai

Although the majority of our sales, expenses, amghdlows are transacted in U.S. dollars, we doeehaarket risk exposure to change
foreign currency exchange rates, primarily aslates to the value of the U.S. dollar versus thead@n dollar, the British pound, the Euro,
Norwegian kroner, and the Swiss franc. Any sigafficchange against the U.S. dollar in the valuth@fcurrencies of those countries in wi
we do business could have an effect on our busifieasicial condition, and results of operatiorifoteign exchange rates were to collecti
weaken or strengthen against the dollar by 10%eagtings would have been reduced or increasegectgely, by approximately $8 millic
as it relates exclusively to foreign currency exterate exposures.

Financial instruments expose us to counter-pasgitrisk for nonperformance and to market risk for changes in @seand foreign curren
rates. We manage exposure to counter-party creditthrough specific minimum credit standards, difecation of counteparties, an
procedures to monitor concentrations of credit.ri&le monitor the impact of market risk on the fatue and cash flows of our investment:
investing primarily in investment grade interestdieg securities, which have sheetm maturities. We attempt to minimize possiblarae
in interest and currency exchange rates to amdbatsre not material to our consolidated resultgperations and cash flows.
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| tem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dati

C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the years ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands, except per share de

Net sales 2,097,711 $ 2,016,74 $ 1,854,51.
Cost of sale: 1,438,97. 1,359,79! 1,248,24
Gross profit 658,74 656,94 606,26!
Research and development exper (59,717 (62,115 (54,13)
Selling expense (125,20 (129,43 (111,77))
General and administrative expen (312,38 (288,54() (273,67¢)
Operating incom 161,44¢ 186,85¢ 166,68!
Interest expens (26,329 (20,839 (22,107
Other income, ne 24t 862 57t
Earnings before income tax 135,36 166,88 145,15!
Provision for income taxe (43,079 (48,267) (47,269
Earnings from continuing operatio 92,28¢ 118,62 97,88«
Discontinued operations, net of ta

Earnings from discontinued operatic 3,04: 7,76¢ 4,29¢

Gain on divestitur: 18,51 — —
Earnings from discontinued operatic 21,55¢ 7,76¢ 4,29¢

Net earnings

113,84 $ 126,38¢ $ 102,18(

Basic earnings per shai

Earnings from continuing operatio 19t % 25¢ % 2.1¢

Earnings from discontinued operatic 0.4€ 0.17 0.0¢
Total 244 % 272 $ 2.2¢
Diluted earnings per shar

Earnings from continuing operatio 198 % 25z % 2.1

Earnings from discontinued operatic 0.4t 0.17 0.0¢
Total 24C % 26 % 2.21
Dividends per shar 03 3 03z $ 0.32
Weighted average shares outstand

Basic 46,74 46,37 45,82

Diluted 47,41 47,01 46,32:

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

For the years ended December

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands

Net earningt $ 113,84: $ 126,38¢ $ 102,18l
Other comprehensive incor

Foreign currency translation, net of & 25,95¢ (18,479 31,58

Pension and postretirement adjustments, net dftax (16,33)) (43,840 (14,79))

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of 9,62: (62,319 16,79:
Comprehensive incon $ 123,460 $ 64,07 $ 118,97.

(1) The tax benefit (expense) included in other pghensive income for foreign currency transladdjustments for 2012, 2011, and 2010
were $0.7 million, $(2.6) million, and $2.9 milliprespectively

(2) The tax benefit (expense) included in other pghensive income for pension and postretiremgansadents for 2012, 2011, and 2010
were $9.1 million, $26.7 million, and $6.0 milliorespectively

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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C ONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,

2012 2011
(In thousands, except share da
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 112,020 % 194,38
Receivables, n¢ 578,31: 543,00
Inventories, ne 397,47 313,04!
Deferred tax assets, r 50,76( 54,27¢
Other current asse 37,19¢ 45,95¢
Total current asse 1,175,76. 1,150,67
Property, plant, and equipment, | 489,59: 442,72¢
Goodwill 1,013,30! 759,44,
Other intangible assets, r 419,02: 261,44t
Deferred tax assets, r 1,70¢ 12,13%
Other asset 15,20¢ 9,121
Total asset $ 3,11458 $ 2,635,554
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Current portion of lon-term and sho-term debt $ 128,22! % 2,502
Accounts payabl 157,82! 150,28:
Accrued expense 131,06 105,19¢
Income taxes payab 7,79: 4,161
Deferred revenu 171,62 206,06:
Other current liabilitie: 43,21« 43,957
Total current liabilities 639,74¢ 512,15t
Long-term debt 751,99( 583,92¢
Deferred tax liabilities, ne 50,45( 24,98(
Accrued pension and other postretirement benefits 264,04 232,79:
Long-term portion of environmental resen 14,90¢ 19,067
Other liabilities 80,85¢ 57,64¢
Total liabilities 1,801,991 1,430,57;

Contingencies and Commitments (Note 14, 17, 19,240

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value,100,000,000 shares azgdoat December 31, 2012 and 2011;
49,189,702 and 48,878,448 shares issued at Dec&hp2012 and 2011, respectively; outstanding

shares were 46,449,934 at December 31,2012 an844828 at December 31, 20: 49,19( 48,87¢
Additional paid in capita 151,88: 143,19.
Retained earning 1,261,37 1,163,92!
Accumulated other comprehensive i (55,509 (65,13))
1,406,94 1,290,86!

Less: Common treasury stock, at cost (2,739,76&st&t December 31, 2012 and 2,393,725 sha
December 31, 201 (94,350 (85,89()
Total stockholder equity 1,312,59. 1,204,97!
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 3,11458 % 2,635,54

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 3.

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $ 113,84« % 126,38¢ % 102,18l
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic 93,89¢ 88,30( 79,94¢
(Gain) loss on fixed asset dispos (4149 (670) 1,44¢
Gain on bargain purcha (910 — —
Gain on divestitur: (29,919 (1,29¢) —
Deferred income taxe (3,87)) 3,34¢ 2,82¢
Shar-based compensatic 9,42¢ 9,621 13,37¢
Impairment of asse 4,98¢ — —
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbtisfnesses acquired and
disposed of
Accounts receivable, n 26,524 (78,85() (53,979
Inventories, ne (30,100 (21,127 11,40:
Progress paymen (7,929 11,26¢ 6,49:
Accounts payable and accrued expel (7,290 15,62¢ 9,92t
Deferred revenu (34,436 51,72« (20,739
Income taxe: 15,21: 3,917 (1,127
Net pension and postretirement liabilit (1,139 (4,239 24,52¢
Other current and loi-term assets and liabilitie 4,571 (2,160 (4,79))
Net cash provided by operating activit 152,47: 201,85: 171,49¢
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and disposals of-lived asset: 2,551 2,49 744
Proceeds from divestitur 52,12: 8,10( —
Acquisitions of intangible asse (1,769 (22 (1,60¢)
Additions to property, plant, and equipm: (82,959 (84,32) (52,769
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acqu (460,439 (178,08() (42,200
Additional consideration paid on prior year accigsis (2,529 — —
Net cash used for investing activiti (492,999 (251,82) (95,839
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings of deb 576,93: 1,302,601 513,10
Principal payments on de (296,145 (1,112,81) (581,77)
Repurchases of company stc (25,705 (8,17¢) —
Proceeds from she-based compensation pla 15,49: 11,74¢ 10,56(
Dividends paic (16,397 (14,897 (14,729
Excess tax benefits from sh-based compensatic 57 1,34: 98t
Net cash provided by (used for) financing actig 254,24 179,80« (71,85%
Effect of exchanc-rate changes on ca 3,91¢ (3,567) (702)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (82,369 126,26¢ 3,10¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 194,38 68,11¢ 65,01(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 112,02  $ 19438 % 68,11¢
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash activities
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet $ 1,47¢ % 3,600 $ 2,45¢
Recognition of asset retirement obligat $ 6,90 $ — 3 —

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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C ONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS * EQUITY

(In thousands)

Accumulated

Other
Additional Comprehensiv
Common Paid Retained

Stock in Capital Earnings Income (Loss Treasury Stoc

January 1, 201G $ 4821 $ 111,700 $ 964,97¢ $ (19,605 $ (94,149
Net earning: — — 102,18( — —
Other comprehensive income, net of — — — 16,79: —
Dividends paic — — (14,729 — —
Stock options exercised, net of 1 344 6,931 — — 4,02¢
Other — (319 — — 31¢
Sharebased compensatic — 11,76¢ — — 1,61C
December 31, 201 $ 48,55¢ $ 130,097 $ 1,052,420 $ 2,81y % (88,199
Net earning: — — 126,38¢ — —
Other comprehensive income, net of — — — (62,319 —
Dividends paic — — (14,897 — —
Stock options exercised, net of 1 321 5,312 — 8,64¢
Other — (259) — — 25¢
Shar+-based compensatic — 8,04¢ — — 1,57¢
Repurchase of common sta — — — (8,17¢)
December 31, 201. $ 48,87¢ $ 143,190 $ 1,163,920 $ (65,13) $ (85,890
Net earnings — — 113,84 — —
Other comprehensive income, net of — — — 9,62: —
Dividends paic — — (16,397 — —
Stock options exercised, net of 1 311 6,431 — — 10,071
Restricted stoc — (6,239 — — 6,23:
Other — (414 — — 414
Shar+-based compensatic — 8,901 — — 521
Repurchase of common stc — — — — (25,709
December 31, 201 $ 49,19C $ 15188 $ 126137 $ (55,509 $ (94,35()
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N OTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

CurtissWright Corporation and its subsidiaries (the Cogpion or the Company) is a diversified multinatibn@anufacturing and servi
company that designs, manufactures, and overhaedssjipn components and systems and provides higidyneered products and service
the aerospace, defense, automotive, shipbuildiragessing, oil, petrochemical, agricultural equipieailroad, power generation, secu
and metalworking industries.

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of the Corporation and its majorityned subsidiaries. All intercompany transact
and accounts have been eliminated.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havenlyepared in conformity with accounting princgptgenerally accepted in the United St
of America (U.S. GAAP), which requires managementriake estimates and judgments that affect thertegb@mount of assets, liabiliti
revenue, and expenses and disclosure of contiragsets and liabilities in the accompanying findrst@ements. The most significant of tr
estimates includes the estimate of costs to compdeiy-term contracts under the percentageeafpletion accounting methods, the estima
useful lives for property, plant, and equipmensicliow estimates used for testing the recoveitghili assets, pension plan and postretire
obligation assumptions, estimates for inventoryotdscence, estimates for the valuation and usiefs lof intangible assets, warranty resel
legal reserves, and the estimate of future envieoai costs. Actual results may differ from thesgneates.

C. Revenue Recoghnition

The realization of revenue refers to the timingitefrecognition in the accounts of the Corporatéord is generally considered realize
realizable and earned when the earnings processhigantially complete and all of the followingteria are met: 1) persuasive evidence ¢
arrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurred aricges have been rendered; 3) the Corporati@nice to its customer is fixed or determing
and 4) collectability is reasonably assured.

The Corporation records sales and related profitproduction and service type contracts as unésshipped and title and risk of loss h
transferred or as services are rendered, netiofigst returns and allowances. Sales and estinpatdids under certain lonterm contracts a
recognized primarily under the units-of-delivery oost-to-cost percentage-of-completion methods amoanting. Under the cost-tiss
percentage-otompletion method of accounting, profits are reedrgbro rata, based upon current estimates of daedtindirect costs
complete such contracts. Under the unitsielivery method of accounting, revenue is recoghiae units are delivered to the custome
addition, the Corporation also records sales umggtain longterm government fixed price contracts upon achienof performanc
milestones as specified in the related contradimn@es in estimates of contract sales, costs, efiispare recognized using the cumula
catchup method of accounting. This method recognizebéncurrent period the cumulative effect of therges on current and prior peric
The effect of the changes on future periods of reattperformance is recognized as if the reviseinate had been the original estimate
significant change in an estimate on one or mordraots could have a material effect on the Corpmres consolidated financial positic
results of operations, or cash flows. In 2012, @weporation incurred unanticipated additional cadt$23.7 million on its londerm contrac
with Westinghouse for disassembly, inspection, anebaration for shipment costs related to the oceacbolant pumps (RCPs) that
Corporation is supplying for the AP1000 nuclear powlants in China. In addition, the Corporationoreled a cumulative catch up benefi
$14.2 million related to a change in estimate sntéchnology transfer contract on the AP1000 nugkeagram. In 2011, the Corporat
incurred unanticipated additional costs to addeesscalized heating issue in the RCPs. The additicnsts increased the estimated cos
completion which decreased consolidated operatiegme by $9.7 million. In 2010, the Corporationurred various changes in its ¢
estimates for the AP1000 nuclear power plants whetreased operating income by $11.4 million. Thegee no other individual significe
changes in estimated contract costs at completion.

Losses on contracts are provided for in the peinoghich the losses become determinable and thessxof billings over cost and estime
earnings on long-term contracts is included in deférevenue.

55




D. Cash and Cash Equivalent:

Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscantmercial paper that are readily convertible icash, all with original maturity dates
three months or less.

E. Inventory

Inventories are stated at lower of production ¢psincipally average cost) or market. Productiostscare comprised of direct material
labor and applicable manufacturing overhead.

F. Progress Payments

Certain longterm contracts provide for interim billings as ostre incurred on the respective contracts. Putstaagontract provision
agencies of the U.S. Government and other custoarergranted title or a secured interest for malterand work-improcess included
inventory to the extent progress payments arevedeiAccordingly, these receipts have been repasea reduction of unbilled receivables
inventories, as presented in Notes 5 and 6 to dns@idated Financial Statements.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried at é=st accumulated depreciation. Major renewals agitetments are capitalized, wt
maintenance and repairs that do not improve omelxtiee life of the asset are expensed in the pé¢hied are incurred. Depreciation is compi
using the straight-line method based upon the astidhuseful lives of the respective assets.

Average useful lives for property, plant, and equént are as follows:

Buildings and improvemen 5 to 40 year:
Machinery, equipment, and otk 3 to 15 year:

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of aitipris and consist primarily of purchased techgg)@ustomer related intangibles, tradem
and service marks, and technology licenses. Defilied intangible assets are amortized on a $trdiige basis over their estimated us
lives, which range from 1 to 20 years, while ind@é lived intangible assets are not amortizedefimite lived intangible assets are revie
for impairment annually based on the discountedr&utash flows. See Note 9 to the ConsolidatedrgiahStatements for further informat
on other intangible assets.

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of aindidived assets, including the related useful livedhemever events or changes
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouna dbnglived asset might not be recoverable. If requirde, Corporation compares
estimated fair value determined by either the wulisted future net cash flows or appraised valuthéorelated assst'carrying value
determine whether there has been an impairmean #sset is considered impaired, the asset isswiitbwn to fair value, which is based ei
on discounted cash flows or appraised values ipénmod the impairment becomes known. In 2012 Gbeporation recognized an impairm
of $5.0 million in connection with its 2012 resttudng plan, a component of which was exiting dlfigc In 2011, the Corporation recogniz
a $0.2 million impairment related to one facilithere it was determined that the carrying value eded the estimated fair value. In 2010,
Corporation recognized a $1.5 million impairmenated to two facilities where it was determinedtttigeir carrying value exceeded tt
estimated fair value.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thepgooation accounts for business acquisitions bycaling the purchase price to the tang
and intangible assets acquired and liabilities mesl Assets acquired and liabilities assumed a@rded at their fair values, and the exce:
the purchase price over the amounts allocateccirded as goodwill. The recoverability of goodvislisubject to an annual impairment tes
whenever an event occurs or circumstances chaagevtuld more likely than not result in an impaimhelhe impairment test is based on
estimated fair value of the underlying busines$ée Corporatiors goodwill impairment test is performed as of OetoB1 of each year. £
Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statementfuidher information on goodwil
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K. Pre-Contract Costs

The Corporation, from time to time, incurs costbégin fulfilling the statement of work under a sifie anticipated contract that has yet tc

obtained from a customer. If it is determined tthat recoveries of these costs are probable, the wdl be capitalized, excluding any stant-
costs which are expensed as incurred. When cireummoss change and the contract is no longer deemédlge, the capitalized costs will

recognized in earnings. There were no costs writiférin 2012, 2011, and 2010. Capitalized pomtract costs were $3.0 million and

million at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectively

L. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Accounting guidance requires certain disclosurganging the fair value of financial instruments.eDio the short maturities of cash and «
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payalolé,accrued expenses, the net book value of tiiresecial instruments is deemed
approximate fair value. See Notes 10 and 14 t&tiresolidated Financial Statements for further imfation.

M. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentrgneg for commercial products and independent rekeamd development and bid
proposal work related to government contracts. greent costs include engineering and field suppfortnew customer requiremer
Corporation-sponsored research and developmerd assexpensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated witbhncessponsored programs are capitalized to inventory aredrecorded in cost of sé
when products are delivered or services perforradds received under shared development contrexts i@duction of the total developn
expenditures under the shared contract and arershetias research and development costs.

N. Environmental Costs

The Corporation establishes a reserve for a pateativironmental remediation liability on a site bige basis when it concludes th:
determination of legal liability is probable andetAmount of the liability can be reasonably estdabased on current law and exis
technologies. Such amounts, if quantifiable, reéftee Corporatiors estimate of the amount of that liability. If ordyrange of potential liabili
can be estimated and no amount within the rangeoi® probable than another, a reserve will be éskeddl at the low end of that range.
sites involving multiple parties, the Corporatioccaues environmental liabilities based upon itseetgd share of the liability, taking i
account the financial viability of other jointlyalble partners. Such reserves are adjusted as mssgsand remediation efforts progress ¢
additional information becomes available. Approxieta 26% of the Corporatios’environmental reserves as of December 31, 2@peeser
the current value of anticipated remediation castd are not discounted primarily due to the unassteof timing of expenditures. T
remaining environmental reserves are discounteceflect the time value of money since the amoumt aming of cash payments for 1
liability are reliably determinable. All environmiah reserves exclude any potential recovery frosuiiance carriers or thingarty legal action
See Note 17 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfendditional information.

0. Accounting for Share-Based Payments

The Corporation follows the fair value based metbbdccounting for shareased employee compensation, which requires thpoCation t
expense all share-based employee compensatiore-8ased employee compensation is primarily a casih expense since the Corpore
settles these obligations by issuing the shar€udiss-Wright Corporation instead of settling swttigations with cash payments.

Compensation expense for all non-qualified shat@ng, performance shares, performance-basedatestishares, timbased restricted stor
and performanceased restricted stock units is recognized on degirachedule over the requisite service periodhferentire award based
the grant date fair value.

P. Earnings Per Share

The Corporation is required to report both basimiegs per share (EPS), based on the weightedage number of Common sh:
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, baiséde basic EPS adjusted for all potentially diishares issuable. The calculation of EF
disclosed in Note 15 to the Consolidated Finarfstatements.
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Q. Income Taxes

The Corporation accounts for income taxes usingaset and liability method. Under the asset aathiliiy method, deferred tax assets
liabilities are recognized for future tax consequesnattributable to differences between the firdmnsiatement carrying amounts of exis
assets and liabilities and their respective taxe®a$he effect on deferred tax assets and liadslitif a change in tax laws is recognized ir
results of operations in the period the new lavesaaracted. A valuation allowance is recorded taicedhe carrying amounts of deferred
assets unless it is more likely than not that sasdets will be realized.

The Corporation records amounts related to unceitgiome tax positions by 1) prescribing a minimrgoognition threshold a tax positior
required to meet before being recognized in tharfimal statements and 2) the measurement of tloenedax benefits recognized from s
positions. The Corporatios’accounting policy is to classify uncertain incotae positions that are not expected to be resalveshe year as
non-current income tax liability and to classify intsteand penalties as a component of Interest expandeGeneral and administrai
expenses, respectively. See Note 13 to the ComsetidFinancial Statements for further information.

R. Foreign Currency

For operations outside the United States of Amettiedh prepare financial statements in currenciasrathan the U.S. dollar, the Corpora
translates assets and liabilities at period-ench&xge rates and income statement amounts usindtedigverage exchange rates for
period. The cumulative effect of translation adjusits is presented as a component of accumulatet obmprehensive income wit
stockholdersequity. This balance is affected by foreign curgeexchange rate fluctuations and by the acquisiioioreign entities. Gains a
(losses) from foreign currency transactions artughed in General and administrative expenses witigrresults of operations, which amoui
to $(2.3) million, $(0.8) million, and $(4.2) mitin for the years ended December 31, 2012, 20112@1@, respectively.

S. Derivatives
Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Conts:

The Corporation uses financial instruments, suctoasard exchange and currency option contractshedge a portion of existing &
anticipated foreign currency denominated transastidhe purpose of the Corporatistibreign currency risk management program is doice
volatility in earnings caused by exchange ratetflatons. All of the derivative financial instrunterare recorded at fair value based
qguoted market prices for comparable instrumentth thie gain or loss on these transactions recardecearnings in the period in which tt
occur. These gains and (losses) are classifiedeagr@l and administrative expenses in the Congelidatatements of Earnings and amou
to $0.9 million, $(0.7) million, and $3.1 milliorof the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and Bédkectively. The Corporation does
use derivative financial instruments for tradingspeculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risks and Related Strate

The Corporation’s primary interest rate exposusgiite from changes in U.S. dollar interest ratde Torporatiors policy is to manage inter
cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate delite Torporation periodically uses interest rate saapmanage such exposures. Under
interest rate swaps, the Corporation exchangespetified intervals, the difference between fixad #oating interest amounts calculatec
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal arhou

For interest rate swaps designated as fair valdgde(i.e., hedges against the exposure to chamgjes fair value of an asset or a liability ol
identified portion thereof that is attributable dgparticular risk), changes in the fair value o thterest rate swaps offset changes in th
value of the fixed rate debt due to changes in gtdriterest rates.
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T. Recently Issued Accounting Standard
Adoption of New Standar

Fair Value Measurement: Amendments to Achieve Contrat Value Measurement and Disclosure RequiremantJnited States of Amer
generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GRARI International Financial Reporting StandardBRS)

In May 2011, new guidance was issued that amerasuirent fair value measurement and disclosurdagugie to increase transparency art
valuation inputs and investment categorization. e guidance does not extend the use of fair vatweunting, but provides guidance
how it should be applied where its use is alreatyuired or permitted by other standards within WGBAP or IFRS. The new guidance
effective for annual and interim reporting perideégyinning on or after December 15, 2011 and isstadopted prospectively as early adoy
is not permitted. The adoption of this guidancerthtlhave an impact on the Corporation’s resultspafrations or financial condition.

Other Comprehensive Income: Presentation of Congrellre Income

In June 2011, new guidance was issued that amémdsurrent comprehensive income guidance. The nddagce allows the option
presenting the total of comprehensive income, tmaponents of net income, and the components of atbraprehensive income either i
single or continuous statement of comprehensivenreor in two separate but consecutive statem&hts.amendments in this update do
change the items that must be reported in otheiposinensive income or when an item of other compraikie income must be reclassifiet
net income. The new guidance is to be applied spactively and is effective for fiscal years, anté&iim periods, beginning after Decembet
2011. In December 2011, the Financial Accountiren8ards Board (FASB) issued authoritative guidaoncdefer the effective date for the
aspects of the guidance relating to the presentafioeclassification adjustments out of accumulatther comprehensive income. The adoy
of this new guidance did not have an impact onGbeporations consolidated financial position, results of ofieres or cash flows as it or
requires a change in the format of the currentepriedion of other comprehensive income.

Intangible—Goodwill and Other: Testing Goodwill for Impairmen

In September 2011, new guidance was issued thahdsrihe current testing requirements of goodwitl ifapairment purposes. The n
guidance gives companies the option to performaditative assessment to first assess whether thedhe of a reporting unit is less thar
carrying amount. If an entity determines it is maire likely than not that the fair value of theagpg unit is less than its carrying amount, 1
performing the twastep impairment test is unnecessary. The new go@@nto be applied prospectively effective for wainand interir
goodwill impairment tests beginning after Decemb®y 2011, with early adoption permitted. The admptof this standard did not have
impact on the Corporation’s results of operationBrancial condition.

Standards Issued But Not Yet Effective

In February 2013, new guidance was issued that dsntfve current comprehensive income guidance. Ee guidance requires entities
disclose the effect of each item that was recli&skih its entirety out of accumulated other conhresive income and into net income on «
affected net income line item. For reclassificatitems that are not reclassified in their entirgtio net income a cross reference to c
required disclosures is required. The adoptiorhef hew guidance is to be applied prospectively, fam annual reporting periods beginn
after December 15, 2012 and interim periods withise years. The adoption of this new guidancensillhave an impact on the Corporat®on’
consolidated financial position, results of operasi or cash flows.
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2. CORRECTION OF PRIOR PERIOD ERROR

During the third quarter of 2012, as part of a nkaeorganization, the Corporation identified esreglated to its longerm contract accountil
practices within a certain subsidiary in its Cotgreegment. The errors date back to periods poiand including 2007 through 2011
primarily relate to the untimely liquidation of ¢ain laborbased inventory costs to Cost of sales resultingniroverstatement of Retait
earnings of $23 million at December 31, 2011. Iditoh, other errors primarily related to incorrexpitalization of fixed assets were ¢
identified. The combined errors resulted in a cuatiué overstatement in Retained earnings of $2#amikt December 31, 2011 and prima
impacted Net sales, Cost of sales, and the bakrest accounts identified in the table below.

In accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codifon No. 250-10-S99 (ASC 250-B39), the Corporation evaluated these errors
based on an analysis of quantitative and qualéatactors, determined that they were not mateoiarty one of the prior reporting perit
affected and, therefore, amendment of previousdy freports with the Securities and Exchange Cowionsis not required. However, if 1
adjustments to correct the cumulative effect ofafrementioned errors had been recorded in thegmded December 31, 2012, the im
would have been material to that period. Thereforegccordance with Staff Accounting Bulletin 1@Be Corporation has restated the
period financial statements included within thigyfj as summarized below.

The corrections as well as the retrospective rsiflaations for the discontinued operations of teat treating business, as discussed in N
to the Corporatiors Consolidated Statements of Earnings and Consetidatatements of Comprehensive Income for the geaed Decemb
31, 2011 and 2010, are presented as follows:

For the year ended December 31, 2011:

(In thousands)
Adjustments

Reclassification ¢
As previously

discontinued As reclassifiec
reportec Corrections operations and restate
Net sales $ 2,054,131 $ 878 $ (36,51) $ 2,016,74
Cost of sale: 1,378,01, 4,70¢ (22,92%) 1,359,79!
Gross profi 676,11¢ (5,586 (13,58 656,94
Operating incom: 204,95t¢ (5,586 (12,51¢) 186,85:
Earnings from continuing operations before incomes 184,98 (5,58¢) (12,52) 166,88
Provision for income taxe 54,56¢ (1,552 (4,757) 48,26:
Earnings from continuing operatio 130,42: (4,039 (7,769 118,62(
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 7,76¢ 7,76¢
Net earning: 130,42: (4,039 — 126,38
Basic earnings per shar¢
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 281 $ 0.09 $ 017 $ 2.5¢€
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 0.17 0.1%
Total $ 281 % 0.09 $ — 3 2.7¢
Diluted earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 271 $ 0.09 % 0179 % 2.52
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 0.17 0.17
Total $ 271 $ 0.09 $ —  $ 2.6¢

* May not add due to roundir

60



For the year ended December 31, 2010:

(In thousands)
Adjustments

Reclassificatio

of
As previously discontinued As reclassified
reportec Corrections operations and restate
Net sales $ 189313 $ (7,449 % (31,179 $ 1,854,51.
Cost of sale: 1,271,38 (1,206 (21,929 1,248,24
Gross profit 621,75: (6,237) (9,25)) 606,26!
Operating incom: 179,82: (6,237) (6,90 166,68!
Earnings from continuing operations before incomes$ 158,29! (6,237) (6,905 145,15:
Provision for income taxe 51,69 (1,819 (2,609 47,26¢
Earnings from continuing operatio 106,59¢ (4,41%) (4,296 97,88¢
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 4,29¢ 4,29¢
Net earning: 106,59¢ (4,41%) — 102,18
Basic earnings per she
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 23: % 0100 $ 0.09 $ 2.14
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Total $ 23t % 010 $ — % 2.2¢
Diluted earnings per sha
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 23C % (0.09 $ (0.09 $ 2.1z
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 0.0¢ 0.0¢
Total $ 23C % 0.09 $ — % 2.21

In order to correct the cumulative impact of thees on periods prior to January 1, 2010, the Catan recorded an adjustment of $16 mil
to decrease December 31, 2009 Retained earnings#@@1 million to $965 million. The correction résd in a decrease in 2010 Net earn
of $4 million, which resulted in a cumulative adjuent to 2010 Retained earnings from $1,072 miltmf21,052 million. In order to correct
impact on Comprehensive income for the years eridecember 31, 2011 and 2010 the Corporation recoeteddjustment to decrei
Comprehensive income from $68 million to $64 miiliand from $124 million to $119 million, respective
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The corrections to the Corporation’s December 8112Consolidated Balance Sheet are presented foltbeing table:

Consolidated Balance She
Receivables, ne
Inventories, ne
Other current asse
Total current asse

Property, plant, and equipment, |
Total asset

Deferred revenu
Other current liabilitie:
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Retained earning

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The correction of the errors to the Corporat®@onsolidated Statement of Cash flows for the geded December 31, 2011 and 2010 di
impact the net increase or decrease in cash amdecgsvalents for any period. The corrections ® @orporatiors Consolidated Statement

Cash Flows are presented in the following tables:

For the year ended December 31, 2011:

Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by
operating activities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbusinesses
acquired:
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Deferred revenu
Other current and loi-term assets and liabiliti¢

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property, plant, and equipm:

Net cash used for investing activiti

As previously

(In thousands

reported Corrections As restate(
$ 556,02t % (13,01 % 543,00¢
320,63 (7,589 313,04!
41,81: 4,14: 45,95t
1,167,13. (16,467) 1,150,67.
443,55! (827) 442,72¢
2,652,83 (17,290 2,635,54
200,26¢ 5,79: 206,06:
42,97¢ 981 43,95
505,38« 6,77¢ 512,15¢
1,423,79i 6,77¢ 1,430,57
1,187,98 (24,069 1,163,92!
1,229,03! (24,069 1,204,97!
2,652,83 (17,290 2,635,54

As previously

(In thousandy)

reported Corrections As restate(

$ 130,420 $ (4,03) % 126,38
(86,000 7,15( (78,85()
(23,429 2,30¢ (21,129
53,49¢ (1,779 51,72«

1,997 (4,157) (2,160

202,36: (509) 201,85!
(84,83)) 50¢ (84,32)
(252,330 50¢ (251,82)
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For the year ended December 31, 2010:

(In thousands

As
previously
reportec Corrections As restatec
Net earnings $ 106,59¢ $ (4,419 $ 102,18(
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by operating
activities:
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbusinesses acquire
Accounts receivable, n (60,209 6,22¢ (53,979
Inventories, ne 10,64( 761 11,40:
Deferred revenu (20,919 17¢ (20,739
Other current and loi-term assets and liabilitie (1,829 (2,962 (4,79))
Net cash provided by operating activit 171,71( (217) 171,49¢
Cash flows from investing activitie
Additions to property, plant, and equipm: (52,98() 211 (52,769
Net cash used for investing activiti (96,04¢) 211 (95,839

3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

Heat Treating Business

On March 30, 2012, the Corporation sold the asanth real estate of its heat treating business, twhad been reported in the Sur
Technologies segment, to Bodycote plc for $52 milliThe heat treating businesglerating results are included in discontinued afpens ir
the Corporation’s Consolidated Statement of Eamfiog all periods presented.

Components of earnings from discontinued operatwasas follows for the year ended December 31.:

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Net sales $ 10,78 % 36,51 $ 31,17¢
Earnings from discontinued operations before inctemes 4,92¢ 12,52: 6,90¢
Provision for income taxe (1,88¢) (4,7572) (2,609
Gain on divestiture, net of taxes of $11, 18,51: — —
Earnings from discontinued operatic $ 2155 % 7,76¢ $ 4,29¢

Legacy Distribution Business

On July 29, 2011, the Corporation sold the assethenlegacy distribution business within the FI@w@ntrol segment to McJunkin Red M
Corporation for $4.6 million in cash, including adjustment based on closing inventory values. Wigrliapital, exclusive of inventory, w
retained by the Corporation. The determination masle to divest the business as it was not consideo®re business of the Corporation.
disposal resulted in a loss of less than $0.1 onilland was not reported as a discontinued operasothe amounts are not consid
significant. The business contributed $13.7 milliorsales and a pretax loss of $0.3 million foryear ended December 31, 2010.

Hydro-pneumatic (Hydrop) product line

On September 29, 2011, the Corporation sold thetas$ the Hydrop suspension business, within theti@ls segment, to Stromsholmen Al
subsidiary of the Barnes Group for CHF 3.1 milli¢$8.5 million) in cash. Trade accounts receivahiel @ayable were retained by
Corporation. The determination was made to diviestlusiness as it was not considered a core basofethe Corporation. The dispc
resulted in a $1.3 million priax gain and was not reported as discontinued tipasaas the amounts are not considered signifiCEimiE
business contributed $0.8 million in sales forykar ended December 31, 2010.
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4. ACQUISITIONS

The Corporation continually evaluates potentiallégitions that either strategically fit within tl@@orporations existing portfolio or expand t
Corporation$ portfolio into new product lines or adjacent nesk The Corporation has completed a number ofisitigns that have be
accounted for as business combinations and haute@sn the recognition of goodwill in the Corptica’s financial statements. This good
arises because the purchase prices for these bssmeeflect the future earnings and cash flownpiaien excess of the earnings and cash f
attributable to the current product and customeasthe time of acquisition. Thus, goodwill inhetlg includes the knovirow of the assembl
workforce, the ability of the workforce to furthienprove the technology and product offerings, dreléxpected cash flows resulting from tt
efforts. Goodwill may also include expected synesgresulting from the complementary strategic Higse businesses bring to exis
operations.

In 2012, the Corporation acquired eight busine$sesin aggregate purchase price of $460 milliort, ofecash acquired, all of which
described in more detail below. In 2011, the Caaion acquired eight businesses and in 2010 thpdatation acquired two businesses, fo
aggregate purchase of $178 million and $40 millrespectively, all of which are described in moetadl below.

The amounts of net sales and net loss includederCorporatiors consolidated statement of earnings from the atopn date to the peri
ended December 31, 2012 are $21 million and $5anjlrespectively.

The Corporation allocates the purchase price at#te of acquisition based upon its understandirtgeofair value of the acquired assets
assumed liabilities. In the months after closing tlee Corporation obtains additional informatioroatbthese assets and liabilities, incluc
through tangible and intangible asset appraisald,as the Corporation learns more about the needyieed business, it is able to refine
estimates of fair value and more accurately allvdhe purchase price. Only items identified ashef acquisition date are considered
subsequent adjustment. The Corporation will makpra@piate adjustments to the purchase price allmtaprior to completion of tt
measurement period, as required.

The following table summarizes the estimated failugs of the assets acquired and liabilities asduatethe date of acquisition for
acquisitions consummated during 2012, 2011, an@®:201

(in thousands 2012 2011 2010
Accounts receivabl $ 5447: % 19,07¢ % 3,95¢
Inventory 52,21t 23,81 3,052
Property, plant, and equipme 40,63( 22,52¢ 22t
Other current asse 6,02¢ 1,18 93
Intangible asset 183,48: 53,71% 14,79:
Current and nc-current liabilities (45,28¢) (13,510 (3,67))
Pension and postretirement bene (8,149 — —
Deferred income taxe (52,010 — (4,542
Debt assume (13,819 — —
Holdback — (1,05)) —
Due to selle (4,087) (4,309 —
Net tangible and intangible ass 213,48 101,45:. 13,90¢
(Gain on Bargain Purchas (910 —

Purchase pric 460,43¢ 180,27 40,13¢
Goodwill $ 24786 $ 78,828 % 26,23¢
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Supplemental Pro Forma Statements of Operations Data (Unaudited)

The assets, liabilities and results of operatidnhe businesses acquired in 2011 and 2010 werenatgrial to the Corporatios’consolidate
financial position or results of operations, anerétiore pro forma financial information for suctsimess acquisitions is not presented.

The following table presents unaudited consolidgteal forma financial information for the combinedsults of the Corporation and
completed business acquisitions during the yeaeeémkecember 31, 2012 as if the acquisitions hadroed on January 1, 2011 for purpose
the financial information presented for the yeardesl December 31, 2012 and 2011.

(In thousands, except per share de 2012 2011

Net sales $ 2,408,11 $ 2,317,77
Net earnings from continuing operatic 103,10° 112,47¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operet 2.17 2.3¢

The unaudited pro forma consolidated results wegpared using the acquisition method of accourdimgjare based on the historical finar
information for a 12 month period. The unaudited forma consolidated results are not necessarilicétive of what our consolidated res
of operations actually would have been had we cetaglthe acquisition on January 1, 2011. In adduitive unaudited pro forma consolide
results do not purport to project the future ressoftoperations of the combined company nor do th#gct the expected realization of any
savings associated with the acquisition. The urtaddpro forma consolidated results reflect prinyatihe following pro forma préax
adjustments:

. Elimination of historical intangible asset amortiaa expense (approximately $2.4 milliol
. Additional amortization expense (approximately $1@illion) related to the fair value of identifiabintangible assets acquire
. Additional depreciation expense related to thevfalue adjustment to property, plant and equipraeqtiired

. Elimination of the fair value adjustments to acgigs-date inventory that has been sold in 2012, andgr@tion in 2011 of the fu
value of the fair value adjustment to acquisiti@aedinventory

. Elimination of $3.7 million of the Corporatios’'acquisition costs directly attributable to theusition, and which do not hav«
continuing impact on the combined operating resutisluded in these costs are advisory, investniemtking and legal al
regulatory costs incurred by the Corporation. TlepGration records acquisition costs in generaladministrative expense

. Elimination of historical interest expense (approately $6.2 million)

. Additional interest expense of $15.9 million asateil with the incremental borrowings that would énd»een incurred to acqu
these companies as of January 1, 2
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FLOW CONTROL
2012 Acquisitions
Cimarron Energy

On November 21, 2012, the Corporation acquired @omaEnergy, Inc. through the acquisition of 100%tlee membership interests
Cimarron Energy Holding Company, LLC, for a netlcasirchase price of $132.7 million. The PurchasesAment contains a purchase [
adjustment mechanism and representations and wiagaustomary for a transaction of this type, udahg a portion of the purchase pi
deposited into escrow as security for potentialemdification claims against the seller. Managemiemded the purchase from -
Corporation’s revolving credit facility.

Cimarron is a manufacturer of highly customized andineered energy production, processing and amwiental solutions for the U.S. oil ¢
gas industry. Cimarron has 368 employees and idcheatered in Norman, OK. Revenues of the acquiesiness were approximately ¢
million for the year ended 2011. The business @pkrate within the Oil and Gas Systems of the Qaiten’s Flow Control segment.

A.P. Services, LLC

On November 5, 2012, the Corporation acquired AR/i€es, LLC, through the acquisition of 100% of thembership interests of A
Holdco, LLC, the parent company of the operatingitgnfor a base cash purchase price of $30 milliime Purchase Agreement contains ¢
and postlosing purchase price adjustment mechanism, reguit an additional payment of $0.9 million at siteg for estimated workir
capital. The agreement also contains represensatind warranties customary for a transaction aftifpe, including a portion of the purch
price deposited into escrow as security for po&ritidemnification claims against the seller. Magragnt funded the purchase from
Corporation’s revolving credit facility.

A.P. Services is a supplier of fluid sealing tedbg@s and services to the nuclear and fossil pogemreration markets, with prov
performance in delivering solutions that improvarlreliability and safety and also reduce openatéind maintenance costs. A.P. Service!
84 employees and is based in Freeport, PA. Revesfué® acquired business were approximately $2Bomifor the year ended 2011. 1
business will operate within the Nuclear Grouphef €orporation’s Flow Control segment.

Other Flow Control

During 2012, the Corporation acquired three prodimets in two separate transactions for an aggeepatchase price of approximately
million. These product lines serve the commerciati@ar power market and consist of original equiptrend reengineered replacemi
products for obsolete equipment and product tedgyosupporting steam generators on nuclear readwrs of the acquisitions resulted in
recognition of a gain on bargain purchase of $0iliam, as the value of assets acquired of $1.dionilexceeded the purchase price of !
million. The Corporation will integrate these pratilines within the Nuclear Group of the Corporat®oFlow Control segment.
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The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeta#d to the net tangible and intangible asseajsied with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:

(In thousands AP Service: Cimarron Other Flow Total
Accounts receivabl $ 336 % 21,70¢ % — 3 25,07(
Inventory 2,38¢ 18,987 23€ 21,61:
Property, plant, and equipme 3,48¢ 8,222 — 11,71(C
Other current asse 204 61¢ — 822
Intangible asset 8,00( 55,00( 4,681 67,68
Current and nc-current liabilities (748 (21,439 — (22,187
Deferred income taxe (3,429 (17,85) — (21,27%)
Due to selle (297) (36€) (664) (1,329
Net tangible and intangible ass 12,97¢ 64,88 4,25¢ 82,11
(Gain on bargain purchas — — (910 (910
Purchase pric 30,88¢ 132,66! 6,62°¢ 170,17¢
Goodwill $ 1791C $ 67,78: 3 328: % 88,97t
Goodwill tax deductible Ye<d No Yes

(1) $13.3 million of the goodwill acquités tax deductible.
2011 Acquisitions
Anatec International, Inc. and Lambert, MacGill, Thomas, Inc. (LMT)

On December 2, 2011, the Corporation acquired $8eta of Anatec International, Inc, and LambertcGid, Thomas, Inc. (Anatec and LM
for $35.2 million in cash, including a purchasecpriadjustment of $1.2 million. The Asset PurchasgeAment contains custom
representations and warranties, including a pomibthe purchase price deposited into escrow agrisgdor potential indemnification clain
against the seller. Management funded the purdinasethe Corporation’s revolving credit facility.sfof December 31, 2012, all funds hel
escrow have been released to the seller with nmslautstanding.

Anatec and LMT perform testing and inspection smsifor commercial nuclear power plants to ensafety operational soundness,
compliance with regulatory codes. Anatec and LMT wperate within the Nuclear Group of the Corpamats Flow Control segment. Ana
and LMT have 50 fulime personnel and manage an additional season&farce of approximately 150 during nuclear plardimtenanc
outages. Anatec and LMT are headquartered in Sam&2ite, CA, with four additional facilities to suppnuclear plant operations in the U
Revenues of the acquired business were approxiyr®2€l million for the year ended 2010.

Douglas Equipment Ltd.

On April 6, 2011, the Corporation acquired the agdets of Douglas Equipment Ltd. (Douglas) fb2.8 million ($20.1 million) in cash. T
Business Transfer Agreement contains customareseptations and warranties, including a portiothefpurchase price deposited into est
as security for potential indemnification claimsaapt the seller. Management funded the purchase the Corporatios revolving cred
facility.

Douglas designs and manufactures aircraft handiysgems for the defense and commercial aerospadeet®and will operate within t
Marine & Power Products division of the Corporat®flow Control segment. Douglas has approximat8y dmployees and is headquart
in Cheltenham, U.K. Revenues of the acquired bssimeere approximately $28 million for the year eh@810.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeta#d to the net tangible and intangible asseajsied with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:
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(In thousands Anatec Douglas Total

Accounts receivabl $ 468t $ 94t % 5,63(
Inventory — 10,91 10,91«
Property, plant, and equipme 1,581 61¢ 2,20(
Other current asse 18t 30¢ 494
Intangible asset 14,93¢ 6,691 21,63:
Current liabilities (81¢) (5,03¢) (5,85¢€)
Net tangible and intangible ass 20,56¢ 14,44¢ 35,01¢
Purchase pric 35,20: 20,09¢ 55,29¢
Goodwill $ 14,63: $ 564¢ $ 20,28(
Goodwill tax deductible Yes Yes

CONTROLS

2012 Acquisitions

Exlar Corporation

On December 28, 2012, the Corporation acquirethalloutstanding shares of Exlar Corporation for.$84illion, net of cash acquired. 1
Stock Purchase Agreement contains a purchase gjostment mechanism and representations and wieagaustomary for a transactior
this type, including a portion of the purchase @raeposited into escrow as security for potentidemnification claims against the sel
Management funded the purchase from the Corporatiemolving credit facility.

Exlar is a provider of motion control solutionsesfiically electric actuators, to industlgading customers in a variety of end markets hiolg
factory automation, food process/packaging andggnprocess, and military applications. Exlar empldB3 people and is headquartere
Chanhassen, Minnesota, with a sales and servi@ afear Frankfurt, Germany. Revenues of the aeduiusiness were approximately $:
million in 2011. The business will operate withiretintegrated Sensing division of the Corporati€@@mtrols segment.

PG Drives Technology

On November 1, 2012, the Corporation acquired #teassets of PG Drives Technology, a businessafirpirent plc, for $63.2 million
cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement contains custorepresentations and warranties. Management @urthe purchase from t
Corporation’s revolving credit facility and availalzash on hand in foreign locations.

PG Drives Technology is a designer and manufactfréighly engineered controllers and drives used wide variety of advanced electric:
powered industrial and medical vehicles. PG Dritias 186 employees and operates principally fronesigd and manufacturing site
Christchurch, UK, with additional sales and techhisupport offices in the U.S., Taiwan, China, Hdfong, South Korea, and Austra
Revenues of the acquired business were approxin&&8.0 million in 2011. The business will operatéhin the Avionics & Industrie
division of the Corporation’s Controls segment.

Williams Controls

On October 31, 2012, the Corporation entered indefaitive merger agreement to acquire Williams€ols in a cash tender offer of $15
per share. Total cash consideration for the shareliding the value of restricted stock and stopkions, was approximately $110.4 milli
net of cash acquired of $10.2 million. The Corporatalso assumed $13.8 million in bank debt. Mans@ funded the purchase from
Corporation’s revolving credit facility.

Williams Controls is a designer and manufacturenighly engineered electronic sensors and eleatrimottle controls for offoad equipmer
heavy trucks, and military vehicles. Williams emya94 people and operates principally from themdguarters in Portland, Oregon, \
additional production facilities in China and IndRevenues of the acquired business were approxiyn®®4.4 million for their last fiscal ye
ending September 30, 2012. The business will opavihin the Avionics & Industrial division of th@orporation’s Controls segment.
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The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeta#d to the net tangible and intangible asseajsied with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:

Williams

(In thousands PG Drives Controls Exlar Total
Accounts receivabl $ 759 $ 10,38: % 585 % 23,83
Inventory 10,54: 10,43¢ 8,03¢ 29,01«
Property, plant, and equipme 1,58¢ 16,137 4,17 21,90:
Other current asse 22( 4,552 43t 5,207
Intangible assel 25,20( 44,00( 37,20( 106,40(
Current and nc-current liabilities (4,739 (11,959 (5,977 (22,66¢)
Pension and postretirement bene — (8,144 — (8,149
Deferred income taxe — (15,736 (14,999 (30,739
Debt assume — (13,819 — (13,819
Net tangible and intangible ass 40,40° 35,84¢ 34,73 110,98¢
Purchase pric 63,21¢ 110,43 84,31 257,96:
Goodwill $ 22,81 $ 74,58 % 49,57¢ 3 146,97:
Goodwill tax deductibl Yes No No

2011 Acquisitions
South Bend Controls

On October 11, 2011, the Corporation acquired #setas of South Bend Controls (SBC) for $11.2 miillio cash, including a purchase p
adjustment of $0.3 million. The Asset Purchase Agrent contains customary representations and wesarncluding a portion of tl
purchase price deposited into escrow as securitypédential indemnification claims against the aellManagement funded the purct
primarily from the Corporation’s revolving credddility and available cash on hand.

SBC is a designer and manufacturer of highly eregie@ solenoidased components used in critical applicationsisgrthe aerospac
defense, industrial and medical markets. BaseduttSBend, Indiana, SBC has 63 employees, withrurépresentation for 36 members of
workforce. Revenues of the acquired business wgpeoaimately $8.0 million in 2010. The businesslwjperate within the Integrated Sens
division of the Corporation’s Controls segment.

ACRA Control Ltd.

On July 28, 2011, the Corporation acquired allhef issued and outstanding capital stock of ACRAt@dbritd. (ACRA) for €2.6 millior
(approximately $61.1 million) in cash, net of caslyuired. The Share Purchase Agreement contaitesnecary representations and warran
including a portion of the purchase price depositéd escrow as security for potential indemnificatclaims against the seller. Manager
funded the purchase primarily from the Corporasa@volving credit facility and cash generated frimmeign operations.

ACRA is a supplier of data acquisition systems aativorks, data recorders, and telemetry groundbatafor both defense and commer
aerospace markets and will operate within the hategl Sensing division of the Corporatisriflotion Control segment. ACRA had :
employees on the date of acquisition and operaves & leased facility in Dublin, Ireland. ACRA heal’enues of approximatel\2€.5 millior
($27.1 million) for its fiscal year ended March 2D11.

Predator Systems, Inc.

On January 7, 2011, the Corporation acquired allissued and outstanding capital stock of Predagstems, Inc. (PSI) for $13.5 million
cash. The Stock Purchase Agreement contains custaam@esentations and warranties, including aipof the purchase price deposited
escrow as security for potential indemnificationils against the seller. Management funded thehpaecfrom the Corporatiosrevolving
credit facility.

PSI designs and manufactures motion control compusrend subsystems for ground defense, ordnandarmee, and aerospace applicat
and will operate within the Flight Systems divisioithe Corporation’s Controls segment. PSI had 45
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employees as of the date of the acquisition ameéglquartered in Boca Raton, FL. Revenues of theired business were approximately ¢
million for the year ended December 31, 2010.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beematd to the net tangible and intangible assejsiad with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:

(In thousands South Bent ACRA PSI Total
Accounts receivabl $ 163 $ 8,901 $ 86z $ 11,39¢
Inventory 2,99( 6,53¢ 1,85¢ 11,38¢
Property, plant, and equipme 727 1,60( 2,10( 4,42;
Other current asse 32 45€ 67 55k
Intangible asset 3,50( 17,05« 4,70( 25,25¢
Current and nc-current liabilities (64¢) (6,04¢) (290 (6,886
Deferred income taxe — (2,309 — (2,309
Net tangible and intangible ass 8,23¢ 26,19¢ 9,39t 43,83(
Purchase pric 11,17¢ 61,05: 13,50: 85,73:
Goodwill $ 293¢ % 34,85  $ 4,10¢ $ 41,90:
Goodwill tax deductible Yes No Yes

2010 Acquisitions

Specialist Electronics Services Limited

On June 21, 2010, the Corporation acquired aligheed and outstanding stock of Specialist Eleatso8ervices Ltd. (SES) forl8.3 millior
($21.2 million), net of cash acquired. Under thente of the Share Purchase Agreement, the Corpordiéposited a portion of the purch
price into escrow as security for potential indefication claims against the seller. In accordandth ihe terms of the Share Purch
Agreement, in June 2011, ohelf of the escrow was released with no holdbackpnding claims. Management funded the purchasa £
combination of cash generated from foreign openatand the Corporation’s revolving credit facility.

SES provides a range of rugged products for aidammd other severe environments, with particulgregise in solid state data record
computing, and control display units. Key platforinslude fixed-wing, rotarywing, and unmanned aircraft, tactical vehicles, aady vessel
SES is located in Camberley, U.K. and had 41 eng@syas of the date of the acquisition. Revenu#iseoficquired business weré&.E million
($7.5 million) for the fiscal year ended May 31120

Hybricon Corporation

On June 1, 2010, the Corporation acquired all $8aed and outstanding stock of Hybricon Corporafidybricon) for $19.0 million in cas
Under the terms of the Stock Purchase AgreememiCtrporation deposited a portion of the purchaie into escrow as security for poter
indemnification claims against the seller. As ofcBber 31, 2011, all funds held in escrow have elrased to the seller with no cla
outstanding. Management funded the purchase fren€trporation’s revolving credit facility.

Hybricon designs and manufactures custom and stdsitdased enclosures and electronic backplanes fonskefend commercial applicatic
and is a leading supplier for predominant embedaedmercial-off-theshelf system architectures. Hybricon had 72 em@syses of the date
the acquisition and was located in Ayer, MA priorits relocation to the existing Curti¥gright facility in Littleton, MA in December 201
Revenues of the acquired business were $16.8 miitiothe fiscal year ended June 30, 2009.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeratd to the net tangible and intangible assejsiad with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfadisws:
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(In thousands SES Hybricon Total

Accounts receivabl $ 1,68: $ 2277 $ 3,95¢
Inventory 977 2,07t 3,052
Property, plant, and equipme 74 151 22¢
Other current asse 25 68 93
Intangible assel 8,11t 6,67 14,79:
Current and nc-current liabilities (2,25)) (1,420 (3,677
Deferred income taxe (2,25%) (2,287) (4,547)
Net tangible and intangible ass 6,36¢ 7,531 13,90¢
Purchase pric 21,16: 18,97¢ 40,13¢
Goodwill $ 14,79t  $ 11,43¢ ¢ 26,23«
Goodwill tax deductible No No

SURFACE TECHNOLOGIES
2012 Acquisitions
F.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd.

On December 31, 2012, the Corporation acquirechsisets of F.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd. (@aijt for approximately $32.3 millic
in cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement containgchgme price adjustment mechanism and represergadiod warranties customary fc
transaction of this type, including a portion oé thurchase price deposited into escrow as sedoritgotential indemnification claims agai
the seller. Management funded the purchase frontthporation’s revolving credit facility.

Gartner is a provider of thermal spray coatingstha oil and gas, petrochemical, power generatio, other industrial markets in the U
Gartner operates out of two leased facilities ia thouston, TX area and employs 115 people. Reventighe acquired business w
approximately $19 million for the year ended Decentil, 2011.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beeratd to the net tangible and intangible assejsiad with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:

(In thousands Gartner

Accounts receivabl $ 5,57:
Inventory 1,58¢
Property, plant, and equipme 7,017
Intangible asset 9,40(
Current and nc-current liabilities (43¢)
Due to selle (2,759
Net tangible and intangible ass 20,38
Purchase pric 32,30(
Goodwill $ 11,91
Gooduwill tax deductible Yes
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2011 Acquisitions
IMR Test Labs

On July 22, 2011, the Corporation acquired thetassfelMR Test Labs (IMR), for approximately $20r@llion in cash. The Corporation pi
$18.0 million at closing, with a portion of the phase price held back as security for potentiadimaification claims. Management funded
purchase primarily from the Corporation’s revolvicrgdit facility and available cash on hand.

The agreement also provides for contingent conatiber based on achievement of certain sales tarBated on the estimated amount of ¢
over the twoyear measurement period, the Corporation recordéabdity of the estimated fair value of the cargent consideration in t
amount of $1.6 million. In 2012, $0.6 million waaig to the sellers related to 2011 performance.itfadl purchase price of $0.2 million w
also recorded related to the agreenmeptirchase price adjustment mechanism, resultibgféhcash consideration paid to date of $18.8onil

IMR is a provider of mechanical and metallurgieating services for the aerospace, power generaimhgeneral industrial markets. Revel
of the acquired business were approximately $14llibmfor the year ended December 31, 2010.

Surface Technologies Division of BASF Corporation

On April 8, 2011, the Corporation acquired certagsets of BASF CorporatianSurface Technologies (BASF) business for $20I/Bomiin
cash. The Asset Purchase Agreement contains custoam@aesentations and warranties and provided fpurchase price adjustment base
the value of inventory at closing. The purchaseeadjustment is reflected in the disclosed purlpaice. Management funded the purcl
from the Corporation’s revolving credit facility.

BASF's Surface Technologies business is a supplier aéliceand ceramic thermal spray coatings primafdy the aerospace and po
generation markets and expands the coatings céjabilvithin the Corporatios’ Surface Technologies segment. The busines
approximately 150 employees at three operatinditiasi located in East Windsor, CT, Wilmington, M#nd Duncan, SC. Revenues of
acquired business were approximately $29.0 mifi@rihe year ended December 31, 2010.

The purchase price of the acquisitions has beema#d to the net tangible and intangible asseaisid with the remainder recordec
goodwill on the basis of estimated fair valuesfaiisws:

(In thousands BASF IMR Total
Accounts receivabl $ — % 2,05C 3% 2,05(
Inventory 1,51« — 1,51«
Property, plant, and equipme 12,77¢ 3,12¢ 15,89¢
Other current asse — 13: 13:
Intangible asset 3,00( 3,83( 6,83(
Current liabilities (263) (505) (76¢)
Other liabilities — (1,05)) (2,05))
Due to selle — (2,000 (2,000
Net tangible and intangible ass 17,02t 5,58: 22,60"
Purchase pric 20,50: 18,75( 39,25
Goodwill $ 347¢  $ 13,16¢  $ 16,64«
Goodwill tax deductible Yes Yes




5. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts bilteccustomers, claims, other receivables, and umbitevenue on longerm contract:
consisting of amounts recognized as sales butilet bSubstantially all amounts of unbilled recaies are expected to be billed and colle
in the subsequent year.

Credit risk is diversified due to the large numbémentities comprising the Corporatiencustomer base and their geographic dispersios
Corporation is either a prime contractor or subirior to various agencies of the U.S. Governnieatvenues derived directly and indire
from government sources (primarily the U.S. Goveznth were 37% and 41% of consolidated revenuesOi? 2and 2011, respective
Accounts receivable due directly or indirectly frahese government sources represented 30% of ceit/ables for December 31, 2012
34% for 2011. No single commercial customer acoedifibr more than 10% of the Corporati®met receivables as of December 31, 201:
2011.

The Corporation performs ongoing credit evaluatiohg&s customers and establishes appropriate aloes for doubtful accounts based t
factors surrounding the credit risk of specifictomsers, historical trends, and other informatiohe Tomposition of receivables is as follow
of December 31:

(In thousands 2012 2011

Billed receivables

Trade and other receivabl $ 402,89: $ 369,10¢
Less: Allowance for doubtful accour (7,019 (6,880

Net billed receivable 395,87t 362,22¢

Unbilled receivables

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not | 207,67¢ 214,94(
Less: Progress payments appl (25,249 (34,160)

Net unbilled receivable 182,43! 180,78

Receivables, ne $ 578,31 $ 543,00

The net receivable balance at December 31, 20tRidad $43.8 million related to the Corporation®.2 acquisitions.
6. INVENTORIES

Inventoried costs contain amounts relating to lterga contracts and programs with long productioolesy, a portion of which will not |
realized within one year. Inventories are valuethatlower of cost (principally average cost) orrked. The composition of inventories is
follows as of December 31:

(In thousands 2012 2011
Raw materia $ 224,61 $ 168,61
Work-in-process 92,76 89,83:
Finished goods and component pi 107,17. 81,54«
Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbn¢-term contract: 38,00( 35,34%
Gross inventorie 462,54 375,34.
Less: Inventory reserve (50,339 (48,54%)
Progress payments applied, principally relatedia-term contract: (14,747 (23,750
Inventories, ne $ 39747 $ 313,04!

The net inventory balance at December 31, 201 2dexl $52.2 million related to the Corporation’s 2@tquisitions.

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, inventory alsdudes capitalized contract development costs &.82nillion and $17.5 milliol
respectively, related to certain aerospace anchdefprograms. These capitalized costs will bedigigid as production units are delivered t
customer. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, $5ldbmiand $9.4 million, respectively, are schedutedbe liquidated under existing fi



orders.
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7. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The composition of property, plant, and equipmeras follows as of December 31:

(In thousands 2012 2011

Land $ 23,25. % 22,40¢
Buildings and improvemen 205,30t 187,19
Machinery, equipment, and ot 725,55( 683,50t
Property, plant, and equipment, at c 954,11t 893,11(
Less: Accumulated depreciati (464,52) (450,38
Property, plant, and equipment, | $ 489,590 $§ 442,72

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@032, 2011, and 2010 was $62.8 million, $59 lioni and $53.9 million, respectively.
The net property, plant and equipment balance ae®éer 31, 2012, included $40.7 million relatethi Corporation’s 2012 acquisitions.
8. GOODWILL

The Corporation accounts for acquisitions by ass@ithe purchase price to acquired tangible anangible assets and liabilities assur
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are redoedetheir fair values, and the excess of the mgehprice over the amounts assigne
recorded as goodwill.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ012 and 2011 are as follows:

Surface
(In thousands Flow Contro Controls Technologie: Consolidatet
December 31, 201 $ 310,04 $ 35460 $ 2891¢ $  693,57:
Acquisitions 19,99¢ 41,66° 16,57¢ 78,24
Divestitures (540) (2,270 — (1,710
Goodwill adjustment — (3,959 — (3,959
Foreign currency translation adjustm: (1,289 (5,36%) (57) (6,706
December 31, 201 $ 32821¢ $ 38578 % 45,43¢ $ 759,44
Acquisitions $ 88,97t % 146,97:  $ 11,917 % 247,86:
Divestitures — — (3,649 (3,649
Goodwill adjustment (707) 42¢ — (278)
Foreign currency translation adjustm: 1,69 8,03¢ 187 9,92t
December 31, 201 $ 418,18 $ 541,22t $ 53,89C $ 1,013,301

The purchase price allocations relating to thermsses acquired are initially based on estimates.Corporation adjusts these estimates t
upon final analysis including input from third padppraisals, when deemed appropriate. The detatimmof fair value is finalized no la
than twelve months from acquisition. Goodwill adjuents represent subsequent adjustments to thbgaerice allocation for acquisitions
determined by the respective accounting guidangeirements based on the date of acquisition.

During 2012, the Corporation finalized the allooatiof the purchase price for all businesses acdjyrsr to 2012. In 2012, $51.0 million
the goodwill on acquisitions is deductible for faurposes. In 2011, $44.0 million of the goodwill the 2011 on acquisitions is deductible
tax purposes.

The Corporation completed its annual goodwill inpeEnt testing as of October 31, 2012, 2011, and 201d concluded that there was
impairment of value. The estimated fair value & thporting units also substantially exceeds therceed book value, with the exception of
oil and gas reporting unit, in the Flow Control segnt. Based on the annual impairment test, the dzatipn determined that the oil and
reporting unit’s estimated fair value was not sabsally in excess of its carrying amount.
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9. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of atips and consist primarily of purchased techgplocustomer related intangibles,
trademarks. Intangible assets are amortized owdfulis/es that range between 1 and 20 years.

The following table summarizes the intangible assetquired (including their weightederage useful lives) by the Corporation during2
and 2011. No indefinite lived intangible assetseygurchased in 2012 or 2011.

(In thousands, except years da 2012 2011

Amount Years Amount Years
Technology $ 46,83 13¢ % 12,55¢ 10.¢
Customer related intangibl 122,04 15.€ 36,77t 7.5
Other intangible asse 16,64 8.1 5,84¢ 7.1
Total $ 185,52 14¢€¢  $ 55,18( 8.2

The following tables present the cumulative compmsiof the Corporation’s acquired intangible asset of December 31.:

Accumulate:
(In thousands)
2012 Gross Amortizatior Net
Technology $ 18686¢ $ (76,06 $ 110,80:
Customer related intangibl 337,55¢ (95,88() 241,67¢
Other intangible asse 86,15’ (19,616 66,54
Total $ 610,58 $ (19156) $ 419,02
Accumulate:
(In thousands)
2011 Gross Amortizatior Net
Technology $ 15540¢ $ (6529) $ 90,11t
Customer related intangibl 219,49¢ (77,945 141,55!
Other intangible asse 44 55! (24,77Y 29,78(
Total $ 41945¢ $ (158,01) $ 261,44t

Amortization expense for the years ended Decembe?@®12, 2011, and 2010 was $31.1 million, $28 ioni and $26.0 million, respective

The estimated future amortization expense of puaethéntangible assets is as follows:

(In thousands

2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

Included in other intangible assets at December2812 and 2011, are $9.9 million of intangible &sg®t subject to amortization. 1
Corporation completed its annual test of impairnanndefinite lived intangible assets during tleeitth quarter of 2012, 2011, and 2010,

concluded there was no impairment of value.

$ 45,930

38,73¢
37,26
36,34(
35,902
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10. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Coats:

The Corporation has foreign currency exposure pilynan Europe and Canada. The Corporation usesnfifal instruments, such as forw
and option contracts, to hedge a portion of exgstind anticipated foreign currency denominatedstrations. The purpose of the Corporation
foreign currency risk management program is to cedeolatility in earnings caused by exchange ratetdations. Guidance on accounting
derivative instruments and hedging activities regglicompanies to recognize all of the derivativearicial instruments as either assel
liabilities at fair value in the Consolidated BatarSheets based upon quoted market prices for cabipanstruments.

Interest Rate Risks and Related Strate

The Corporation’s primary interest rate exposuseilits from changes in U.S. dollar interest ratés Torporatiors policy is to manage inter
cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate delite Torporation periodically uses interest rate sSaapmanage such exposures. Under
interest rate swaps, the Corporation exchangespetified intervals, the difference between fixad #oating interest amounts calculatec
reference to an agreed-upon notional principal arhou

For interest rate swaps designated as fair valdgdee(i.e., hedges against the exposure to chamges fair value of an asset or a liability ol
identified portion thereof that is attributable dgparticular risk), changes in the fair value o thterest rate swaps offset changes in th
value of the fixed rate debt due to changes in gtdriterest rates.

In January 2012, the Corporation entered into tfiregl-tofloating interest rate swap agreements to conbertriterest payments of the $:
million, 4.24% notes, due December 1, 2026, frofixed rate to a floating interest rate based dvidnth LIBOR plus a 2.02% spread, and
fixed-tofloating interest rate swap agreement to conveririterest payments of $25 million of the $100 iwil] 3.84% notes, due Decembe
2021, from a fixed rate to a floating interest ratesed on 1-Month LIBOR plus a 1.90% spread. ThH®mal amounts of the Corporatian’
outstanding interest rate swaps designated asdhie hedges were $200 million and $25 million acmber 31, 2012.

The Corporation utilizes the bid ask pricing tratommon in the dealer markets to determine thevédiie of these instruments. The dealer
ready to transact at these prices, which use tdemmairket pricing convention and are considerecketattfair market value.

The fair value accounting guidance requires thegtssand liabilities carried at fair value be diées and disclosed in one of the following th
categories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketsdentical assets or liabilities that the compaagy the ability to access.

Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobségvinputs that are corroborated by market dath sis quoted prices, interest rates
yield curves

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable data points ttehat corroborated by market data.
Based upon the fair value hierarchy, all of thevand foreign exchange contracts and interest masgps are valued at a Level 2.
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Effects on Consolidated Balance Sh

The location and amounts of derivative instrumairt\alues in the consolidated balance sheet dosvbe

December 31

(In thousands 2012 2011
Assets
Designated for hedge accounti
Interest rate sway $ 677 $ —
Undesignated for hedge account
Forward exchange contrac $ 25C $ 13
Total asset derivatives (/ $ 927 $ 13
Liabilities
Designated for hedge accounti
Interest rate sway $ 141¢ % —
Undesignated for hedge account
Forward exchange contrac $ 17¢ % 35€
Total liability derivatives (B $ 158¢ $ 35€

(A) Forward exchange derivatives and interate swap assets are included in Other currentsasse
(B) Forward exchange derivatives and interatst swap liabilities are included in Other currigilities.
Effects on Condensed Consolidated Statements aofries
Fair value hedge

The location and amount of gains or losses on dugéd fixed rate debt attributable to changes énntiarket interest rates and the offse
gain (loss) on the related interest rate swapth®years ended December 31, were as follows:

December 31

Gain/(Loss) on Swa Gain/(Loss) on Borrowing
(In thousands 2012 2011 2010 2012 2011 2010
Income statement classificatic
Other income (loss), ni $ (742) $ — 3 — 8 74z $ — 3 —

Undesignated hedges

The location and amount of gains and (losses) m@zed in income on forward exchange derivative @mts not designated for he:
accounting for the years ended December 31, wei@lag/s:

December 31

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010
Forward exchange contrac

General and administrative expen $ 88 $ (654 $ 3,114
Debt

The estimated fair value amounts were determinethéyCorporation using available market informatisich is primarily based on quo
market prices for the same or similar issues aBaifember 31, 2012. The fair value of our debt imetints are characterized as a Le\
measurement in accordance with the fair value fgbya The estimated fair values of the Corporasdiked rate debt instruments at Decen
31, 2012, aggregated $596 million compared to eyitey value of $574 million. The estimated fair wa$ of the Corporatios’fixed rate del
instruments at December 31, 2011, aggregated $@lidmtompared to a carrying value of $575 millic
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The carrying amount of the variable interest ragbtdapproximates fair value because the interéss r@e reset periodically to reflect cur
market conditions.

The fair values described above may not be indieaif net realizable value or reflective of futdiaé values. Furthermore, the use of diffe
methodologies to determine the fair value of carfeiancial instruments could result in a differestimate of fair value at the reporting date.

Nonrecurring measuremer

In connection with our 2012 restructuringtiative, the Corporation formally announced amplto cease operations at a certain facility w
our Surface Technologies segment during the fogutirter of 2012. This decision resulted in a reiducdf the useful life of the asset grou
the facility. In accordance with the provisionstbé Impairment or Disposal of Lorigved Assets guidance of FASB Codification Subt
360-10, longived assets held and used with a carrying amoti®@ million were written down to their fair vawf zero, resulting in i
impairment charge of $4.8 million, which was inadddn General and administrative expenses duriedvilelve month period ended Decen
31, 2012. The fair value of the impairment charges wetermined using the income approach over theceel useful life of the asset groug
accordance with the fair value hierarchy, the impant charge is classified as a Level 3 measuremerit is based on significant ot
observable inputs.

11. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following as ofdbeoer 31:

(In thousands 2012 2011

Accrued compensatic $ 73,647 $ 65,98:
Accrued commission 11,34« 9,122
Accrued interes 4,99 4,282
Accrued taxes other than income ta 3,10¢ 4,08¢
Accrued insuranc 6,062 5,817
Other 31,91¢ 15,90¢
Total accrued expens $ 131,060 $ 105,19¢

Other current liabilities consist of the followiag of December 31.:

(In thousands 2012 2011

Warranty reserve $ 18,16¢ $ 16,07¢
Litigation reserve: 2,001 10,33¢
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisiti 8,27¢ 4,98:
Reserves on loss contra 3,152 3,46¢
Deferred tax liability 1,75¢ 2,27¢
Pension and other postretirement liabili 4,16¢ 2,67C
Environmental reserve 1,49: 1,44:
Other 4,201 2,702
Total other current liabilitie $ 4321 $ 43,957

The accrued expenses and other current liabilétedecember 31, 2012 included $12.8 million andL $8illion, respectively, related to t
Corporation’s 2012 acquisitions.

The Corporation provides its customers with waiesnon certain commercial and governmental prodistBmated warranty costs are chal
to expense in the period the related revenue iegrézed based on the terms of the product warrahty,related estimated costs,
guantitative historical claims experience. Thesareges are adjusted in the period in which aateslilts are finalized or additional informat
is obtained. The following table presents the clearig the Corporation’s warranty reserves:
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(In thousands 2012 2011

Warranty reserves at January $ 16,07¢ $  14,84!
Provision for current year sal 8,43 10,49¢
Current year claim (4,649 (7,61%)
Change in estimates to |-existing warrantie (3,16¢) (1,825
Increase due to acquisitio 1,74:% 221
Foreign currency translation adjustm (270) (45)
Warranty reserves at December $ 18,16¢ $  16,07¢

12. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES
2012 Restructuring Initiative

The Corporation focuses on being the lowst provider of its products by reducing operatoogts and implementing lean manufactu
initiatives, which have in part led to the involant termination of certain positions and the coidstion of facilities and product lines.

During the year ended 2012, the Corporation re@brdstructuring costs by segment as follows:

(In thousands

Flow Surface
Control Controls Technologie: Consolidatec
Cost of sale: $ 1,377 $ 2351 $ 7,05C $ 10,77¢
Selling expense 43C — — 43C
General and administratiy 1,88t 1,07¢ 5,03t 7,99¢
Total $ 3,69C $ 3,42¢ % 12,08 $ 19,20:

During 2012, the Corporation committed to a plarrdstructure existing operations through a reduactio workforce and consolidation
operating locations. The plan impacted all thre¢hef Corporatiors reportable segments and resulted in costs irtwir&19 million. In th
Flow Control and Controls segments, restructuriagts of $4 million and $3 million, respectively, mweprimarily for severance and ben
costs associated with headcount reductions. Iistlréace Technologies segment, restructuring cds$§ anillion were primarily for severan
and benefits costs and $5 million of non-cash closta fixed asset write-down due to the ceaseofism operating facility.

The Corporation has completed its restructuringvitiets under the 2012 restructuring plan and dogsplan to incur additional costs under
plan.

During the year ended 2011, the Corporation, inFitsv Control segment, incurred $0.2 million of eeance and benefit costs relate
headcount reductions within General and adminisgaxpenses. These actions completed the 20Hhdibas restructuring initiative.

During the year ended 2010, the Corporation re@brdstructuring costs by segment as follows:

(In thousands

Flow Surface
Control Controls Technologie: Consolidatec
Cost of sale: $ 54¢ $ 49¢  $ 21¢ % 1,26:
Selling expense 5 10t — 11C
General and administrati 1,92¢ 23¢ — 2,161
Total $ 2,47¢  $ 84z % 21¢ % 3,54(
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During 2010, the Corporation continued its resuitiog initiative from 2009 and in the fourth quargé 2010, implemented its oil and
restructuring initiative. These activities resultedosts incurred of $3.5 million. The costs ceteil of severance costs to involuntary terminat
certain employees; relocation costs; exit actigitié certain facilities, including lease cancetlatcosts; and external legal and consulting fees
In the Flow Control segment, the Corporation inedr$2.5 million of restructuring costs of which &illion, $0.7 million and $0.4 million
were for severance and benefits, facility closingts, and relocation costs, respectively. In thet@ts segment, the Corporation incurred $0.8
million of restructuring costs of which $0.7 millip$0.1 million, and $0.1 million were for severarand benefits, facility closing costs, and
relocation costs, respectively. In the Surface Tietihgies segment, the Corporation incurred $0.Hanibf restructuring costs of which $0.1
million and $0.1 million were for facility closingosts and relocation costs, respectively.

The following table summarizes the cash componefittse Corporation’s restructuring plans. Accruestructuring costs are included in Other
current liabilities in the accompanying balanceethe

(In thousands

Severance an

Abandonment
Benefits of facility costs Total

December 31, 201 $ 17¢C  $ 21F % 38t
Provisions 181 — 181
Payment: (351) (215) (56€)
December 31, 201 $ — 8 —  $ —
Provisions 7,32¢ 6,881 14,21
Payment: (6,306 (781) (7,087%)
December 31, 201 $ 1,02C $ 6,106 $ 7,12¢
13. INCOME TAXES
Earnings before income taxes for the years endegber 31 consist of:
(In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Domestic $ 54,94: $ 94,80 $ 87,80¢

Foreign 80,42: 72,077 57,34

$ 135,36: $ 166,88: $ 145,15¢

The provision for income taxes for the years eridedember 31 consists of:

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010
Current:
Federa $ 18,82 $ 19,77 $ 21,81
State 5,08¢ 5,51¢ 6,97
Foreign 23,03 19,63: 15,66
46,94« 44,92: 44,44¢
Deferred:
Federa 75€ 6,84( 5,517
State (1,129 (697) (20€)
Foreign (5,172 (3,239 (1,630
(5,53¢6) 2,90¢ 3,67¢

Valuation allowanct 1,66t 432 (85¢)




Provision for income taxe $ 43,070 $ 48,26: $ 47,26¢
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The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstatutory tax rate for the years ended Decembgpr@icipally:

2012 2011 2010

U.S. federal statutory tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
Add (deduct).

State and local taxes, net of federal ber 1.€ 2.1 2.€
Rate change (0.2 (0.3 —
R&D tax credits (1.0 (4.7) 3.9
Foreign rate differentic 4.3 (3.2 2.0
All other, net 0.7 — 0.¢
Effective tax rate 31.8% 28.% 32.6%

The 2012 effective tax rate was primarily impadten a full year of income in certain foreign jutistions as well as changes in the amc
of domestic and foreign earnings. During 2011, 4 $illion U.S. research and development tax credi$ recognized in the current year
did not occur in the prior year. The 2011 rate ¢feais primarily due to the U.K. decreasing istatutory rate from 27% to 25%. The 2
effective tax rate included a tax benefit of $4.@iam due to foreign cash repatriation. This wdfset by a $0.8 million charge to write of
portion of deferred tax assets related to posaeiint health care obligations. Health care legisiampacting the tax deductible prescrip
drug costs related to Medicare Part D will reduoe amount of the federal subsidy beginning in 2848 reduce the deductible tempo
difference relating to the benefit obligation. Téevas also a favorable impact as a result of a thK.rate change which was offset by
unfavorable change in state tax rates. During 28f0Company recorded a decrease of $1.0 millidhenvaluation allowance primarily rela
to the utilization of net operating loss carryfords

The components of the Corporation’s deferred taetasand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:

(In thousands 2012 2011
Deferred tax asset
Environmental reserve $ 10,08¢ 7,831
Inventories 20,05: 17,78¢
Postretirement/postemployment bene 13,99: 13,757
Incentive compensatic 10,29¢ 10,47
Accrued vacation pa 5,37: 5,22
Warranty reserve 4,77¢ 4,35(
Legal reserve 61¢ 3,85:
Sharebased paymen 9,44 9,60¢
Pension plan 92,73¢ 77,19:
Net operating los 10,017 6,811
Deferred revenu — 6,39(
Other 16,42 12,00:
Total deferred tax asse 193,81: 175,30:.
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciatior 50,46¢ 47,43¢
Goodwill amortizatior 53,94¢ 47,15¢
Other intangible amortizatic 76,00¢ 30,31¢
Other 4,59¢ 5,722
Total deferred tax liabilitie 185,02: 130,63(
Valuation allowanct 8,531 5,51¢
Net deferred tax asse $ 26C 39,15¢
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectethe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheeeaeber 31 as follows:

(In thousands 2012 2011

Net current deferred tax ass $ 50,76 $ 54,27¢
Net current deferred tax liabilitie 1,75¢ 2,27¢
Net noncurrent deferred tax ass 1,70¢ 12,137
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabiliti 50,45( 24,98(
Net deferred tax asse $ 26C $ 39,15«

The Corporation has income tax net operating lassyforwards related to international operationsapproximately $26.7 million of whit
$19.2 million have an indefinite life and $7.5 noili expire through 2021. The Corporation has stateme tax net operating I
carryforwards of approximately $25.6 million whietxpire through 2032. The Corporation has recordeéfarred tax asset of $10 milli
reflecting the benefit of the loss carryforwards.

Management assesses the available positive andiveegaidence to estimate if sufficient future tabkaincome will be generated to utilize
existing deferred tax assets. A significant pietelgective negative evidence evaluated was theutatine loss incurred over the thrgea
period ended December 31, 2012 in certain of thep@ation’s foreign locations. Such objective evidence lintlits ability to consider oth
subjective evidence such as projections for fugmoavth. The Corporation has a valuation allowanic$85 million, as of December 31, 20
in order to measure only the portion of the defiériax asset that more likely than not will be readi. The amount of the deferred tax ¢
considered realizable, however, could be adjustestimates of future taxable income during theydarward period are reduced or if objec
negative evidence in the form of cumulative losisero longer present and additional weight may ivergto subjective evidence suct
projections for growth.

Income tax payments of $42.7 million were made(faZ2 $47.6 million in 2011, and $55.7 million in12D

No provision has been made for U.S. federal oridoréaxes on certain foreign subsidia’ undistributed earnings considered to be
permanently reinvested, which at December 31, 2042$248.7 million. It is not practicable to esttmthe amount of tax that would be
payable if these amounts were repatriated to thtetliStates; however, it is expected there woulchbemal or no additional tax because of
the availability of foreign tax credits.

The Corporation has recognized a liability for netgt of $1.2 million and penalties of $0.8 millias of December 31, 2012.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoeininrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Balance at January $ 576¢  $ 449C $ 3,37¢
Additions for tax positions of prior perioi 4,591 91t 6
Additions for tax positions related to the currgear 1,01¢ 533 1,95¢
Settlement: (53 (66) (161)
Lapses of statute of limitatior (28) (201) (680)
Foreign currency translatic 3 2 ©)]
Balance at December 2 $ 11,30 % 576¢ $ 4,49(

In many cases the Corporatisnuncertain tax positions are related to tax y#ass remain subject to examination by tax authesitiTh
following describes the open tax years, by majeijtasdiction, as of December 31, 2012:

United States (Federe 2008- presen
United States (Various state 1998- presen
United Kingdom 2005- presen
Canade 2006- presen

It is reasonably possible that the amount of tmeaiging liability for unrecognized tax benefits tedecrease by $3.9 through the next tw
months. Included in the total unrecognized tax Benat December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010
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is $9.0 million, $4.0 million, and $2.9 million, spectively, which, if recognized, would favorabf§eat the effective income tax rate.
14. DEBT

Debt consists of the following as of December 31:

(In thousands 2012 2012 2011 2011
Carrying Estimated Carrying Estimated Fa

Value Fair Value Value Value
Industrial revenue bond, due 20 $ 8,40 % 8,40 % 9,00« $ 9,00
Revolving credit agreement, due 2( 286,80( 286,80( — —
5.74% Senior notes due 20 125,01: 128,19¢ 125,02 134,98:
5.51% Senior notes due 20 150,00( 168,49: 150,00( 172,87:
3.84% Senior notes due 20 100,67" 100,67 100,00( 101,88t
4.24% Senior notes due 20 198,58: 198,58: 200,00 204,96!
Other deb 10,74¢ 10,74¢ 2,40 2,40z
Total debt 880,21! 901,89: 586,43( 626,11(
Less: current portion of loi-term debt and she«-term debi 128,22! 128,22! 2,502 2,50z
Total lon¢-term debi $ 751,99 $ 773,66¢ $ 583,92t $ 623,60t

The weighted-average interest rate of the CorpmraiRevolving Credit Agreement was 2.00% and 0.80%012 and 2011, respectively.

The fair value of the Corporationtebt is prepared in accordance with the requinésnaf U.S. GAAP, as noted in Note 10 of the Coidsdéc
Financial Statements. The estimated fair value amsowere determined by the Corporation using alhglanarket information which

primarily based on quoted market prices for theesamsimilar issues. The carrying amount of thedRarg Credit Agreement and Industi
Revenue Bonds approximates fair value as the istteages on this variable debt are reset peridgitalreflect market conditions and rates.

values for the Corporatios’fixed rate debt totaled $596 million and $615lionl at December 31, 2012 and 2011, respectivehese fai
values were estimated by management. The fair saleecribed above may not be indicative of neizalale value or reflective of future f
values. Furthermore, the use of different methogiel to determine the fair value of certain finahdnstruments could result in a differ
estimate of fair value at the reporting date.

Aggregate maturities of debt are as follows:

(In thousands

2013 $ 128,22!
2014 7,48
2015 34
2016 14
2017 436,80(
Thereaftel 308,40(
Total $ 880,95t

Interest payments of $24 million, $17 million, af@{l. million were made in 2012, 2011, and 2010, eespely.

In August 2012, we amended and refinanced our iegistredit facility by entering into a Third Amerdiend Restated Credit Agreenr
(Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of financiastitutions, led by Bank of America N.A., Wells Farg\N.A, and JP Morgan Chase Be
N.A.. The proceeds available under the Credit Agreret are to be used for working capital, internalwgh initiatives, funding of futu
acquisitions, and general corporate purposes. Uha@eterms of the revolving credit agreement, weeha borrowing capacity of $500 millic
In addition, the credit agreement provides an atioarfeature which allows us to borrow an additid®00 million. As of December 31, 20.
we had $47 million in letters of credit supportedthe credit facility and $287 million of borrowiaginder the credit facility.
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The revolving credit agreement contains covenah#$ tve consider usual and customary for an agreewfethis type for comparak
commercial borrowers, including a maximum consdédanet debt-t@apitalization ratio of 60 percent. The agreemexst tustomary events
default, such as non-payment of principal when dusnpayment of interest, fees, or other amountsssspayment default and cross
acceleration.

Borrowings under the credit agreement will accmteriest based on (i) Libor or (i) a base ratehef highest of (a) the federal funds rate
0.5%, (b) BofAs announced prime rate, or (c) the Eurocurrenay plus 1%, plus a margin. The interest rate andlle¥ facility fees ar
dependent on certain financial ratios, as defimedhe Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreement alsawviges customary fees, includ
administrative agent and commitment fees. In cotimeevith the Credit Agreement, we paid customaapsaction fees that have been defe
and are being amortized over the term of the Crsgiieement.

On December 8, 2011 the Corporation issued $30mibf Senior Notes (the 2011 Notes). The 2011eNatonsist of $100 million of 3.8¢
Senior Notes that mature on December 1, 2021 an0 $#llion of 4.24% Senior Series Notes that matmeDecember 1, 2026. The 2!
Notes are senior unsecured obligations, equabimt vf payment to our existing senior indebtedn&bg Corporation, at its option, can pre
at any time all or any part of our 2011 Notes, sabjo a makavhole payment in accordance with the terms of toeeNPurchase Agreement
connection with our 2011 Notes, the Corporatiormaistomary fees that have been deferred and arg amortized over the term of our 2(
Notes. Under the Note Purchase Agreement, the @atipo is required to maintain certain financiaiioa and funding obligations under
defined pension plan, the most restrictive of which debt to capitalization limit of 60%. The 204ates also contain a cross default provi
with our other senior indebtedness.

The debt outstanding had fixed and variable intees averaging 4% during the twelve months emtember 31, 2012.

On December 1, 2005, the Corporation issued $18bmbf 5.51% Senior Notes (the 2005 Notes). TBOS Notes mature on Decembe
2017. The Notes are senior unsecured obligatiodsaae equal in right of payment to the Corporasoexisting senior indebtedness.
Corporation, at its option, can prepay at any tathe@r any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aeng@kole amount in accordance with the te
of the Note Purchase Agreement. In connection with Notes, the Corporation paid customary fees hihge been deferred and are b
amortized over the terms of the Notes. The Corpmras required under the Note Purchase Agreententdintain certain financial ratios, -
most restrictive of which is a debt to capitalipatiimit of 60%. The 2005 Notes also contain a srdefault provision with the Corporatian’
other senior indebtedness.

On September 25, 2003, the Corporation issued $8ion of Senior Notes (the 2003 Notes). The 2008es consist of $75 million of 5.1%
Senior Notes that matured on September 25, 201328 million of 5.74% Senior Notes that matureSaptember 25, 2013. The $75 mill
5.13% Senior Notes were repaid during the thirdrignaof 2010 by drawing down on our revolver. TH#)2 Notes are senior unsect
obligations and are equal in right of payment ® @orporatiors existing senior indebtedness. The Corporatioits @ption, can prepay at ¢
time all or any part of the 2003 Notes, subjec tmakewhole amount in accordance with the Note Purchagedment. The Corporation p
customary fees that have been deferred and arg beiortized over the terms of the 2003 Notes. Thgp@ration is required under the N
Purchase Agreement to maintain certain financi@sathe most restrictive of which is a debt titaization limit of 60%. The 2003 Not
also contain a cross default provision with theg@oation’s other senior indebtedness.
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15. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basimiegs per share (EPS), based on the weightedage number of Common sh:i
outstanding, and diluted earnings per share, baisd¢ke basic EPS adjusted for all potentially ditishares issuable.

As of December 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010 there %@8000, 653,000, 1,068,000 stock options outstepdiespectively, that were exclut
from the computation of diluted earnings per shasahe exercise price of these options was grélader their average market value, wi
would result in an anti-dilutive effect on dilutedrnings per share.

Earnings per share calculations for the years eBadsmgmber 31, 2012, 2011, and 2010, are as follows:

Earnings from Weighted- Earnings per share
continuing Average Shares from continuing

(In thousands, except stock options outstanc operations Outstanding operations
2012:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operat $ 92,28¢ 46,74 $ 1.9¢
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred stacknpensatiol 66¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operet $ 92,28¢ 47,41: $ 1.9t
2011:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operat $ 118,62( 46,37 $ 2.5¢€
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred stacknpensatiol 641
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operet $ 118,62( 47,010 $ 2.52
2010:
Basic earnings per share from continuing operat $ 97,88¢ 45,820 $ 2.1¢
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred stecknpensatiol 49¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operet $ 97,88¢ 46,32 $ 2.12

16. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Effective in 2011, the Corporation maintains twargbased compensation plans, restricted stock undspanformance share units, bott
which are utilized only in our executive Long Tetntentive grants. Previous grants included goalified stock options (NQSO) to
participants. Under our employee benefit program, €orporation also provides an Employee Stock s Plan (ESPP) available to n
active employees. Certain awards provide for acatdd vesting if there is a change in control.

The compensation cost for employee and non-empldiyeetor shardsased compensation programs during 2012, 20112@1h@ is as follows

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Non-qualified stock option $ 94z % 3,066 $ 6,82¢
Employee Stock Purchase P 1,30: 65¢ 1,291
Performance Share Un 3,17¢ 2,591 2,07¢
Restricted Stock and Restricted Share L 3,231 2,771 2,53:
Other shar-based paymen 767 53t 65C
Total shar-based compensation expense before income $ 9,42¢ % 9,621 % 13,37¢

Other share-based payments include restricted stackds to nommployee directors, who are treated as employeguessribed by tt
accounting guidance on shdrased payments. The compensation cost recogniledidathe cost of the employee, which is primargyiectec
as General and administrative expenses in the @dasml Statements of Earnings. No shiased compensation costs were capitalized ¢
2012, 2011, or 201(



85



2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan

Awards under the 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan @05 LTI Plan) consist of three ongoing componeptrformance units (cas
performance share units, and time-based restrgtmek units, and two legacy components, restristedk and nomualified stock option
Under the 2005 LTI Plan, an aggregate total of 000 shares (as adjusted for subsequent stodk apli dividends) of common stock w
registered. Issuances of common stock to satisfyl@rae option exercises will be made from the Coapion’s treasury stock. No more tf
200,000 shares of common stock or 100,000 shanestfcted stock may be awarded in any year toosyparticipant in the 2005 LTI Plan.

The Corporation awarded total performance unitshreof $16.2 million, $19.3 million, and $14.1 noh in 2012, 2011, and 20:
respectively, to certain key employees. The peréorce units are denominated in U.S. dollars andcargingent upon the Corporatian’
satisfaction of performance objectives keyed tdaeaghg profitable growth over a period of threeclisyears commencing with the fiscal y
following such awards. The estimated cost of sushrds is expensed over the thgesr performance period. Performance unit experas
$12.6 million, $8.1 million, and $6.5 million in 2Q, 2011, and 2010, respectively. The actual cb8teoperformance units may vary from
total value of the awards depending upon the degredich the key performance objectives are met.

Nor-Qualified Stock Options (NQSO)

Effective November 2011, the Corporation no longemts norgualified stock options under the 2005 LTI PlarioPto November 2011, tl
Corporation granted nogualified stock options to key employees each yBtock options granted under the 2005 LTI Plan rexggn yeal
after the date of the grant and are generally ésadnte (vest) ondhird per year beginning with 12 months followirgetdate of grant. The fi
value of the NQSO'’s was estimated at the date arfitgusing a Black-Scholes optignicing model with the assumptions noted in théofeing
table. Expected volatilities are based on histbnctatility of the Corporatiors stock and other factors. The Corporation usdsrigal data t
estimate the expected term of options granted.riBkdree rate for periods within the contractual lifettee option is based on the U.S. Trea
yield curve in effect at the time of gra

2012 2011 2010
Risk-free rate — 2.4% 1.6&%
Expected volatility — 30.2(% 30.5(%
Expected dividend yiel — 0.92% 1.07%
Expected term (in year — 6 6
Weightec-average gra-date fair value of optior — 3 1057 % 8.52

A summary of employee stock option activity under 2005 LTI Plan is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Termin Value
(00Cs) Price Years (00C's)
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,407 $ 31.8:
Granted — —
Exercisec (282) 23.9¢
Forfeited (92 27.11
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 3,03t % 32.71 57 % 8,14¢
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 2,77¢  $ 32.9¢ 5  $ 7,37¢

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdigiiring 2012, 2011, and 2010 was $3.1 million9%8illion, and $1.8 million, respective
The above table represents the Corporasi@stimate of options fully vested and/or expettedest. Expected forfeitures are not material
therefore are not reflected in the above table.

NQSO grants vest over three years and compensadilris recognized over the requisite service defido each separately vesting portiol
each award as if each award was, in substanceipteudtwards. During 2012, 2011, and 2010, compé@rsabst associated with NQSOs 1
$0.9 million, $3.1 million, and $6.8 million resgaely, which was charged to expense. As
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of December 31, 2012, there was $0.3 million ofegognized compensation cost related to wested stock options, which is expected t
recognized over 2013.

Cash received from option exercises during 2012,12@nd 2010 was $6.7 million, $4.2 million, and8nillion, respectively. The total t
benefit generated from options exercised during22@D11, and 2010, was $1.0 million, $1.1 milli@md $0.6 million, respectively. T
benefits received on exercised options, which vgetgect to expense under U.S. GAAP, have beentetkth deferred taxes up to the amu
of benefit recorded in the income statement, whh difference charged to additional paid in capitdiile tax benefits received on exerci
options that were not subject to expense have teglited to additional paid in capital.

Performance Share Uni

Since 2005, the Corporation has granted performahaee units to certain employees under the 2005P1dn, whose vesting is conting
upon meeting various company-wide, thyear performance goals around net income targeth, dgainst budget and as a percentage of
against a peer group. The neested shares are subject to forfeiture if establisperformance goals are not met or employmetetrisinate:
other than due to death, disability, or retireme$ttare plans are denominated in sh@eed units based on the fair market value ¢
Corporation’s Common stock on the date of grant.

A summary of the Corporation’s performance-shatiesdor 2012 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted- Contractual Intrinsic
Shares/Units Average Term in Value
(00C's) Fair Value Years (00C's)
Non-vested at December 31, 20 926 $ 31.6%
Grantec 134 32.9¢
Vested (98) 30.1Z
Forfeited (90 30.9(
Non-vested at December 31, 20 87z % 32.12 15 % 28,62:
Expected to vest at December 31, 2 194 30.7¢ 24 % 6,35¢

The performance share unit's compensation coshizrtized to expense on a straight-line basis dverttireeyear requisite service period.
forfeiture and performance assumptions change, easgiion cost will be adjusted on a cumulative dasithe period of the assumpt
change. As of December 31, 2012, the weighted geer@maining vesting term of performance basecdeshaits is 2.4 years.

As of December 31, 2012, there was $8.0 milliommfecognized compensation cost, which is expectdittrecognized over a period of
years related to n-vested performance share units.

Restricted Share Uni
Restricted share units cliff vest three years dfterdate of grant.

The restricted share units contain only a servaraition, and thus compensation cost is amortipeelkpense on a straigline basis over tt
requisite service period, which ranged from 3.0rgda 10.1 years. The namsted restricted stock is subject to forfeitureniployment i
terminated other than due to death or disabilithe Testricted share units are subject to forfeiifiremployment is terminated and
nontransferable.
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A summary of the Corporation’s restricted sharasufar 2012 is as follows:

Weighted-
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Weighted- Contractual Intrinsic
Shares/Units Average Term in Value
(ooC's) Fair Value Years (ooC's)
Non-vested at December 31, 20 36 $ 33.1¢
Granted 10z 32.9¢
Vested (75) 30.9(
Forfeited — —
Non-vested at December 31, 20 39t % 33.5:% 32 % 12,98¢
Expected to vest at December 31, 2 39t % 33.5: 32 % 12,98¢

As of December 31, 2012, there was $7.7 millioumfecognized compensation cost, which is expeatdabtrecognized over a period of
years related to n-vested restricted stock and restricted share.units

Employee Stock Purchase PI

The Corporation’s ESPP enables eligible employegsutchase the CorporatienCommon stock at a price per share equal to 85#teofail
market value at the end of each offering periodthEaffering period of the ESPP lasts six monthspm@ncing on January 1st and July 1
each year. Participation in the offering is limited10% of an employeg’base salary (not to exceed amounts allowed WBegtion 423 of tt
Internal Revenue Code), participation may be teateid at any time by the employee and automatiellys on termination of employm
with the Corporation. Effective January 1, 201% @orporation increased the number of shares am#ttbfor issuance under the ESPP b
additional 1,200,000 shares, from 2,000,000 to B@mWD, and extended the term of the ESPP by ari@dali two years through Octobetr
2015. The common stock to satisfy the stock puehamder the ESPP were originally designated asynssued shares of common stc
however, the Company has reserved the additio28DIQ00 shares from Treasury. During 2012, theme 283,124 shares purchased unde
ESPP. As of December 31, 2012, the Corporationwiiheld $4.1 million from employees, the equivalef 150,609 shares. Compensa
cost is recognized on a straight-line basis oversikmonth vesting period during which employees perfoetated services. The Corpora
recognized $0.2 million of tax benefit associatathwisqualifying dispositions during 2012, all which was credited to additional paic
capital. Effective as of January 1, 2010, the @dook-back feature was eliminated from the ESPP.

2005 Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors

The 2005 Stock Plan for Ndamployee Directors (2005 Stock Plan), approvedhesy dtockholders in 2005, provided for the granstofck
awards and, at the option of the nemployee directors, the deferred payment of regilpulated compensation and meeting fees in et
shares. Under the 2005 Stock Plan, the Corporatioohemployee directors each receive an annual restratteek award, which is subject t
threeyear restriction period commencing on the datehefdrant. For 2012, 2011, and 2010, the value efatiard granted was $70,000
director, respectively. These restricted stock d&are subject to forfeiture if the nemployee director resigns or retires by reasorisobhhe
decision not to stand for mection prior to the lapsing of all restrictions)less the restrictions are otherwise removed byGbmmittee @
Directors and Governance. The cost of the resttisteck awards will be amortized over the three yestriction period from the date of gr
or such shorter restriction period as determinedhieyremoval of such restrictions. Newly elected-employee directors also receive a one
time five year restricted stock award of $35,000e Total number of shares of Common stock availfdslgrant under the 2005 Stock Plan 1
not exceed 100,000 shares. During 2012 the Cotiporatwvarded 16,977 shares of restricted stock, lithv8,935, have been deferred
certain directors. During 2011, the Corporation @led 16,680 shares of restricted stock, of whi@2@,have been deferred by cer
directors. During 2010 the Corporation awarded 88 ghares of restricted stock, of which 9,228 hHaeen deferred by certain directors.

Pursuant to election by non-employee directorgteive shares in lieu of payment for earned aneroexf compensation under the 2005 Stock
Plan, the Corporation had provided for an aggregdtktional 68,974 and 74,017 shares at an avenace of $31.16 and $30.26, respectively,
as of December 31, 2012 and 2011. During 2012 8dd,Zhe Corporation issued 12,955 and 12,687 sheegpectively, in compensation
pursuant to such elections.
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17. ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS

The Corporation has been named as a potentialponstble party (PRP), as have many other corporsittmd municipalities, in a numbei
environmental cleamp sites. The Corporation continues to make praegiesresolving these claims through settlement wdisons an
payments from established reserves. The superfitesl remaining open at the end of the year aredv@zl Trucking landfill superfund sit
located in Fairfield, New Jersey; Sharkey landfilperfund site, located in Parsippany, New Jersey;Chemsol, Inc. superfund site, locate
Piscataway, New Jersey. The Corporation believas tthe outcome for any of these remaining site$ mat have a material effect on
Corporation’s results of operations or financiasigion.

The Corporation continued the operation of the gcowater and soil remediation activities at the \W&idge, New Jersey, site through 2(
The cost of constructing and operating this sits wavided for in 1990 when the Corporation esthigld a reserve to remediate the prog
Even though this property was sold in December 2€84 Corporation retained the responsibility foistremediation in accordance with
sale agreement. The reserve balance as of Dec&hp2012, was $7.3 million, which is essentiallglhanged from the prior year.

In 1992, the Corporation was named as a PRP ic€#h@well Trucking superfund site. The majority bétcosts for this site have been for
and groundwater remediation. As of December 31,22@khe Corporatiors reserve balance was $4.6 million, which largedpresen
continuing operation and maintenance costs, syp@formance monitoring efforts, and assessment liagnp

The Corporation, through its Electiechanical Division (EMD) business unit, has thResnsylvania Department of Environmental Prote
(PADEP) radioactive materials licenses that arkzet in the continued operation of the EMD busimda connection with these licenses,
Corporation has known conditional asset retirenoditigations related to asset decommissioning digg/to be performed in the future, wi
the Corporation terminates these licenses. Forofitbe three licenses, the Corporation has recoatieaksset retirement obligation. In the fo
quarter of 2012, in connection with its licenseawal, the Corporation increased its asset retir¢migligation by $6 million, to $9 million, fq
these licenses and revised its estimated settledadatto 2032. The Corporation recorded accretipemse of less than $1 million during
twelve months ended December 31, 2012. For itgl thitense, the Corporation has not recorded ant asseement obligation as it is r
reasonably estimable due to insufficient informatabout the timing and method of settlement ofdhkgation. Accordingly, this obligatic
has not been recorded in the Consolidated Finastakements. A liability for this obligation willebrecorded in the period when suffici
information regarding timing and method of settl@igecomes available to make a reasonable estohéte liability’s fair value.

The Corporatiors aggregate environmental obligation at December2812 was $16.4 million compared to $20.5 mill@nDecember 3
2011. Approximately 25.9% of the Corporatisrénvironmental reserves as of December 31, 2@p2esent the current value of anticipi
remediation costs and are not discounted primaiily to the uncertainty of timing of expenditurebe Temaining environmental reserves
discounted using an appropriate discount rateftectethe time value of money since the amount #méhg of cash payments for the liabil
are reliably determinable. All environmental reg=nexclude any potential recovery from insuranceera or thirdparty legal actions. As
December 31, 2012, the undiscounted cash flowsceged with the discounted reserves were $19.7anithnd are anticipated to be paid ¢
the next 30 years.

18. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains fourteen separate artthdigpension and other postretirement defined fiepkns, consisting of seven dome
pensions and other postretirement benefit planssavén separate foreign pension plans. The Corporataintains the following lega
domestic plans: a qualified pension plan, a noriiggh pension plan, and a postretirement healthelfies plan (the Curtis®vright Plans), an
a postretirement health benefits plan for EMD empés. With the acquisition of Williams Controls Becember 14, 2012, the Corpora
acquired three new domestic plans: a qualifiedrisalaemployee pension plan, a qualified hourly empeé pension plan, and a postretirer
health-benefits plan (the Williams Plans).

The foreign plans consist of three defined benadiision plans in the United Kingdom, two in Mexiemd one plan each in Canada
Switzerland. In 2010, a defined benefit plan in Way was terminated and replaced with a definedrdmrion plan. The total projected ben
obligation related to all foreign plans is $83.0lliom as of December 31, 2012. Each plan and furthéormation on the Norway pli
termination is described below.
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Domestic Plans
The Curtiss-Wright Plans

The Corporation maintains a defined benefit pengian (the “CW Pension Plan”) covering all emplayemder four benefit formulas: a non.
contributory non-union and union formula for allrf@ss-Wright (“CW”) employees and a contributoryiem and nordnion benefit formula fc
employees at the EMD business unit.

The formula for CW non-union employees is composfea “traditional” benefit based on years of credited service, theHighest consecuti
yeard compensation during the last ten years of sendoe a “cash balanc&enefit. CW union employees who have negotiatedreefit unde
the CW Pension Plan are entitled to a benefit basegears of service multiplied by a monthly pensiate. Employees become particip.
under the CW Pension Plan after one year of seanckare vested after three years of service. dimaula for EMD employees covers b
union and noninion employees and is designed to satisfy the irements of relevant collective bargaining agreeimieftmploye
contributions are withheld each pay period andeapal to 1.5% of salary. The benefits for the EMDptoyees are based on years of se
and compensation.

On December 31, 2012, the Corporation amended itid>€nsion Plan to close the benefit to EMD empleyerd after January 1, 2014. P
to this change, effective February 1, 2010, thepG@tion amended the CW Pension Plan to closerdléional benefit to new CW namaior
employees. All new employees hired on or afteretffective date are eligible for the cash balanaeebie

At December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Corporationaadncurrent pension liability of $195.9 millionca$180.8 million, respectively. T
Corporation made $40.1 million of contributionstbe CW Pension Plan in 2012 and expects to mal@ntiloution of approximately $3¢
million in 2013. This reduction is largely due w®lief provided by the Moving Ahead for Progresghie 21st Century Act (MAR-4), whict
provides pension plan sponsors with shierta funding relief by stabilizing interest ratesed to determine required funding contributior
defined benefit plans. The Corporation expects aigrcumulative contributions of approximately $22iion from 2013 through 2017.

The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaeston plan (the “CW Restoration Plar@dvering those employees of CW and EMD wi
compensation or benefits exceed the IRS limitatrpension benefits. Benefits under the CW ResitmmaPlan are not funded, and, as s
the Corporation had an accrued pension liability$84.4 million and $23.4 million as of December 2012 and 2011, respectively. ~
Corporation’s contributions to the CW RestoratidanPare expected to be $2.4 million in 2013.

The Corporation provides postretirement health fiesn® certain employees (the “CW Retirement PJahi 2002, the Corporation restructu
the postretirement medical benefits for certainvacemployees, effectively freezing the plan. THeigation associated with these ac
employees was transferred to the CW Pension Plaa plan continues to be maintained for retired eyges. The Corporation had an acc
postretirement benefit liability of $0.6 million @ December 31, 2012 and 2011. Benefits undeptae are not funded. The Corporation’
contributions to the CW Retirement Plan are noeeigd to be material in 2013.

EMD Plan

The Corporation, through an administration agregmeétih Westinghouse, maintains the Westinghousee@owent Services Group Welf
Benefits Plan (the “EMD Retirement Plan”), a retiteealth and life insurance plan for substantiallyof the CurtissA/right EMD employee:
The EMD Retirement Plan provides basic health aetlare coverage on a naontributory basis. Benefits are based on yearenfice an
are subject to certain caps. Effective JanuaryOl12the Corporation modified the benefit designdost65 retirees by introducing Retil
Reimbursement Accounts (“RR#) to participants in lieu of the traditional behefelivery. Participant accounts are funded aasabun
annually that can be used to purchase supplememntatage on the open market, effectively cappiegotnefit.

The Corporation had an accrued postretirement kidiaddfility at December 31, 2012 and 2011 of $26iflion and $20.9 million, respective
Pursuant to the Asset Purchase Agreement, the €dimo has a discounted receivable from Washin@owup International to reimburse
Corporation for a portion of these postretiremesndfit costs. At December 31, 2012 and 2011, teeodinted receivable included in of
assets was $2.0 million and $2.4 million, respetyivThe Corporation expects to contribute $1.4iomlto the EMD Retirement Plan duri
2013.
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The Williams Plans

The Corporation acquired two defined benefit pemgitans and a postretirement benefit plan with abeuisition of Williams Controls «
December 14, 2012. The two defined benefit plansh@urly employee plan and salaried employee ganvide a fixed formula benefit
members upon retirement. The postretirement bepkfit provides health care and life insurance bengfr certain of its retired employe
No new employees are being admitted into thesesplas of December 31, 2012, the Corporation had@mued pension liability of $€
million and an accrued postretirement benefit ligbof $2.1 million related to these plans. Ther@aration expects to contribute $1.2 mill
into these plans in 2013.

Foreign Plans
Indal Technologies Hourly Plan (Canac

The Pension Plan for Hourly Employees of Indal Texdbgies, Inc. (“Indal Plan"commenced on March 1, 2005 in connection witt
acquisition of Indal by the Corporation. This nooatributory defined benefit plan provides monthignefits to eligible members equal 1
members credited service multiplied by a fixed dollar amb As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Corjmordtad an accrued pens
liability of $1.2 million and $0.9 million, respeeely. The Corporation’s contributions to the Indén are expected to be $0.7 million in 2013

Metal Improvement Compar Salaried Staff Pension Scheme (U.K.)

The Corporation maintains the Salaried Staff Pensicheme (“MIC Plan”for the benefit of Metal Treatment employees in th&. This
contributory plan provides defined benefits to iblig members equal to orséxtieth of final pensionable salary for each yeaipensionabl
service. Members contribute at the rate of 9% eirthensionable salary, and the Corporation fuhdsbalance of the cost to provide bene
The plan provides for early retirement at reducendfits and was closed to new entrants as of Jardy&004. As of December 31, 2012
2011, the Corporation had an accrued pension itialif $2.4 million and $3.2 million, respectivelfhe Corporatiors contributions to tt
MIC Plan are expected to be approximately $0.8ionilin 2013.

Penny & Giles Pension Plan (U.k

The Penny & Giles Pension Plan (“P&G Plars)a contributory plan that provides for both defirbenefit and defined contribution bene
Defined benefit members are entitled to final satetated benefits equal to osedieth of final pensionable salary for each yefapensionabl
service. The P&G Plan provides for early retiremanteduced benefits and was closed to new entedriisne of acquisition in 2002. T
following disclosures include information for therhy & Giles defined benefit section only, whiclpresents the majority of the P&G Plan’
costs. As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, the Catiporhad an accrued pension liability of $1.0 imilland $2.0 million, respectively. T
Corporation’s contributions to the P&G Plan areentpd to be approximately $2.1 million in 2013.

Mechetronics Limited Retirement Benefits Schemi€.]!

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatama result of our Mechetronics acquisition onoBet 1, 2009. The plan is based on
pensionable salary and years of service. As atrebtthe restructuring of Mechetronics and the otidation of U.K. operations in 2010, th
are no active employees in the pension plan aseoeMber 31, 2010 as the employees became defasastiparticipants. As of December
2012 and 2011, the Corporation had an accrued geliability of $3.0 million. The Corporatios’contributions to the plans are expected -
immaterial in 2013.

Curtiss Wright Antriebstechnik GmbH (“CWAT”") PensiBlan (Switzerland)

CWAT sponsors a defined contribution plan coveBigemployees as of December 31, 2012. Under Svaias there is a guaranteed mininr
benefit requirement which must be valued as a ddfimenefit obligation for U.S. GAAP purposes. AsDafcember 31, 2012 and 2011,
Corporation had an accrued pension liability of3®@illion. The Corporatiors contributions to the plan are expected to be &illibn in 2013,

VMETRO ASA Pension Plan

The Corporation assumed defined benefit obligatasma result of our VMETRO acquisition on Octob8r 2008. The group pension p
entitles the employees of the Norwegian companidis future benefits based on years of service,vthge level at time of retirement, ¢
benefits from the national insurance plan. Effex@ecember 31, 2010, the Corporation terminated
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the existing defined benefit plan and replaceditbwa defined contribution plan covering employeevice beginning on January 1, 2011.
plan termination resulted in oriere curtailment and settlement gains of approxatya$1.6 million in 2010. The Corporation did nave ai
accrued pension liability as of December 31, 2010.

The following table details the components of rexigric pension expense for all Pension Plans:

Components of net periodic

benefit expense(In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Service cos $ 4027: $ 3627t $ 33,33
Interest cos 26,30 26,36: 25,24¢
Expected return on plan ass (33,58Y (31,635 (28,909
Amortization of prior service co: 1,201 1,21(C 1,111
Recognized net actuarial Ic 11,02: 5,46¢ 1,81¢
Cost of settlements/curtailmer — 194 (1,245
Net periodic benefit cos $ 4521« $ 37,87( $ 31,35]

Net periodic benefit cost, specifically service antkrest cost, has increased over the reporteddsedue to growth in headcount and ser
accruals related to existing employees under tieeang servicdased formula in the plan. The recognized actub$a has increased over
reported periods, due largely to the decline indiseount rate.

The Cost of settlements/curtailments indicated abm@presents events that are accounted for unddarge on employersiccounting fc
settlements and curtailments of defined benefispenplans. The settlement charge in 2011 is rieguftom the retirement of employees
Switzerland and Mexico. In 2010, the gain resuftedh the termination of the defined benefit plarNiarway, offset by settlement charges
to workforce reductions in Mexico and retirememtSivitzerland.

The following table details the components of rexigric expense for the Corporation’s PostretirenBemefit Plans:

(In thousands 2012 2011 2010

Service cos $ 448 % 38 3 57¢
Interest cos 93¢ 1,00¢ 1,34
Amortization of prior service co: (629) (629) (20%5)
Recognized net actuarial g¢ (682) (907) (1,139
Net periodic postretirement benefit (income) ¢ $ 76 % (133 % 68<

In the following table, the pension benefits infation is a consolidated disclosure of all domeatid foreign plans described earlier.
postretirement benefits information includes alimdstic postretirement benefit plans, as there arforeign postretirement benefit plans.
plans were valued using a December 31, 2012 measuatedate to comply with the requirements of U.3AB to measure plan assets
benefit obligations as of the date of the emplayéiscal year-end statement of financial position.
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Pension Benefit

Postretirement Benefi

(In thousands 2012 2011 2012 2011
Change in benefit obligation:
Beginning of yea $ 597,14 $ 52130f $ 21,467 $ 19,97
Service cos 40,27+ 36,27¢ 44¢ 38¢
Interest cos 26,30: 26,36 93¢ 1,00¢
Plan participan’ contributions 2,381 2,42¢ 91 381
Amendment 11€ — —
Actuarial loss (gain 55,83: 38,04¢ (377) 1,35(
Benefits paic (37,180) (27,177 (1,28¢€) (1,687)
Business combinatior 17,21¢ — 2,10¢ —
Special termination benefi — 14z — —
Retiree drug subsidy receiv — — — 48
Settlement: — (117 — —
Currency translation adjustmel 3,04 (232 — —
End of year $ 70502: $ 597,14¢ $ 23,39 $ 21,46°
Change in plan assets
Beginning of yea $ 38314 $ 372,19¢ $ — 3 —
Actual return on plan asse 52,97 (4,459 — —
Employer contributior 45,23( 40,73 1,19¢ 1,30¢
Plan participan’ contributions 2,381 2,42¢ 91 381
Business combinatior 10,98: —
Benefits paic (37,18() (27,17) (1,28¢) (1,68))
Settlement: — (117 — —
Currency translation adjustmel 2,66¢ (467) — —
End of year $ 460,20: $ 383,14¢ $ — 8 —
Funded status $ (244820 $ (21399) $ (23,39) $ (21,46)
Pension Benefit Postretirement Benefi

(In thousands 2012 2011 2012 2011
Amounts recognized on the balance she

Current liabilities $ (2,469 % (1,069 $ (1,695 $ (1,607

Noncurrent liabilities (242,35) (212,929 (21,69¢) (29,86¢)

Total $ (244820 $ (21399) $ (23,39) $ (21,46)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehenst income

(AOCI)

Net actuarial loss (gait $ 201,21¢ $ 17552« $ (10,219 $ (10,51¢

Prior service cos 5,612 6,791 (5,615) (6,249
Total $ 206,83 $ 18231% $ (1582) $ (16,760
Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized in net pedic cost in

the coming year:
Loss (gain) recognitio $ 17,11 $ 9,97¢ % 639 $ (719
Prior service cost recognitic $ 1,201 % 1,20 $ (629 $ (629)
Accumulated benefit obligation 644,48: 546,63! N/A N/A
Information for pension plans with an accumulated kenefit obligation

in excess of plan assets:
Projected benefit obligatic $ 639,74¢ $ 557,31 N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligatic 592,66( 516,11! N/A N/A
Fair value of plan asse 398,68" 345,64( N/A N/A
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Plan Assumptions

Pension Benefit Postretirement Benefi
2012 2011 2012 2011
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of benef
obligation:
Discount rate 3.95% 4.4€% 3.7(% 4.48%
Rate of compensation incree 3.94% 3.9€% N/A N/A
Health care cost trend
Rate assumed for subsequent y N/A N/A 8.0(% 8.0(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2019 and 2014, respegt N/A N/A 5.5(% 5.5(%
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of ngeriodic
benefit cost:
Discount rate 4.4¢% 5.16% 4.48% 5.21%
Expected return on plan ass 8.02% 8.14% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation incree 3.9% 3.9%% N/A N/A
Health care cost trend
Rate assumed for subsequent y N/A N/A 8.0(% 8.5(%
Ultimate rate reached in 2019 and 2014, respegt N/A N/A 5.5(% 5.5(%

The discount rate for each plan is determined IBgalinting the plas’ expected future benefit payments using a yietdecdeveloped froi
high quality bonds that are rated Aa or better byolly’s as of the measurement date. The yield curve latilmo matches the notional c:
inflows of the hypothetical bond portfolio with tlegpected benefit payments to arrive at one effeatite for each plan.

The overall expected return on assets assumptibased on a combination of historical performanicthe pension fund and expectation
future performance. Expected future performancdetermined by weighting the expected returns faheasset class by the planasse
allocation. The expected returns are based on temy-capital market assumptions utilizing a y@ar time horizon through consultation v
investment advisors. While consideration is givenrécent performance and historical returns, th&uraption represents a lomgHr
prospective return.

The effect on the CW and EMD Retirement Plans D¥#achange in the health care cost trend is aswello

(In thousands 1% Increas 1% Decreas

Total service and interest cost compont $ 1 8 (1)

Postretirement benefit obligati $ 36 % (39
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Pension Plan Assets

The overall objective for plan assets is to earata of return over time to meet anticipated bemefyments in accordance with plan provisi
The longterm investment objective of the domestic retiretrdans is to achieve a total rate of return, eees, which exceeds the actue
overall expected return on assets assumption usedufding purposes and which provides an apprtpnaemium over inflation. Ti
intermediateterm objective of the domestic retirement planginée as three to five years, is to outperform eafctine capital markets in whi
assets are invested, net of fees. During perio@xtoéme market volatility, preservation of captakes a higher precedence than outperfor
the capital markets.

The Corporatiors Finance Committee is responsible for formulatingestment policies, developing investment managgédelines an
objectives, and approving and managing qualifiedsadls and investment managers. The guidelineblediad define permitted investme
within each asset class and apply certain regiristsuch as limits on concentrated holdings, aodipits selling securities short, buying
margin, and the purchase of any securities issygdebCorporation.

The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW Rems$ilan under a trust that is diversified acrosgstment classes and among invest
managers to achieve an optimal balance betweenarisk return. In accordance with this policy, therfdoation has established tai
allocations for each asset class and ranges otwgexposure. The Corporatisrdomestic retirement assets are invested witlsnaflocatior
structure in three major categories: domestic gggeturities, international equity securities, aletht securities. Below are the Corporatson’
actual and established target allocations for theR&nsion Plan, representing 81% of consolidatsetss

As of December 31 Target Expected
Asset clas: 2012 2011 Exposure Range
Domestic equitie 50% 50% 50% 40%-60%
International equitie 15% 13% 15% 10%-20%
Total equity 65% 63% 65% 55%-75%
Fixed income 33% 34% 35% 25%-45%

As of December 31, 2012 and 2011, cash funds iCivePension Plan represented less than 3% of fiord#esets. The Williams Plans, wh
represent approximately 2% of domestic retirementets, are more heavily weighted in fixed inconsailtang in a weighted expected returr
assets assumption of 6.75%.

Foreign plan assets represent 16% of consoliddtedgssets, with the majority of the assets supmpthe U.K. plans. The U.K. foreign ple
follow a similar asset allocation strategy, whither foreign plans are more heavily weighted iredi¥xncome resulting in a weighted expe
return on assets assumption of 5.66% for all forgigns.

The Corporation may from time to time require thallocation of assets in order to bring the reteatrplans into conformity with these rang
The Corporation may also authorize alterationsemiations from these ranges where appropriate dbieaing the objectives of the retirem
plans.
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Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents consolidated plantassging the fair value hierarchy as of Decembe2812:

Asset Categor

Cash and cash equivale
Equity Securities
U.S. Large Cap (¢
U.S. Mid Cap
U.S. Small Cap (b
Foreign Large Cap («
Foreign Mid Cag
Foreign Index Funds («
Balanced Funds (¢

Total Equities

Fixed Income Securitie:
U.S. Corporate Bonds (
U.S. Government Bonc
U.S. Fixed Income Mutual Fund (
US Other Fixed Income (!
Foreign Government Bonds
Foreign Corporate Bonds |
Foreign Government Index Funds
Foreign Corporate Bond Index Funds

Total Fixed Income Securitie

Alternative Investments
Insurance Contracts (

Total Alternative Investmen:

Real Estate
Foreign Real Estate (

Total Real Estat
Total Assets

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

$ 17,657 $ 1881 $ 15,77  $ —
132,89:. 130,77: 2,121 —

23¢€ — 23€
33,30¢ 33,06 242 —
73,24. 72,36¢ 873 —
271 271 — —
27,86¢ 2,26¢ 25,591 —
14,957 — 14,957 —
$ 282,77  $ 238,74t  $ 44,02¢  $ —
25,54 — 25,54: —
3,77 3,77: —
65,24¢ 65,24¢ — —
31,10: 28,39: 2,70¢ —
4,23¢ 1,604 2,632 —
5,69: 2,03t 3,65¢ —
1,607 — 1,607 —
10,93( — 10,93( —
$ 148,12 % 101,05  $ 47,07¢  $ —
10,917 — — 10,917
$ 10,917 $ — 3 — % 10,91%
72¢ — — 72€
$ 72¢ % — 3 — % 72¢
$ 460,20. $ 341,68, $ 106,87: $ 11,64¢
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The following table presents consolidated plantassging the fair value hierarchy as of Decembe2811.:

Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs

Asset Categor Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalel $ 16,62¢ $ 1932 $ 14,69¢ $ —
Equity Securities

U.S. Large Cap (c 116,27 116,08« 19z —

U.S. Small Cap (b 28,72t 28,72¢ — —

Foreign Large Cap (« 53,31 53,311 — —

Foreign Mid Cag 222 222 — —

Foreign Index Funds (« 24,61: 2,21¢ 22,39¢ —

Balanced Funds (¢ 10,47: — 10,47: —
Total Equities $ 233,62( $ 200,56: $ 33,05¢ % —
Fixed Income Securitie!

U.S. Corporate Bonds ( 19,47: — 19,47: —

U.S Government Bonc 70C 70C — —

U.S. Fixed Income Mutual Fund ( 59,79: 59,79! — —

U.S. Other Fixed Income (| 23,06: 23,06: — —

ForeignGovernment Bonds ( 3,99¢ 1,41( 2,58¢ —

Foreign Corporate Bonds | 4,30¢ 1,74¢ 2,561 —

Foreign Government Index Funds 1,61¢ — 1,61¢ —

Foreign Corporate Bond Index Funds 9,26t — 9,26t —
Total Fixed Income Securiti¢ $ 122,20 % 86,70¢ % 3550 $ —
Alternative Investments

Insurance Contracts ( 10,08: — — 10,08:
Total Alternative Investmen $ 10,08 $ — — 8 10,08:
Real Estate

Foreign Real Estate ( 612 — — 612
Total Real Estat $ 61z $ —  $ — 3 612
Total Assets $ 383,14¢ % 289,20. $ 83,25¢ % 10,69

@
(b)

(©

(d)

(€)

This category comprised of two growth and two vaduiented portfolios of U.S. securities benchmarlgdinst the S&P 500 inde
This category consists of a portfolio of U.S. s@&®s benchmarked against the Russell 2000 index.

This category consists of two international mutiuedds benchmarked against the MSCI EAFE index. Thiggory also includ
individual foreign equity holdings in the CW PensiBlan.

This category is comprised primarily of global @gundex mutual funds associated with the U.K. ldgsension plans.

This category consists of three balanced fundscéssa with the Canadian and U.K. based pensionspteamposed, in aggreg:
of approximately 50% equities and 50% fixed incazrash.
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Valuation

This category consists of a portfolio of domesibied income securities benchmarked against thel®arcapital Aggregate Bo
Index, with the majority of the portfolio compriseflcorporate bond:

This category consists of an actively-managed bondual fund comprised of domestic investment-grdeét, fixedincome
derivatives, and below investm-grade issue:

This category consists of U.S. mortgage backedrigmsy asset backed securities, municipal bonad,canvertible deb

These categories consist of bond mutual funds ristitutional investors associated with the CW RamdPlan as well as ¢
Switzerland and U.K. based pension plz

These categories consist of bond index mutual fliadmstitutional investors in the U.K. aiming ¢apture the returns of the iBc
and NoI-Gilt indices for corporates and the FTSE A indexgovernment bonds (gilts

This category consists of a guaranteed investnamttact (GIC) in Switzerland. Amounts contributedthe plan are guaranteed
a foundation for occupational benefits that in tarered into a group insurance contract and thedation pays a guaranteed
of interest that is reset annual

This category consists of real estate investmestgrin Switzerlanc

Equity securities and exchangraded equity and bond mutual funds are valuedguaimarket approach based on the quoted marketspoi
identical instruments. Pooled institutional funds @alued at their net asset values and are c#cuby the sponsor of the fund.

Fixed income securities are primarily valued usingnarket approach utilizing various underlying mgcsources and methodologies. F
estate investment trusts are priced at net astgt based on valuations of the underlying realtedtaldings using inputs such as discou
cash flows, independent appraisals, and markethas®aparable data.

Cash balances in the United States are held iroke¢pdund and classified as a Level 2 asset. Ndi-cash is valued using a market appr
based on quoted market prices of identical instnime

The following table presents a reconciliation ofrek3 assets held during the year ended Decemh&032 and 2011:

Insuranct
Real
Contract: Estate Total
December 31, 201 $ 890 $ 797 $ 9,70(
Actual return on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting « 18¢ 33 221
Relating to assets sold during the pe! — 3 3
Purchases, sales, and settlem 1,092 (230) 862
Transfers in and/or out of Level — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustm: (102 9 (93
December 31, 201 $ 10,08 $ 61z $ 10,69!
Actual return on plan asse
Relating to assets still held at the reporting « 151 42 19z
Relating to assets sold during the pel — — —
Purchases, sales, and settlem 42¢ 57 48€
Transfers in and/or out of Level — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustm 25€ 17 273
December 31, 201 $ 10917 $ 726 $ 11,64¢
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Benefit Payments

The following benefit payments, which reflect extgetfuture service, as appropriate, are expectée faid from the plans:

Postretiremet

Pension

(In thousands Plans Plans Total

2013 $ 41,15¢ $ 1698 % 42,85
2014 43,99. 1,671 45,66:
2015 45,58 1,657 47,23¢
2016 47,84: 1,622 49,46t
2017 48,08¢ 1,61¢ 49,70
2018- 2022 269,06: 7,83¢ 276,89

Other Pension and Postretirement Plans

The Corporation offers all of its domestic emplaydbe opportunity to participate in a defined citmttion plan. Costs incurred by 1
Corporation in the administration and record kegpif the defined contribution plan are paid forthg Corporation and are not considt
material.

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensiostsainder various defined contribution plans o8%illion, $3.7 million, and $2.8 million
2012, 2011, and 2010, respectively.

19. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operaifnom leased facilities, which include manufaatgriand service facilities, administrat
offices, and warehouses. In addition, the Corpondigéases vehicles, machinery, and office equipmeder operating leases. The leases e
at various dates and may include renewals andasma. Rental expenses for all operating leasesuated to $35.6 million in 2012, $3.
million in 2011, and $31.2 million in 2010.

At December 31, 2012, the approximate future mimmrental commitments under operating leases thaé fwitial or remaining non-
cancelable lease terms in excess of one year dof@ss:

Rental
(In thousands Commitment
2013 $ 31,18(
2014 27,33¢
2015 24,04¢
2016 20,29(
2017 17,23(
Thereaftel 80,70(
Total $ 200,78

99



20. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Corporation manages and evaluates its opesatiased on the products and services it offerstandifferent markets it serves. Basel
this approach, the Corporation has three reportsddgnents: Flow Control, Controls, and Surface mekdgies. The Flow Control segm
primarily designs, manufactures, distributes, aevises a broad range of highly engineered flowtrmbrproducts including valves, pum
motors, generators, instrumentation, and contrettebnics for severe service military and commérajaplications. The Controls segm
primarily designs, develops, and manufactures nméchhsystems, drive systems, and missidtieal embedded computing products
sensors mainly for the aerospace and defense ieisSurface Technologies provides various megiltal services, principally shot peeni
laser peening, coatings, anodizing, heat treatimbjaamalytical services. The segment provides thesdces to a broad spectrum of custome
various industries, including aerospace, automegtivastruction equipment, oil and gas, petrochelnécal metal working.

The accounting policies of the operating segmeresitze same as those described in the summarygwifisant accounting policies. Inter
expense and income taxes are not reported on amtimge segment basis because they are not condidierthe segmentsperformanc
evaluation by the Corporation’s Chairman and CESxlief operating decision-maker.

During 2012, 2011, and 2010, the Corporation haddimect defense customer or commercial customeresgmting more than 10%
consolidated revenue.

December 31

2012 2011 2010
(In thousands

Net sales

Flow Control $1,095,34° $1,060,78  $1,024,86
Controls 735,08! 714,30¢ 645,58
Surface Technologie 277,43( 247,98 190,98:
Less: Intersegment Revent (10,149 (6,34)) (6,91¢€)
Total Consolidate: $2,097,711  $2,016,74; $1,854,51

Operating income (expense

Flow Control $ 78,77¢ $ 103,42. $ 104,39:
Controls 86,51! 75,42 74,17
Surface Technologie 27,49: 31,47¢ 18,94:
Corporate and Eliminatior{® (31,34) (23,466 (30,820)
Total Consolidate: $ 161,44t $ 18685 $ 166,68!

Depreciation and amortization expenst

Flow Control $ 4209 $ 37617 $ 35,08¢
Controls 31,96¢ 30,72« 27,90:!
Surface Technologie 17,45¢ 18,09¢ 15,49¢
Corporate 2,37¢ 1,86( 1,45¢
Total Consolidate: $ 93,89 $ 8830( $ 79,94¢

Segment asset

Flow Control $1,417,04  $1,257,14; $1,102,41
Controls 1,365,11. 1,016,93! 864,19
Surface Technologie 302,07¢ 286,08 233,35t
Corporate 30,35( 75,38t 33,17:
Total Consolidate $3,11458  $2,635,54  $2,233,14

Capital expenditures

Flow Control $ 2761 $ 3465 $ 18,79
Controls 25,19¢ 32,83¢ 17,96°
Surface Technologie 24,40¢ 14,57: 13,88
Corporate 5,73¢ 2,25¢€ 2,12

Total Consolidate: $ 8295 $ 8432 $ 52,76¢




(1) Corporate and Eliminations includes pensioreasg, environmental remediation and administratkgenses, legal, foreign currency
transactional gains and losses, and other expenses.
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Reconciliations

December 31

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands
Earnings before taxes:
Total segment operating incor $ 192,78 $ 210,32( $ 197,50
Corporate and administrati (31,347 (23,46¢) (30,82()
Interest expens (26,329 (20,839 (22,107
Other income, ne 24t 862 57t
Total consolidated earnings before $ 13536: $ 166,88 $ 145,15:
Assets:
Total assets for reportable segme $3,084,231  $2,560,16. $2,199,97
Non-segment cas 55( 227 29¢
Other asset 29,80( 75,15¢ 32,87
Total consolidated asse $3,114,58. $2,635,54  $2,233,14
Geographic Information

December 31

2012 2011 2010

(In thousands
Revenues
United States of Americ $1,451,160  $1,409,35. $1,302,13
United Kingdom 153,09: 139,00: 115,33:
Canade 83,02} 81,49¢ 58,85!
Other foreign countrie 410,43 386,88 378,19:
Consolidated tote $2,097,711  $2,016,74. $1,854,51
Long-Lived Assets
United States of Americ $ 352,61! $ 327,98 $ 284,71
United Kingdom 43,34. 38,85¢ 39,47¢
Canad: 31,74( 31,91« 33,57¢
Other foreign countrie 61,897 43,96¢ 39,18¢
Consolidated tote $ 489,59: $ 442,72t $ 396,96.
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21. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Legal Proceedings

In July 2012, the Corporation reached a settleriretiie amount of $5.2 million with a former exeeetiwith regards to a gender bias law
filed in 2003. The settlement was paid during thiedt quarter of 2012. All payments to settle thasv$uit have been made and no fur
payments are required.

The Corporation has been named in a number of itsvthat allege injury from exposure to asbestas.date, the Corporation has not k
found liable for or paid any material sum of mornieysettlement in any case. The Corporation beliétgeminimal use of asbestos in our |
and current operations and the relatively friaisle condition of asbestos in our products makeslikely that it will face material liabilityri
any asbestos litigation, whether individually ortlre aggregate. The Corporation maintains insurangerage for these potential liabilities
believes adequate coverage exists to cover anytigipated asbestos liability.

The Corporation is party to a number of legal artiand claims, none of which individually or in thggregate, in the opinion of managen
are expected to have a material effect on the Catipn’s results of operations or financial positio

Letters of Credit and Other Arrangements

The Corporation enters into standby letters of itregreements and guarantees with financial irtgtitg and customers primarily relating
guarantees of repayment on certain Industrial Reed&onds, future performance on certain contracigaovide products and services, an
secure advance payments the Corporation has relciiwm certain international customers. At Decemiier2012 and 2011, the Corpora
had contingent liabilities on outstanding lettefsm@dit of $51.8 million and $55.8 million, respieely.

AP1000 Program

The Corporation’s Electrtechanical Division is the reactor coolant pump BB Gupplier for the Westinghouse AP1000 nucleargrguiant:
under construction in China and the United Stafbs.first two RCPs under the China AP1000 progrhipped during the third quarter of 2(
and the following two RCPs shipped during the fouqtiarter of 2012. These shipments were delayedhatould subject the Corporatior
liquidated damage penalties. However, the Corpamabelieves that all future delivery dates will fewised to mitigate any performance
and that adequate legal defenses exist shouldigdited damages claim be alleged against the Catipor Currently, there has not been
threat, allegation, or claim for liquidated damag@ased upon the information available, the Corfionadoes not believe that the ultim
outcome will result in a material impact to itsukts of operations, financial condition, or castwfk.

U.S. Government Defense Budget/Sequestration

In August 2011, the Budget Control Act (the Acthannced a reduction in the DoD top line budget pgraximately $490 billion over :
years starting in 2013. Furthermore, in June 282 Office of Management and Budget announcedttieabudget for Overseas Continge
Operations and any unobligated balances in priar ftends will also be included in aggregate redundi In addition, further mandatory buc
cuts (or sequestration) as outlined in the Act werde implemented starting on January 2, 2013. éd&w on January 1, 2013, Cong
elected to delay the impact of sequestration atieast March 1, 2013, and these cuts will autarally be implemented if an agreement
not been reached by March 27, 2013. Sequestratiold ¢ead to additional reductions of approximat®800 billion from the Pentagam'tof
line budget over the next decade, resulting in egage reductions of about $1 trillion over 10 yedise DoD has taken the position that ¢
reductions would generate significant operatioisdsrand may require the termination of certainyetsundetermined, procurement progre
As a result, various proposals have surfaced rgnigom $100-$500 billion in budget cuts to the yigar DoD budget. Any reduction in lev
of DoD spending, cancellations or delays impactxgsting contracts or programs, including througluestration, could have a mate
impact on the Corporation’s results of operatidimancial position and or cash flows.
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22. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Total cumulative balance of each component of acdatad other comprehensive income (loss), netgfisaas follows:

Foreign Total pension
currency and Accumulated
translation postretirement other
adjustments, adjustments, comprehensiv
(In thousands net net income (loss
December 31,201 $ 58,24( $ (61,05) $ (2,819
Current period other comprehensive incc (18,477 (43,84¢) (62,319
December 31,201 $ 39,76¢  $ (104,899 $ (65,13
Current period other comprehensive incc 25,95« (16,33) 9,62:
December 31,201 $ 65,72: $ (121,230 $ (55,50¢)

23. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

The information for the first two quarters and foerth quarter of the year ended December 31, 2GKlbeen restated to correct the e
discussed in Note 2, Correction of Prior PeriobErin addition, as discussed in Note 3, Discorgth@®perations, the Corporation sold its
treating business in the first quarter of 2012. Tésults of the heat treating business are refleatediscontinued operations for all per
presented.

(In thousands, except per share de First Seconc Third Fourth
2012

Net sales $ 501,66 $ 526,38 $ 479,22 $ 590,44
Gross profit 159,27: 164,00° 141,41¢ 194,04
Earnings from continuing operatio 19,84: 22,83t 11,44: 38,16¢
Earnings (loss) from discontinued operati 21,47( (95) (1449 324
Net earning: 41,31: 22,74( 11,29¢ 38,49

Basic earnings per shal

Earnings from continuing operatio $ 04z $ 04¢ $ 024 $ 0.82
Earnings from discontinued operatic 0.4€ — — =
Total $ 08t $ 04¢ $ 024  $ 0.82
Diluted earnings per shar
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 04z % 04¢  $ 024 $ 0.81
Earnings from discontinued operatic 0.4t — — —
Total $ 087 % 0.4t  $ 024  $ 0.81
2011
Net sales $ 450,79¢ $ 506,34¢ $ 509,12( $ 550,47!
Gross profit 143,76t 164,17 167,33. 181,67:
Earnings from continuing operatio 21,42+ 29,04 31,87 36,28(
Earnings from discontinued operatic 1,54¢ 1,715 2,61¢ 1,88¢
Net earning: 22,97: 30,75¢ 34,49: 38,16¢
Basic earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 0.4¢ % 06: $ 06 $ 0.7¢
Earnings from discontinued operatic 0.0z 0.04 0.0t 0.0¢
Total $ 04¢ % 067 $ 074  $ 0.8Z
Diluted earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 04t  $ 0.6: $ 0.6¢ $ 0.77
Earnings from discontinued operatic 0.0¢ 0.04 0.0 0.0
Total $ 04¢ % 0.6 $ 0.7  $ 0.81
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The effect of correcting the errors discussed irteN®, Correction of Prior Period Error and the aspective reclassifications for -
discontinued operations of the heat treating bssirgs discussed in Note 3, on the quarterly restibperations for the first two quarters
the fourth quarter of the year ended December @1] Zare presented below:

For the three months ended December 31, 2011:

(In thousands)
Adjustments

Reclassification

of As
As previously discontinued reclassified
reportec Corrections operations and restate
Net sales $ 561,37¢ $ @,777 % (9,13) % 550,47!
Gross profit 187,55! (2,227) (3,65¢€) 181,67:
Earnings from continuing operatio 39,75 (1,587) (1,889 36,28(
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 1,88¢ 1,88¢
Net earnings 39,75 (1,587 — 38,16¢
Basic earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 0.8 $ 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.7¢
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 0.04 0.04
Total $ 08t % 0.09 % — 3 0.82
Diluted earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio $ 084 $ 0.0 % 0.0 s 0.77
Earnings from discontinued operatic — — 0.04 0.04
Total $ 08 % 0.09 % — 3 0.81
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For the three months ended June 30, 2011:

Net sales

Gross profit

Earnings from continuing operatio
Earnings from discontinued operatic
Net earning:

Basic earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio
Earnings from discontinued operatic
Total

Diluted earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio
Earnings from discontinued operatic
Total

For the three months ended March 31, 2011:

Net sales

Gross profit

Earnings from continuing operatio
Earnings from discontinued operatic
Net earning:

Basic earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio
Earnings from discontinued operatic
Total

Diluted earnings per share
Earnings from continuing operatio
Earnings from discontinued operatic
Total

* May not add due to rounding

(In thousands)
Adjustments

Reclassification

of As
As previously discontinued reclassified
reportec Corrections operations and restate
$ 514,90! $ 677 $ (9,239 $ 506,34¢
168,95 (1,409 (3,37¢) 164,17°
31,79¢ (1,037 (1,717 29,04:
— — 1,713 1,717
31,79¢ (1,037 — 30,75¢
$ 06 $ (0.02) % 0.0 s 0.6%
— — 0.04 0.04
$ 06 $ (0.02) % — 3 0.67
$ 0.6 $ 0.09) $ 0.0 s 0.62
— — 0.04 0.04
$ 0.6 $ 0.09) $ — $ 0.6€
(In thousands)
Adjustments
Reclassification
of As

As previously discontinued reclassified
reportec Corrections operations and restate

$ 461,85( $ (2,139 % 8,919 $ 450,79¢
148,96 (2,137) (3,06¢) 143,76¢
24,51¢ (1,549 (1,549 21,42¢

— — 1,54¢ 1,54¢

24,51¢ (1,549 — 22,97:

$ 05: $ 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.4¢€
— — 0.0z 0.0z

$ 05: $ 0.0 % — 3 0.4¢
$ 05z $ 0.0 % 0.0 % 0.4
— — 0.0z 0.0z

$ 05z $ 0.0 % — $ 0.4¢
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24, SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Phonix Group

On January 11, 2013, the Corporation entered intagrieement to acquire the Phonix Group (Phonipduish the acquisition of 100% of |
shares of Phonix Holding GmbH for approximate82&million ($106 million) in cash. Phonix, headoieaed in Germany, is a designer
manufacturer of high performance, sevsegvice valves, valve systems and related suppovices to the global chemical, petrochem
conventional power, and nuclear markets. The basingll become part of Curtiss-Wright's Flow Contsegment.

* k* k* % * %
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Report of the Corporation

The consolidated financial statements appearinteim 8 of this Annual Report on Form KDhave been prepared by the Corporatic
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. The findnsiatements necessarily include s
amounts that are based on the best estimates @gahgunts of the Corporation. Other financial infotima in this Annual Report on Form 10-
is consistent with that in the financial statements

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, ghaees, and internal accounting controls designegdrtwide reasonable assurance
assets are safeguarded and that transactions ecated in accordance with the appropriate corpa@atBorization and are properly recorc
The accounting systems and internal accountingraisnare augmented by written policies and procesluorganizational structure provid
for a division of responsibilities, selection arrdiing of qualified personnel, and an internal iaylogram. The design, monitoring, ¢
revision of internal accounting control systemsoine, among other things, managemsrjtidgment with respect to the relative cost
expected benefits of specific control measures. ddament of the Corporation has completed an asses$swh the Corporatios’ interna
controls over financial reporting and has includgdnagement’'s Annual Report on Internal Control OF&ancial Reportingin Item 9A o
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registeratlic accounting firm, performed an integrated auafi the Corporatiors financia
statements that also included forming an opiniomheninternal controls over financial reportingtloé Corporation for the year ended Decer
31, 2012. An audit includes examining, on a tesid)sevidence supporting the amounts and disclesaréhe financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princigded and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. The objective of their taisdihe expression of an opinion on the fairngsthe Corporatiors financial statements
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America, in all mateespects, and on the internal coni
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2012.

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, camspd entirely of directors who are independenthef €Corporation, appoints 1
independent registered public accounting firm faification by stockholders and, among other thirgmsiders the scope of the indepen
registered public accounting firgi’examination, the audit results, and the adeqoédgternal accounting controls of the Corporatidine
independent registered public accounting firm dmal internal auditor have direct access to the AGdimmittee, and they meet with
committee from time to time, with and without maeagent present, to discuss accounting, auditing, anatit consulting services, inter
control, and financial reporting matters.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Parsippany, New Jersey

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balameets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsiel (the “Company”as o
December 31, 2012 and 2011, and the related cdasetl statements of earnings, comprehensive incatoekholdersequity, and cash flov
for each of the three years in the period endeceber 31, 2012. Our audits also included the firustatement schedule listed in the Inde
Item 15. These financial statements and finant¢@kement schedule are the responsibility of the amg’'s management. Our responsibilit
to express an opinion on these financial statenmmdinancial statement schedule based on outsaudi

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBiogUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disads in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, timaricial position of the Company at Decen
31, 2012 and 2011, and the results of their opmratand their cash flows for each of the threes/gathe period ended December 31, 201
conformity with accounting principles generally apted in the United States of America. Also, in opinion, such financial statem
schedule, when considered in relation to the bamisolidated financial statements taken as a wipoésents fairly, in all material respects,
information set forth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@united States), the Company’
internal control over financial reporting as of Bawer 31, 2012, based on the criteria establishéatérnal Control—ntegrated Framewol
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatwinthe Treadway Commission and our report dateorlery 21, 2013 expressed
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal cohtiver financial reporting.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 21, 2013
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Parsippany, New Jersey

We have audited the internal control over finanoigdorting of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and suligés (the “Company”as of Decemb:
31, 2012, based on criteria establishethternal Control — Integrated Frameworiésued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifribe
Treadway Commission. As described in ManagermseAtinual Report on Internal Control Over Finanéaporting, management exclu
from its assessment the internal control over fim@reporting at Cimarron Energy, Inc., AP SergiceLC, PG Drives Technology, Williar
Controls, Exlar Corporation, and F.W. Gartner Thar@praying, Ltd (collectively the “Acquired Bussses”)which were acquired during t
year ended December 31, 2012 and whose financiténsents constitute 18.5% of total assets and hD%venues of the consolida
financial statement amounts as of and for the pealed December 31, 2012. Accordingly, our auditrditlinclude the internal control o
financial reporting at the Acquired Businesses. Thmmpanys management is responsible for maintaining effecinternal control ov
financial reporting and for its assessment of tffecéveness of internal control over financial ogjing, included in the accompany
Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control OFerancial Reporting. Our responsibility is to eags an opinion on the Compasy’
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversight@d&nited States). Those stand:
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting w
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal cordgr@r financial reporting, assessing the
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiafuthe design and operating effectiveness ofivalecontrol based on the assessed risk
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis fol
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidi the compang’ principal executiv
and principal financial officers, or persons pemiorg similar functions, and effected by the companyoard of directors, management,
other personnel to provide reasonable assuranegdieg the reliability of financial reporting anket preparation of financial statements
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles. A compasyhternal control over financial reporting inclg
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaihéaraintenance of records that, in reasonablel dataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypi@jide reasonable assurance that transactionee@weded as necessary to permit prepar
of financial statements in accordance with gengi@dcepted accounting principles, and that receiptsexpenditures of the company are t
made only in accordance with authorizations of mgan@ent and directors of the company; and (3) peov&hsonable assurance regar
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asijjon, use, or disposition of the compasiyssets that could have a material effect o
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internal tcohover financial reporting, including the posstlp of collusion or improper managem
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of ¢
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoginover financial reporting to future periods aebject to the risk that the controls r
become inadequate because of changes in conditiotisat the degree of compliance with the polideprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over fical reporting as of December 31, 2(
based on the criteria establishedlnternal Control — Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatminthe
Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), the consolida
financial statements and financial statement sdieeds of and for the year ended December 31, 201BeoCompany and our report de
February 21, 2013 expressed an unqualified opiaiothose financial statements and financial stat¢sehedule.

/sl Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 21, 2013
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| tem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountambn Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
| tem 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s managenecluding the Corporatios’ Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Oéfy
conducted an evaluation of the Corporation’s dswle controls and procedures, as such term isatkfinRules 13a-15(e) and 138(e) unde
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended“Bkchange Act”). Based on such evaluation, thepG@tion’s Chief Executive Office
and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Gogtion’s disclosure controls and procedures are effeavaf December 31, 2012 insofa
they are designed to ensure that information requio be disclosed by us in the reports that we dil submit under the Exchange Ac
recorded, processed, summarized and reported nvifibitime periods specified in the Commisssoniles and forms, and they include, witt
limitation, controls and procedures designed tauenshat information required to be disclosed byruthe reports we file or submit under
Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated tontamagement, including our principal executive anicicipal financial officers, «
persons performing similar functions, as appropriatallow timely decisions regarding required ltisare.

Managemens Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finan&aborting

The Corporatiors management is responsible for establishing aridtaiaing adequate internal control over financigborting, as defined
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securleshange Act of 1934, as amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtvver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of
future effectiveness of controls currently deeméfdctive are subject to the risk that controls nieecome inadequate because of chanc
conditions or deterioration in the degree of coammutie with the policies or procedures.

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated findrsta&tements, the corporation acquired Cimarronr@ndnc., AP Services, LLC, PG Driv
Technology, Williams Controls, Exlar CorporatiomdaF.W. Gartner Thermal Spraying, Ltd. during tlearth quarter of the year enc
December 31, 2012. These acquisitions with combieskts and current year revenue at December 32, @2present 18.5% and 1.(
respectively of the consolidated financial staten@nounts, and have been excluded from managesnassessment of internal control ¢
financial reporting.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effaetigeof the Corporatios'internal control over financial reporting as oéd@mber 3:
2012. In making this assessment, the Corporatioranagement used the criteria established by ¢hent@ittee of Sponsoring Organization:
the Treadway Commission in Internal Control-IntégdaFramework.

Based on managemesitassessment, excluding the acquired companiega@feo in the third paragraph, management beli¢kies as c
December 31, 2012, the Corporation’s internal @rdver financial reporting is effective based ba established criteria.

The Corporatiors internal controls over financial reporting as[@#cember 31, 2012 have been audited by Deloitteo&icie LLP, a
independent registered public accounting firm, tn@dr report thereon is included in Item 8 of tAisnual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repartin

There were no changes in the Corporasomternal control over financial reporting durittte most recently completed fiscal quarter
materially affected, or are reasonably likely tatenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

| tem 9B. Other Information.
None.
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PART I

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 1% 44 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KQ+to the extent not set forth herein
incorporated herein by reference from the registsadefinitive proxy statement relating to the annmaleting of stockholders to be held
May 10, 2013 which definitive proxy statement shwlfiled with the Securities and Exchange Commissiithin 120 days after the end of
fiscal year to which this report relates. Informatirequired by Item 401(b) of RegulationKSis included in Part | of this report under
caption “Executive Officers” and information recgdr by Item 201(d) of RegulationSis included in Part Il of this report under thaptior
“Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equityrpensation Plans”.

P ART IV
| tem 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(8) Financial Statements and Footnc Page
1. The following are documents filed as part of tlepart in Part 11, Iltem €
Consolidated Statements of Earnil 50
Consolidated Statements of Other Comprehensivaria 51
Consolidated Balance She 52
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl¢ 53
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity 54
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 55
2. Financial Statement Schedi
Schedule —Valuation and Qualifying Accoun 117

All other financial statement schedules have benitted because they are either not required, ngolicgble or the
required information is shown in the ConsolidatétbRcial Statements or Notes there

(b) Exhibits
Incorporated by Referent Filed
Exhibit
No. Exhibit Descriptior Form Filing Date Herewith

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated as of 8-K February 3, 2005

February 1, 2005, by and between the RegistranCadidVerger

Sub, Inc.
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpora 8-A/A May 24, 200t
3.2 Amended and Restated -Laws 8-K March 23, 201:
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3.3
4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

Form of stock certificate for Common Stc

Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon reqaesipy of
any long-term debt instrument where the amounhefsecurities
authorized thereunder does not exceed 10% of thkassets of th
Registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidasesist

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Long- Tdnoentive
Plan, amended and restated effective January 0, 2(

Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, betwéee
Registrant and the executive officers of the Regst*

Revised Standard Employment Severance AgreememiSetior
Management of the Registran

Amended and Restated Retirement Benefits RestarBian as
amended January 1, 200!

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Redtat
Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amendashdaid, 2009.

Amended and Restated Curtlgight Corporation Retirement PI
and Instrument of Amendment No. 1, as amended ¢frdanuary
1, 2010. *

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended anst&ed
CurtissWright Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedalgnu
2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to the Amended anst&ed
CurtissWright Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedalgnu
2010.*
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10-K

14A

10-K

10-Q

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

November 17, 200
December 31, 1985

March 19, 2010

March 7, 2006

August 15, 2001

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012




10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

Instrument of Amendment No. 4 to the Amended anstd&ed
CurtissWright Corporation Retirement Plan, as amendedalgnu
2010.*

Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiorirgavand
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 20:

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Restated ameér#ded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Restated ameérded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.

Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to the Restated ameérided
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.

Instrument of Amendment No. 4 to the Restated ameded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.

Form of indemnification Agreement entered into by Registrant
with each of its director

Amended and Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Meatani
Corporation Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2C

Instrument of Amendment No.1 to the Amended andd®ed
Curtiss-Wright Electrdviechanical Corporation Savings Plan, di
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 20

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended anst&ed
Curtiss-Wright Electrdviechanical Corporation Savings Plan, di
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 20
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10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-Q

10-K

10-K

February 25, 2011

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012

February 24, 2012

May 7, 2012

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012




10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

10.26

10.27

10.28
10.29

10.30

10.31

Instrument of Amendment No.3 to the Amended andd®ed
Curtiss-Wright Electrdviechanical Corporation Savings Plan, di
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 20

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for Nemployee
Directors.*

Amended and Revised Curtiss-Wright Corporation bHxge
Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended Novembér*?

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Amended andisee
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred Comgeion
Plan, as amended August 200

Change In Control Severance Protection Agreemeatg¢ddiuly 9,
2001, between the Registrant and Chief Executifie€@fof the
Registrant.*

Letter Agreement dated March 20, 2012 between Reagisand
Chief Executive Officer of the Registran

Standard Change In Control Severance Protectiorekgent, date
July 9, 2001, between the Registrant and Key Exezsibf the
Registrant.*

Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betweeR@&gistrant
and PNC Bank, National Associatior

Consulting Agreement, dated April 30, 2010, betwien
Registrant and Edward Bloom

Curtiss-Wright Corporation Employee Stock Purchase Pl

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registranteatain
Institutional Investors, dated September 25, 2i

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note Pwegreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutionattors, dated
September 25, 200

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registranteatain
Institutional Investors, dated December 1, 2(
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14A

10-K

10-K

10-Q

8-K

10-Q

10-Q

10-Q

14A
8-K

8-K

8-K

April 5, 2005

February 27, 2007

February 24, 2012

November 15, 200

March 23, 2012

November 15, 200

May 13, 1998

May 8, 2009

March 24, 201:
October 3, 2003

October 3, 2003

December 5, 2005




10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

21
23
31.1

31.2

32

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note Pwegreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutione¢$tors, dated
December 1, 200!

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registranteatain
Institutional Investors, dated December 8, 2(

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note Pwegreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutione¢$tors, dated
December 8, 201!

Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended Novemh@01B. *

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobel0962by and
between the Registrant and David Lintor

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2P8;7, by and
between the Registrant and David Lintor

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobel0962 by and
between the Registrant and David Adam

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe2P8;7, by and
between the Registrant and David Adam

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement datexd August
9, 2012 among the Registrant, and Certain Subgdias
Borrowers; the Lenders parties thereto; Bank of Acae N.A., as
Administrative Agent; Swingline Lender, and L/Cuss; J.P.
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Wells Fargo, N.A.Sgsdication
Agents; and RBS Citizens, N.A., as Documentatioe s

Subsidiaries of the Registra
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing.

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@;FPursuant t
Rule 13z 14(a).

Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfioér, Pursuant
to Rule 13& 14(a).

Certification of Martin R. Benante, Chairman and@&nd Glenn
E. Tynan, Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to L&IC. Section
1350.

Indicates contract or compensatory plan or arrareg
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8-K

8-K

8-K

14A

8-K

8-K

8-K

8-K

December 5, 2005

December 13, 2011

December 13, 2011

March 24, 201

November 11, 200

October 25, 2007

October 16, 2006

October 25, 2007

August 13, 2012




101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

XBRL Instance Documert

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent
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C URTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
S CHEDULE Il — VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011, ab@d 20

(In thousands)

Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Other

Beginning of Costs and Accounts Deductions Balance at
Description Period Expense:! (Describe) (Describe) End of Periot
Deducted from assets to which they ap
December 31, 201
Reserves for inventory obsolescel 48,54’ 11,84: $ 3,111 ¢ 13,16(® $ 50,33:
Reserves for doubtful accout 6,88( 5,301 557A) 5,72©) 7,01¢
Tax valuation allowanc 5,51¢ 1,665 1,346R — 8,531
Total 60,94t 18,80¢ % 501t % 18,89: % 65,87
December 31, 201
Reserves for inventory obsolesce! 41,59¢ 12,03¢ $ 1,946A ¢ 7,035®) ¢ 48,54,
Reserves for doubtful accout 3,977 4,25¢ 83€A) 2,18¢C) 6,88(
Tax valuation allowanc 4,97¢ 432 1124 — 5,51¢
Total 50,54 16,72¢ % 28% % 9,221 % 60,94¢
December 31, 201
Reserves for inventory obsolesce! 39,73¢ 14,47:  $ 7827 ¢ 13,39 ® ¢ 41,59¢
Reserves for doubtful accout 3,997 2,75¢ 50 2,82¢C) 3,97:
Tax valuation allowanc 5,92¢ (85¢) (92) W — 4,97¢
Total 49,66( 16,36" $ 74C $ 16,22¢ $ 50,54:
Notes:

(A)  Primarily amounts acquired from business combimat@nd currency translation adjustme

(B)  Write-off and sale of obsolete invento

(C)  Write-off of bad debt and collections on previously resdraccounts
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S IGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 16{dhe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registhas duly caused this report tc
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatyp authorized.

CURTISSWRIGHT CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and CE!(

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bblpthe following persons on behalf of
Registrant and in the capacities and on the dathsdted.

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynar
Chief Financial Office

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Glenn Colema

Glenn Colemai
Controller

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Dean M. Flat

Dean M. Flat
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ S. Marce Fulle

S. Marce Fulle
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Allen A. Kozinski

Allen A. Kozinski
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ John R. Myer

John R. Myer:
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ John B. Nathma

John B. Nathma
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Robert J. Rive

Robert J. Rive
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ William W. Sihlet

William W. Sihler
Director

Date: February 21, 201 By: /s/ Albert E. Smitt

Albert E. Smith



Director
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

THIRD INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has hefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retient Plan (the “Plan”) and has
caused the Plan to be amended and restated imtiitstg, effective as of January 1, 20.

2. The Plan consists of two separate components: M2 Eomponent, which applies to eligible employee€ortiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation as provided in the EMD apipeto the Plan, and the CWC Component, which &gpid other employees
eligible to participate in the Pla

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the tARCompany has decided to amend the CWC Compoh#re Plan for the
following reasons

a. To eliminate the joint and 66-2/3% survivor annwtyan optional form of payment, including the optio receive one-half of the
benefit in the form of the joint and -2/3% survivor annuity and o-half in the form of a lump sum payme

b. To add as new payment options a 20-year certaidifenannuity and a joint and survivor annuity wat20-year certain and life
guarantee; an

c. Toreflect the terms of an agreement between Metatovement Company, Inc. and the InternationalddnUnited Automobile,
Aerospace and Agricultural Implement Workers of Aitee (UAW) and its Local Union No. 1588 (collectlyghe “Union”) that
provides for improving benefits for participantsawvere represented by the Union and employed aEthembus, Ohio facility of
Metal Improvement Company, Inc. on April 2, 201 tate of the sale of certain assets of Metal dvgment Company, Inc. to
Bodycote LLC, including the Columbus, Ohio facili

4. Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the CWC Component petinei Company to amend the Plan, by written insénoimat any time and from tir
to time.

5. Article 11.02(b) of the CWC Component authorizes @urtiss-Wright Corporation Administrative Comreétto adopt certain Plan
amendments on behalf of the Compe




Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to tissrument of Amendment, the CWC Component of tla@ B hereby amended in the following
respects.

1. Effective for annuity starting dates on or aftelydy 2012, Article 7.02(b) of the CWC Componenaimended by deleting clauses (i)
through (iv) and replacing them with the followipgpvisions:

(i) a Life Annuity payable monthly to the Participa

(i) an immediate joint and survivor annuity commenangpr after the Participant’'s Early Retirement Datedate of termination of
employment, if later, that provides a reduced migritienefit payable to the Participant for life anda surviving named contingent
annuitant for the lifetime of the contingent ananitin an amount equal to 50 percent, 75 percenltQ0 percent (as elected by the
Participant) of the amount payable during the Bigidin’s lifetime;

(i) a 2(C-year certain and life annuity, as described in granah (d);

(iv) ajoint and survivor annuity with a -year certain and life guarantee, as describedriagpaph (e)

(v) alump sum payment, provided the amount of the lesmp payment at the Annuity Starting Date exce&d30B; or

(vi) one-half (1/2) as a lump sum payment and-half (1/2) as a Life Annuity or a joint and survivannuity available under (i

2.  Effective for annuity starting dates on or aftelyJly 2012, Article 7.02 of the CWC Component iseantied by adding new paragraphs
and (e) to read as follow

(d) A 20-year certain and life annuity is a reduced thiyrbenefit payable for the life of the Participaand if he dies before receiving
240 monthly payments, payments shall continueed™rticipant’s designated Beneficiary until altofe240 monthly payments
have been mad

(i) If a Beneficiary dies after payments begin to tlea&ficiary, but before a total of 240 payments Haaen made to the
Participant and the Beneficiary, the Actuarial Bglgnt value of the remaining payments shall bd paa single lump sum !
the Beneficiar’'s estate

(i)  If the Participant dies before receiving 240 mopthdyments and there is no surviving designatecefigary, the Actuarial
Equivalent value of the remaining payments shalbdid in a single lump sum to the Particif' s estate

In no event shall a Participant be entitled to teée20-year certain and life annuity if the guaemat payment period exceeds the
maximum period allowed under Treasury Regulatiatise 1.401(a)(¢-6.
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(e) Ajoint and survivor annuity with a 20-year certaind life guarantee is a reduced monthly benefiaipke to the Participant for life

and to a surviving named contingent annuitanttierlifetime of the contingent annuitant in an antagual to 50 percent, 75
percent, or 100 percent (as elected by the Paatitjmf the amount payable during the Participdifésime. If the Participant and
contingent annuitant both die before a total of 8#ihthly payments have been made, the Plan shahll panefit equal to the
Actuarial Equivalent value of the monthly survivmenefit payable to the contingent annuitant foedaqa equal to 240 minus the
total number of monthly payments made to the Apetit and the joint annuitant. This benefit shallgaid in a single lump sum

(i) one or more Beneficiaries designated by the Ppatitt or
(i) if there is no surviving designated Beneficiarng #state of the Participant or contingent annyitahoever is the last to di

In no event shall a Participant be entitled to tedejoint and survivor annuity with a 20-year certand life guarantee if the
guaranteed payment period exceeds the maximumdpaitmved under Treasury Regulation section 1.409)-6.

3.  Effective April 2, 2012, Article 9.02 of the CWC @ponent is amended by adding a new paragraph @it as follows

(i)

Metal Improvement Company, LLEColumbus DivisionThe following provisions shall apply to any Paipant described in

Section 9.01 who, as of April 2, 2012, is emplogtthe Columbus, Ohio facility of Metal Improvemé&umpany, LLC and
represented for purposes of collective bargaininthie International Union, United Automobile, Agpase and Agricultural
Implement Workers of America (UAW) and its Localibm No. 1588 (¢ Columbus Participa”).

(A) Each Columbus Participant shall be 100% vestedsihdnefits without regard to his Vesting Yearsefvice.

(B) For purposes of determining all benefits payabléeurthe Plan, the Credited Service for any Coluniarsicipant shall
include the period through December 31, 2(

(C) For purposes of determining eligibility for eargtirement benefits under Article 9.02(b), any Cdbwus Participant who
attains age 55 before December 31, 2013 shall &mee to be age 55 on April 2, 2012, provided thatd event shall any
such Columbus Participant be entitled to receiperssion commencing before the first day of the imdollowing his 55th
birthday.




Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force affect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2012,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

FOURTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:
1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has hefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retient Plan (the “Plan’gnd ha

caused the Plan to be amended and restated imtiitste effective as of January 1, 20:

2. The Plan consists of two separate components: MB Eomponent, which applies to eligible employeésCartiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation as provided in the EMD apjpeto the Plan (the “EMD Component’gnd the CWC Component, which app
to other employees eligible to participate in thenRthe CWC Componer”).

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, the Company has decided to artfen€WC Component for t
following reasons

a. To reflect the terms of a new collective bargainamgeement covering employees of the Compaigrget Rock operations thal
increases their benefit formula with respect toditesl service earned on or after January 1, 20448, (&) excludes from Ple
participation any such represented employee hiredlored by, or transferred to, such operatiotsraecember 31, 201

b.  To provide that certain former employees of Permy @iles Drive Technologies and AP Services, LLEeree prior service cre(
for eligibility and vesting purpose

c. To provide that employees at the Compamgcently acquired Cimarron Energy operationsfaatlities receive prior service cre
for eligibility and vesting purposes, but are nligible to participate in the Plan while employddsach operations and facilitie

d. To provide that if any participant entitled to aatte benefit dies with his estate as beneficiaryetivr or not the participant is
active employment, the death benefit (which is pé&y@nly in a lump sum) will be calculated assumiing beneficiary is the sal
age as the participar

e. To address recent regulatory guidance regardinginefundingbased restrictions applicable to qualified defilehefit pensio
plans; anc

f.  To make clarifying changes that correct certairss-references
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4.  Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, the Company has decided to artten&EMD Component for tl
following reasons
a. To reflect the terms of certain collective bargainagreements between the Company and the IBEW @li},-Local 1914, and tl
Association of Westinghouse Salaried Employeed, phavide for the exclusion from the EMD Componefitall collectively
bargained Employees (i) who are hired or rehireddnytransferred to, an Employer on or before Dduem31, 2013, and do t
timely elect to participate in the EMD Componerfieefive on or before January 1, 2014; or (ii) whe hired or rehired by,
transferred to, an Employer on or after Januag014;
b. To provide for the exclusion from the EMD Componehtll other Employees (i) who are hired or retil®y, or transferred to,
Employer on or before December 31, 2013, and datin@ly elect to participate in the EMD Componeffeetive on or befor
January 1, 2014; or (ii) who are hired or rehirgddr transferred to, an Employer on or after Janta2014; anc
c. To address recent regulatory guidance regardiniginefundingbased restrictions applicable to qualified defimexhefit pensio
plans.
5. Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the CWC Component pethd Company to amend the CWC Component, by wirittsolution, at any tin
and from time to time
6. Article 11.02(b) of the CWC Component authorizes fdministrative Committee under the Plan to admgtain CWC Compone
amendments on behalf of the Compe
7. Section 18.A of the EMD Component permits the Comypacting by written resolution of its Board ofrBgtors (the “Board”pr a duly
authorized delegate of the Board, to amend the EMBponent at any time and from time to tir
8. Section 12.B.2 of the EMD Component authorizes Aldeninistrative Committee under the Plan to adoptaie EMD Componel
amendments on behalf of the Compe
9. The Plan amendments described herein shall bectubjapproval by the Boar
Amendment:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to thésrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby ameimdge following respects:
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CWC Component

The CWC Component is amended as follows:

1.

Effective January 1, 2010, Article 7.12 is amended restated in its entirety to read as follo

7.12.Limitations Based on Funded Status of the Plar

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thentcary, the following provisions shall apply as weed by Section 436 of the Cc
effective for Plan Years beginning on or after Jagu, 2010

(@) Limitations Applicable if Plats Adjusted Funding Target Attainment Percentadeeks than 80%, but Not Less than 60%
Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Pldrnhé Plars adjusted funding target attainment percentaga félan Year
less than 80% (or would be less than 80% to thenéxtescribed in subparagrafiih below) but is not less than 60%, then
limitations set forth in this Article 7.12 app!

(i) 50% Limitation on Single Sum Payments, Other Aocegtrl Forms of Distribution, and Other Prohibitead/faents. A
Participant or Beneficiary is not permitted to ¢leand the Plan shall not pay, a single sum payroemther option:
form of benefit that includes a prohibited paymueith an annuity starting date on or after the aggtlle section 4:
measurement date, and the Plan shall not make aywent for the purchase of an irrevocable commitnfierm ar
insurer to pay benefits or any other payment onsfier that is a prohibited payment, unless thegmtesalue of th
portion of the benefit that is being paid in a pbited payment does not exceed the lesse

(A) 50% of the present value of the benefit payabliaénoptional form of benefit that includes the pbited paymen
or

(B) 100% of the PBGC maximum benefit guarantee amamtéfined in Treasury regulations Section 1.4386¢3)
(iii)(C).

The limitation set forth in this subparagrafhdoes not apply to any payment of a benefit Wwhiader Code Section 411

(a)(11) may be immediately distributed without tdumsent of the Participar

If an optional form of benefit that is otherwiseadable under the terms of the Plan is not avadldbla Participant
Beneficiary as of the annuity starting date becafste application of the requirements of this garagraph(i), the
Participant or Beneficiary is permitted to elect bifurcate the benefit into unrestricted and restd portions (¢
described in Treasul




(b)

(ii)

regulations Section 1.438d)(3)(iii))(D)). The Participant or Beneficiary malso elect any other optional form
benefit otherwise available under the Plan at Hratuity starting date that would satisfy the 50%#€Bmaximun
benefit guarantee amount limitation described iis tubparagraplfi), or may elect to defer the entire benefi
accordance with any general right to defer commeece: of benefits under the Ple

Plan Amendments Increasing Liability for Benefitdo amendment to the Plan that has the effeata&asing liabilitie
of the Plan by reason of increases in benefitgbishment of new benefits, changing the rate ofefie accrual, ¢
changing the rate at which benefits become norifalfle shall take effect in a Plan Year if the atia funding targ
attainment percentage for the Plan Yea

(A) Less than 80%; ¢

(B) 80% or more, but would be less than 80% if the Bisnattributable to the amendment were taken atoount i
determining the adjusted funding target attainnpemtentage

The limitation set forth in this subparagrafif does not apply to any Plan amendment that jgiesvia benefit incres
under a Plan formula that is not based on compemsagtrovided that the rate of such increase damsewceed tt
contemporaneous rate of increase in the averagesagfdParticipants covered by the amendmr

Limitations Applicable if Plars Adjusted Funding Target Attainment Percentadeets than 60% Notwithstanding any oth

provisions of the Plan, if the Planadjusted funding target attainment percentage Rlan Year is less than 60% (or wouls
less than 60% to the extent described in subpaghy(ii) below), then the limitations in this paragra(b) apply.

(i)

Single Sums, Other Accelerated Forms of Distributiand Other Prohibited Payments Not PermittédParticipant c

Beneficiary is not permitted to elect, and the Rhall not pay, a single sum payment or other optidorm of benef
that includes a prohibited payment with an annsityting date on or after the applicable sectio #&asurement da
and the Plan shall not make any payment for thelfase of an irrevocable commitment from an instogray benefil
or any other payment or transfer that is a probibppayment. The limitation set forth in this sulgggaph(i) does nc
apply to any payment of a benefit which under C8&aetion 411(a)(11) may be immediately distributatheut the
consent of the Participar




(©)

(d)

(i) Shutdown Benefits and Other Unpredictable ContihgEment Benefits Not Permitted to Be PaidAn
unpredictable contingent event benefit with resgecan unpredictable contingent event occurringndua Plai
Year shall not be paid if the adjusted funding ¢éa@ftainment percentage for the Plan Yee

(A) Less than 60%; ¢

(B) 60% or more, but would be less than 60% if the stéji funding target attainment percentage
redetermined applying an actuarial assumption that likelihood of occurrence of the unpredict:
contingent event during the Plan Year is 10

(iii) Benefit Accruals FrozenBenefit accruals under the Plan shall cease #seddipplicable section 436 measurer
date. In addition, if the Plan is required to celsrefit accruals under this subparagrép) then the Plan is n
permitted to be amended in a manner that wouldeas® the liabilities of the Plan by reason of arease i
benefits or establishment of new bene

Limitations Applicable if the Plan Sponsor Is in rikauptcy . Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Pla

Participant or Beneficiary is not permitted to ¢leand the Plan shall not pay, a single sum payroemther option:
form of benefit that includes a prohibited paymeiith an annuity starting date that occurs during pariod in whicl
the Plan sponsor is a debtor in a case under Titlef the United States Code, or similar federadtate law, except f
payments made within a Plan Year with an annuiytisig date that occurs on or after the date orclvktie enrolle
actuary certifies that the Planadjusted funding target attainment percentagéhirPlan Year is not less than 100%
addition, during such period in which the Plan smoris a debtor, the Plan shall not make any payfoethe purchas
of an irrevocable commitment from an insurer to fenefits or any other payment or transfer thaa igrohibite:
payment, except for payments that occur on a dédténaa Plan Year that is on or after the date drictv the enrolle
actuary certifies that the Planadjusted funding target attainment percentagehtatr Plan Year is not less than 10
The limitation set forth in this paragraft) does not apply to any payment of a benefit Whioder Code Section 411(a)
(11) may be immediately distributed without the semt of the Participar

Provisions Applicable after Limitations Cease toph\.

() Resumption of Prohibited Paymentf a limitation on prohibited payments under gaephs(a)(i), (b)(i), or (c)
applied to the Plan as of a section 436 measuredsat but that limit no longer applies to the Pdanof a late
section 436 measurement date, then that limitataes not apply to benefits with annuity startingedahat are ¢
or after that later section 436 measurement
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(e)

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

Resumption of Benefit Accrualdf a limitation on benefit accruals under parguréb)(iii) applied to the Plan as
a section 436 measurement date, but that limitationlonger applies to the Plan as of a later sectiBt
measurement date, then benefit accruals shall reqrospectively and that limitation does not aplybenefi
accruals that are based on service on or aftefdteatsection 436 measurement date, except asiotieeprovide
under the Plan. The Plan shall comply with thegutdating to partial years of participation and grohibition ol
double proration under Department of Labor regatetiSections 2530.2-2(c) and 2530.2(-2(d).

Shutdown and Other Unpredictable Contingent Evesniefits. If an unpredictable contingent event benefit
respect to an unpredictable contingent event thatirs during the Plan Year is not permitted to hiel @fter th
occurrence of the event because of the limitatiopavagraph (b)(ii) above, but is permitted to laéddater in th
same Plan Year (as a result of additional contidimst or pursuant to the enrolled actuargertification of th
adjusted funding target attainment percentageh®iPan Year that meets the requirements of Trgasgulation
Section 1.436L(g)(5)(ii)(B)), then that unpredictable contingenent benefit shall be paid, retroactive to theqa
that benefit would have been payable under thegafrthe Plan (determined without regard to pansiyth)(ii)
above). If the unpredictable contingent event hiedeles not become payable during the Plan Yeacaordanc
with the preceding sentence, then the Plan isedeas if it does not provide for that benefit attiys, ne
unpredictable contingent event benefit shall beapbey,

Treatment of Plan Amendments that Do Not Take Effd€ a Plan amendment does not take effect as e
effective date of the amendment because of thddiion of paragraph&)(ii) or (b)(iii), but is permitted to tal
effect later in the same Plan Year (as a resuladdfitional contributions or pursuant to the eniblictuarys
certification of the adjusted funding target attaént percentage for the Plan Year that meets tpdresnents c
Treasury regulations Section 1.43@3)(5)(ii)(C)), then the Plan amendment must awatically take effect as
the first day of the Plan Year (or, if later, thegmal effective date of the amendment). If tharPbmendme
cannot take effect during the same Plan Year, thehall be treated as if it were never adoptedeasithe Ple
amendment provides otherwit

Notice Requiremer. The Administrative Committee, as the Plan adniaier, shall comply with ERISA Section 10:

regarding the requirement that the Plan adminstratovide a written notice to Participants and &eiaries within 3!
days after certain specified dates if the Plandeome subject to a limitation described in panalgséa)(i), (b), or(c)
above.




() Methods to Avoid or Terminate Benefit Limitation€urtissWright Corporation, as the Plan sponsor, shall dgmyith
Code Sections 436(b)(2), (c)(2), (e)(2), and (fyd aTreasury regulations Section 1.4B@), regarding employ:
contributions and other methods to avoid or termteinlae application of the limitations set forthparagraphga) throug!
(c) above for a Plan Year. In general, the metho@aa sponsor may use to avoid or terminate oneare of thi
benefit limitations under paragrap{a through(c) above for a Plan Year include employer contidng and elections
increase the amount of Plan assets which are tateraccount in determining the adjusted fundingea attainmet
percentage, making an employer contribution thapesifically designated as a current year cortivbuthat is made
avoid or terminate application of certain of thefé limitations, or providing security to the Bl

(9) Special Rule:

() Rules of Operation for Periods Prior to and aftertification of Plahs Adjusted Funding Target Attainm
Percentag.

(A) In General. Code Section 436(h) and Treasury regulations i@ect.4361(h) set forth a series
presumptions that apply for purposes of this Aeti¢l12:

() Before the enrolled actuary issues a certificatidnthe Plans adjusted funding target attainm
percentage for the Plan Year; ¢

(I If the enrolled actuary does not issue a certiieabf the Plars adjusted funding target attainm
percentage for the Plan Year before the first dajhe tenth month of the Plan Year (or if the elad
actuary issues a range certification for the PlaarYpursuant to Treasury regulations Section 1143¢
(h)(4)(ii) but does not issue a certification oéthpecific adjusted funding target attainment peemgp
for the Plan by the last day of the Plan Ye

For any period during which a presumption under eC8gction 436(h) and Treasury regulations Se
1.436-1(h) applies to the Plan, the limitations emparagraph&) through(c) above are applied to the F
as if the adjusted funding target attainment paeggfor the Plan Year were the presumed adjustedirfc
target attainment percentage determined underutes of Code Section 436(h) and Treasury regulg
Section 1.43-1(h)(1), (2), or (3). These presumptions are sehfim subparagrapt(B) through(D) below.
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(B) Presumption of Continued Underfunding BeginningsFiDay of Plan Year If a limitation under paragraphs
(a), (b), or(c) above applied to the Plan on the last day ofptieeeding Plan Year, then, commencing ot
first day of the current Plan Year and continuimgiltthe enrolled actuary issues a certificatiorthd adjuste
funding target attainment percentage for the Ptautife current Plan Year, or, if earlier, the daibparagrapl
(C) or (D) below apply to the Pla

()  The adjusted funding target attainment percentégigeoPlan for the current Plan Year is presumeloe
the adjusted funding target attainment percentagdféct on the last day of the preceding Plan Yaiad

(I The first day of the current Plan Year is a secti8f measurement da

(C) Presumption of Underfunding Beginning First DayFafurth Month. If the enrolled actuary has not issue
certification of the adjusted funding target attaent percentage for the Plan Year before the diagt of the
fourth month of the Plan Year and the Pfaatjusted funding target attainment percentagé¢htmprecedin
Plan Year was either at least 60% but less than, @9%t least 80% but less than 90%, or is desdrih
Treasury regulations Section 1.43@%)(2)(ii), then, commencing on the first day bétfourth month of tt
current Plan Year and continuing until the enrobetluary issues a certification of the adjustedifiog targe
attainment percentage for the Plan for the curRdah Year, or, if earlier, the date subparagréiphbelow
applies to the Plar

()  The adjusted funding target attainment percentégigeoPlan for the current Plan Year is presumeloe
the Plans adjusted funding target attainment percentagethferpreceding Plan Year reduced by
percentage points; al

(I)  The first day of the fourth month of the curreraiP¥ear is a section 436 measurement (

(D) Presumption of Underfunding on and after First B&yenth Month. If the enrolled actuary has not issue
certification of the adjusted funding target attaent percentage for the Plan Year before the diagt of the
tenth month of the Plan Year (or if the enrolleduacy has issued a range certification for the Plaau
pursuant to Treasury regulations Section 1-1(h)(4)(ii) but has na

8




(ii)

New

issued a certification of the specific adjustedding target attainment percentage for the Plarhbyldst da
of the Plan Year), then, commencing on the firsy d& the tenth month of the current Plan Year
continuing through the end of the Plan Ye

()  The adjusted funding target attainment percentddkeoPlan for the current Plan Year is presums
be less than 60%; ai

(I)  The first day of the tenth month of the currentPYaear is a section 436 measurement ¢

Plans, Plan Termination, Certain Frozen Pland,Other Special Rult.

(A)

(B)

(©)

(D)

First Five Plan YearsThe limitations in paragrapfifa)(ii), (b)(ii), and(b)(iii) do not apply to a new plan 1
the first five Plan Years of the plan, determinewer the rules of Code Section 436(i)) and Tre¢
regulations Section 1.4-1(a)(3)(i).

Plan Termination The limitations on prohibited payments in parais(a)(i), (b)(i), and(c) do not apply t
prohibited payments that are made to carry outdhaination of the Plan in accordance with appliedaw
Any other limitations under this Article 7.12 dotraease to apply as a result of termination ofRtaa.

Exception to Limitations on Prohibited Paymentsem@ertain Frozen PlansThe limitations on prohibite
payments set forth in paragrapas(i), (b)(i), and(c) do not apply for a Plan Year if the terms of Blan, a
in effect for the period beginning on SeptembeRdN5, and continuing through the end of the Plaar;
provide for no benefit accruals with respect to &ayticipant. This subparagraf@) shall cease to apply
of the date any benefits accrue under the Plahedate on which a Plan amendment that increaseits
takes effect

Special Rules Relating to Unpredictable Contindergnt Benefits and Plan Amendments Increasing Bt
Liability . During any period in which none of the presummpiainder paragraplg)(i) apply to the Plan ar
the enrolled actuary has not yet issued a cettifinaof the Plars adjusted funding target attainm
percentage for the Plan Year, the limitations uneagraphga)(ii) and(b)(ii) shall be based on the inclus
presumed adjusted funding target attainment pesigenfor the Plan, calculated in accordance withrties
of Treasury regulations Section 1.-1(g)(2)(iii).
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(i) Special Rules under Preservation of Access to @ardedicare Beneficiaries and Pension Relief At2010 (PRA

201C) .

(A) Payments under Social Security Leveling Optiorfsor purposes of determining whether the limitagiauinde
paragraphga)(i) or (b)(i) apply to payments under a Social Securityeleg option, within the meaning of Cc
Section 436(j)(3)(C)(i), the adjusted funding targéainment percentage for a Plan Year shall leragned it
accordance with the “Special Rule for Certain Yearsder Code Section 436(j)(3) and any Treasury egguis o
other published guidance thereunder issued byntieerlal Revenue Servic

(B) Limitation on Benefit Accruals For purposes of determining whether the accimatdtion under paragrapi)(iii)
applies to the Plan, the adjusted funding targ&tirahent percentage for a Plan Year shall be détednir
accordance with the “Special Rule for Certain Yearsder Code Section 436(j)(3) (except as providedel
Section 203(b) of PRA 2010, if applicabl

(iv) Interpretation of Provisions The limitations imposed by this Article 7.12 dhlé interpreted and administerec
accordance with Code Section 436 and Treasuryatgos Section 1.4:-1.

(h) Definitions. The definitions in the following Treasury regiteis apply for purposes of paragraj(a) through(g):
(i) Section 1.43-1(j)(1), defining adjusted funding target attainmpearcentage
(i)  Section 1.43-1(j)(2), defining annuity starting dat
(iii) Section 1.43-1(j)(6), defining prohibited paymer
(iv) Section 1.43-1(j)(8), defining section 436 measurement date;
(v) Section 1.43-1(j)(9), defining an unpredictable contingent evand an unpredictable contingent event ber

() Effective Date. The rules in this Article 7.12 are effective fBtan Years beginning after December 31, 2009.
requirements of Code Section 436 are hereby incatpd by reference in the Plan for earlier Planr¥dzeginning afte
December 31, 200°

2. Effective January 1, 2012, Article 8.01(d) of th&/C Component is amended and restated in its entoaiead as follows

(d) Inthe event a Participant entitled to a death fieneder paragraph (a) dies with his estate aBbiseficiary, the death benefit st
be calculated assuming t
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Beneficiary is the same age as the Participantiarfgbu of the annuity form of payment, the deb#nefit shall be paid in one lui
sum under Article 8.0:

Effective December 31, 2013, Article 9.01 of the C\WEomponent is amended by adding new paragrapdt (e end thereof to read
follows:

(e) Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to ttentrary, an Employee whose employment is covered bgllective bargainir
agreement to which the Company is a party and wprdvides for coverage under the Plan and whorisdhor rehired by, «
transferred to, the ComparsyTarget Rock operations after December 31, 201:8| sot be eligible to participate in and accrog
benefits under the Plan while employed at suchatijmars.

Effective December 31, 2013, Article 9.02(a)(v) &ffet Rock Corporation’df the CWC Component is amended by revising theniog
portion of the first sentence preced“(A)” therein to read as follow

With respect to any such pensioner whose Creditadli& was with Target Rock Corporation, subseduédatown as Curtis®/right
Flow Control Corporation, and except as otherwisided in Article 9.01(e)

Effective January 1, 2012, Article 9.02(a)(v) (“§at Rock Corporation"df the CWC Component is amended by adding new pajpé
(S), (T), (U), and (V) at the end thereof to redpectively, as follows

(S) $47.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Serwigth CurtissWright Flow Control Corporation on or after Janu&an2012, for an
pension payments due for months commencing onter ddinuary 1, 201,

(T) $49.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Serwigth CurtissWright Flow Control Corporation on or after Janu&an2013, for an
pension payments due for months commencing onter inuary 1, 201

(U) $51.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Serwigth CurtissWright Flow Control Corporation on or after Janu&n2014, for an
pension payments due for months commencing onter dinuary 1, 201

(V) $54.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Serwigth CurtissWright Flow Control Corporation on or after Janu&an2015, for an
pension payments due for months commencing onter dinuary 1, 201!

Effective January 1, 2012, Schedule G 1 of the C@nponent is amended by revising the opening portibthe first senten
preceding the numbered items therein to read &msfel

The monthly amount of such deferred pension comingnat age 65 for an employee at the Wétdge Facility eligible therefor
accordance with Article 9.02(d)(ii) shall be adduls:
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10.

11.

Effective January 1, 2012, Schedule G 2 of the C@nponent is amended by revising the opening portibthe first senten
preceding the numbered items therein to read &msfel

The monthly amount of such deferred pension comingnat age 65 for an employee at the Buffalo Fgciéiligible therefor i
accordance with Article 9.02(d)(ii) shall be adduls:

Effective January 1, 2012, Schedule G 3 of the C@@nponent is amended by revising the opening portibthe first senten
preceding the numbered items therein to read &msfel

The monthly amount of such deferred pension comimgnat age 65 for an employee at the Cuasght Flight Systems Facili
eligible therefor in accordance with Article 9.0%(d) shall be as follows

Effective January 1, 2012, Schedule G 4 of the C@@nponent is amended by revising the opening poribthe first senten
preceding the numbered items therein to read &msfel

The monthly amount of such deferred pension comingnat age 65 for an employee at the Target Rodilifyaeligible therefor i
accordance with Article 9.02(d)(ii) shall be addals:

Effective January 1, 2012, Schedule G 4 of the Q@¢@ponent is amended by adding the following ateti of paragraph
$47.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Sendceor after January 1, 201
$49.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Senaceor after January 1, 201
$51.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Senaceor after January 1, 201
$54.00 multiplied by his years of Credited Senaceor after January 1, 201

Effective November 1, 2012, Schedule J of the CWitn@onent is amended by adding new paragraphs 4304849 at the end then
to read, respectively, as follown

47. Penny and Giles Drives Technolog

(8) Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlentrary, the following rules shall apply to an Eoyste hired on Novemk
1, 2012, whose immediate prior service was withnjesnd Giles Drives Technology (“PGDTand who was employed
such entity at such dat

() Such an Employee shall be eligible to participat¢hie Plan following the date he or she completesohher Year ¢
Eligibility Service, which Year of Eligibility Seige shall include such prior service, and shallaigneligible so long ¢
he or she continues
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(b)

(ii)

satisfy the eligibility requirements in Article 2.0provided, however, that such an Employee shail atcrue ar
benefits under the Plan, except for benefits datexchin accordance with Article

For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Senwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent date
hire with PGDT immediately prior to its acquisitiby Curtis-Wright Corporation

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to thentary, an Employee at the PGDT operations anilitfes acquired b
CurtissWright Corporation who is not an Employee describegharagraph (a), shall be eligible to become didsant ir
accordance with Article 2.01, but shall not accamy benefits under the Plan, except for benefiterdened in accordan
with Article 4.

48. AP Services, LLC

(@)

(b)

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to thentrary, the following rules shall apply to an Eoy#e hired on Novemt
5, 2012, whose immediate prior service was with@dpvices, LLC or an affiliate thereof (“APdnd who was employed
such entity at such dat

(i)

(ii)

Such an Employee shall be eligible to participat¢hie Plan following the date he or she completesohher Year ¢
Eligibility Service, which Year of Eligibility sefiee shall include such prior service, and shallaeneligible so long ¢
he or she continues to satisfy the eligibility regments in Article 2.01, provided, however, thatts an Employee sh
not accrue any benefits under the Plan, excepbdoefits determined in accordance with Article f#eetfve for period
beginning on or after January 1, 20

For purposes of determining Vesting Years of Senwesting service shall commence with his or hestmecent date
hire with AP immediately prior to its acquisitioy Eurtis-Wright Corporation

Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlemtrary, an Employee at the AP operations andif@silacquired by Curti-
Wright Corporation who is not an Employee descrilepgaragraph (a), shall be eligible to become réiddaant in accordant
with Article 2.01, but shall not accrue any bersetinder the Plan, except for benefits determineataordance with Article
effective for periods beginning on or after Janugr013.
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49. Cimarron Energy Inc.
Notwithstanding any provision in this Plan to tlmtary:

(a) For purposes of determining Years of Eligibilityr@ee and Vesting Years of Service with respecaty Employee wt
became an Employee on November 26, 2012, whose dimateeprior service was with Cimarron Energy Irf€ignharron”) or
an affiliate thereof, and who was employed by semfity at such date, service shall commence wglohiher most recent d
of hire with such entity immediately prior to itsquisition by Curtis-Wright Corporation

(b) An Employee at the operations and facilities thatevacquired by Curtis#fright Corporation in its acquisition of Cimarr:
whether or not such Employee is described in papg(a) above, shall not be eligible to participateand accrue any bene
under the Plan while employed at such operatioddarilities.

EMD Component

The EMD Component is amended as follows:

1.

Effective January 1, 2014, the first sentence @tiSe 3 is amended to read as folloy
All Employees are eligible to participate in thePlnd to elect to make contributions thereundegm as provided hereinbelo

Effective January 1, 2014, Section 3 (as amendsgrfebove) is further amended by adding new papdgr& and H at the end therec
read, respectively, as follow

G. No Employee hired or rehired by, or transferredato Employer on or before December 31, 2013, sfeabligible to participate
the Plan after January 1, 2014, unless he hasytifibedl an election to participate in the Plan tisa¢ffective on or before Januan
2014. Such election must be filed in accordancé e Plan on or before the later of December 8132or (if applicable) the le
day of the 3-day period specified in Section 3.

H. No Employee hired or rehired by, or transferredato,Employer on or after January 1, 2014, shaklmgble to participate in tt
Plan.

Effective January 1, 2010, Section 17.K is ameratadirestated in its entirety to read as follo

K. Limitations Based on Funded Status of the |

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to thentcary, the following provisions shall apply as wegd by Section 436 of t
Code effective for Plan Years beginning on or aferuary 1, 201(
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Limitations Applicable if Plars Adjusted Funding Target Attainment Percentagéess than 80%, but Not Less than 60%
Notwithstanding any other provisions of the Pldrithe Plars adjusted funding target attainment percentage flan Year is le
than 80% (or would be less than 80% to the extestibed in paragraph (b) below) but is not leas 0%, then the limitations
forth in this Section 17.K appl'

(a) 50% Limitation on Single Sum Payments, Other Aaedtrl Forms of Distribution, and Other Prohibiteglyents. A
Participant or Beneficiary is not permitted to ¢lemd the Plan shall not pay, a single sum paymenther optional form
benefit that includes a prohibited payment withaamuity starting date on or after the applicabletise 436 measureme
date, and the Plan shall not make any paymenthfoptirchase of an irrevocable commitment from anorir to pay benef
or any other payment or transfer that is a probibgayment, unless the present value of the poofidine benefit that is beil
paid in a prohibited payment does not exceed thseteof:

(1) 50% of the present value of the benefit payablbénoptional form of benefit that includes the pbited payment; o
(2) 100% of the PBGC maximum benefit guarantee amasti€fined in Treasury regulations Section 1-1(d)(3)(iii)(C).

The limitation set forth in this paragraph (a) does apply to any payment of a benefit which un@ede Section 411(a)(1
may be immediately distributed without the congafrthe Participant

If an optional form of benefit that is otherwiseadable under the terms of the Plan is not avadlabl a Participant
Beneficiary as of the annuity starting date becadiske application of the requirements of thisgggaph (a), the Participant
Beneficiary is permitted to elect to bifurcate thenefit into unrestricted and restricted portioas (lescribed in Treasi
regulations Section 1.43B8d)(3)(iii)(D)). The Participant or Beneficiary malso elect any other optional form of ber
otherwise available under the Plan at that anratdyting date that would satisfy the 50%/PBGC maxinbenefit guarant
amount limitation described in this paragraph @)may elect to defer the entire benefit in accocgawith any general rig
to defer commencement of benefits under the |

(b) Plan Amendments Increasing Liability for Benefitdo amendment to the Plan that has the effectar€asing liabilities of tt
Plan by reason of increases in benefits, estabéshwf new benefits, changing the rate of benefitwzal, or changing the r:
at which benefits become nonforfeitable shall teKect in a
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Plan Year if the adjusted funding target attainnpartentage for the Plan Year
(1) Less than 80%; ¢

(2) 80% or more, but would be less than 80% if the fitnattributable to the amendment were taken etoount il
determining the adjusted funding target attainnpemtentage

The limitation set forth in this paragraph (b) doed apply to any Plan amendment that providesrefiteincrease under
Plan formula that is not based on compensatioryighed that the rate of such increase does not exiteecontemporanec
rate of increase in the average wages of Partitspaovered by the amendme

Limitations Applicable if Plats Adjusted Funding Target Attainment Percentagkelss than 60% Notwithstanding any oth

provisions of the Plan, if the Planadjusted funding target attainment percentage félan Year is less than 60% (or would be
than 60% to the extent described in paragraphdlm, then the limitations in this subparagrapdp®ly.

(@)

(b)

Single Sums, Other Accelerated Forms of Distribytiand Other Prohibited Payments Not Permittedl Participant c

Beneficiary is not permitted to elect, and the Rhall not pay, a single sum payment or other oplidorm of benefit th:
includes a prohibited payment with an annuity stgrdate on or after the applicable section 436sueanent date, and !
Plan shall not make any payment for the purchasmafrevocable commitment from an insurer to pagedits or any oth:
payment or transfer that is a prohibited paymehe limitation set forth in this paragraph (a) does apply to any payment
a benefit which under Code Section 411(a)(11) neainbmediately distributed without the consent & Barticipant

Shutdown Benefits and Other Unpredictable Contibésent Benefits Not Permitted to Be Paifin unpredictable continge

event benefit with respect to an unpredictable ingent event occurring during a Plan Year shall mtpaid if the adjust:
funding target attainment percentage for the PlaarYs:

(1) Less than 60%; ¢

(2) 60% or more, but would be less than 60% if the stdph funding target attainment percentage wereteadee(
applying an actuarial assumption that the likelith@d occurrence of the unpredictable contingennedering the Pls
Year is 100%
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(c) Benefit Accruals Frozen Benefit accruals under the Plan shall cease dkeofipplicable section 436 measurement da
addition, if the Plan is required to cease beragfitruals under this paragraph (c), then the Plaotipermitted to be amenc
in a manner that would increase the liabilitiesh&f Plan by reason of an increase in benefitstabkshment of new benefit

Limitations Applicable if the Plan Sponsor Is inriauptcy . Notwithstanding any other provisions of the PlarRarticipant ¢
Beneficiary is not permitted to elect, and the Fhall not pay, a single sum payment or other opfiform of benefit that includ
a prohibited payment with an annuity starting datg occurs during any period in which the Plannsppo is a debtor in a case ur
Title 11 of the United States Code, or similar fedl®r state law, except for payments made withidlan Year with an annui
starting date that occurs on or after the date bicmthe enrolled actuary certifies that the Paadjusted funding target attainm
percentage for that Plan Year is not less than 1008%ddition, during such period in which the P&ponsor is a debtor, the F
shall not make any payment for the purchase ofremndcable commitment from an insurer to pay bésefi any other payment
transfer that is a prohibited payment, except fyrpents that occur on a date within a Plan Yedrishan or after the date on wh
the enrolled actuary certifies that the Pfaatjusted funding target attainment percentagéhfeirPlan Year is not less than 10
The limitation set forth in this subparagraph 3sloet apply to any payment of a benefit which ur@iede Section 411(a)(11) v
be immediately distributed without the consenthaf Participant

Provisions Applicable after Limitations Cease tcph\.

(&) Resumption of Prohibited Payment§ a limitation on prohibited payments under satggraphs 1(a), 2(a), or 3 applied tc
Plan as of a section 436 measurement date, butirtiiaho longer applies to the Plan as of a laection 436 measurem
date, then that limitation does not apply to besefiith annuity starting dates that are on or aftert later section 4.
measurement dat

(b) Resumption of Benefit Accrualdf a limitation on benefit accruals under subgmagh 2(c) applied to the Plan as of a se:
436 measurement date, but that limitation no lorsglies to the Plan as of a later section 436 ureatent date, then ben:
accruals shall resume prospectively and that lioitadoes not apply to benefit accruals that asetiaon service on or af
that later section 436 measurement date, excepthaswise provided under the Plan. The Plan slatiply with the rule
relating to partial years of participation and firehibition on double proration under Departmentaibor regulations Sectio
2530.20-2(c) and 2530.2(-2(d).

(c) Shutdown and Other Unpredictable Contingent Evesmteafits. If an unpredictable contingent event benefit wéhpect to a
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(d)

unpredictable contingent event that occurs durirgRlan Year is not permitted to be paid afterdbeurrence of the eve
because of the limitation of subparagraph 2(b) ebdwut is permitted to be paid later in the samen PMear (as a result
additional contributions or pursuant to the enlietuarys certification of the adjusted funding target iattgent percentag
for the Plan Year that meets the requirements eh3ury regulations Section 1.43@y)(5)(ii)(B)), then that unpredictal
contingent event benefit shall be paid, retroactivéhe period that benefit would have been payablder the terms of t
Plan (determined without regard to subparagraph &bve). If the unpredictable contingent eventdfiemoes not becon
payable during the Plan Year in accordance withpiteeeding sentence, then the Plan is treated iasldfes not provide fi
that benefit and, thus, no unpredictable contingeeht benefit shall be payab

Treatment of Plan Amendments that Do Not Take Efféca Plan amendment does not take effect aseokffective date «
the amendment because of the limitation of subpapdg 1(b) or 2(c), but is permitted to take effatér in the same Pl
Year (as a result of additional contributions orguant to the enrolled actuasytertification of the adjusted funding tai
attainment percentage for the Plan Year that nthetsequirements of Treasury regulations SectidB8&1(g)(5)(ii)(C)), thel
the Plan amendment must automatically take effectf éhe first day of the Plan Year (or, if latdre original effective date
the amendment). If the Plan amendment cannot tfé&et eluring the same Plan Year, then it shallrbated as if it were nev
adopted, unless the Plan amendment provides otte

Notice Requiremer. The Administrative Committee, as the Plan administrastiall comply with ERISA Section 101(j) regarc

the requirement that the Plan administrator prowdderitten notice to Participants and Beneficiangthin 30 days after certe
specified dates if the Plan has become subjectitoitmtion described in subparagraphs 1(a), Z above

Methods to Avoid or Terminate Benefit LimitationsCurtissWright Corporation, as the Plan sponsor, shall dgmygth Code

Sections 436(b)(2), (c)(2), (e)(2), and (f), an@asury regulations Section 1.43@), regarding employer contributions and o
methods to avoid or terminate the application @ limitations set forth in subparagraphs 1 thro@gabove for a Plan Year.
general, the methods a Plan sponsor may use to avderminate one or more of the benefit limitaaunder subparagraph
through 3 above for a Plan Year include employetrdoutions and elections to increase the amoulafh assets which are tal
into account in determining the adjusted fundingea attainment percentage, making an employerritoibn that is specifical
designated as a current year contribution that aslento avoid or terminate application of certaintlid benefit limitations,
providing security to the Pla
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7.

Special Rule:.

(@)

Rules of Operation for Periods Prior to and aftertification of Pla’'s Adjusted Funding Target Attainment Percen.

(1)

(2)

In General. Code Section 436(h) and Treasury regulationsi@edt.4361(h) set forth a series of presumptions

apply for purposes of this Section 17

(i) Before the enrolled actuary issues a certificatibthe Plan$ adjusted funding target attainment percentagéht
Plan Year; an

(i) If the enrolled actuary does not issue a certiticadf the Plars adjusted funding target attainment percentac
the Plan Year before the first day of the tenth thawf the Plan Year (or if the enrolled actuaryuss a rang
certification for the Plan Year pursuant to Tregstegulations Section 1.438h)(4)(ii) but does not issue
certification of the specific adjusted funding tar@ttainment percentage for the Plan by the lagtad the Pla
Year).

For any period during which a presumption under éC&ection 436(h) and Treasury regulations SectidB86k.(h)
applies to the Plan, the limitations under subpaatgs 1 through 3 above are applied to the Plaif the adjuste
funding target attainment percentage for the Plaar¥vere the presumed adjusted funding targenattait percentay
determined under the rules of Code Section 436(d) Ereasury regulations Section 1.48@8)(1), (2), or (3). The:
presumptions are set forth in subparagraphs (8ugir (4) below

Presumption of Continued Underfunding Beginning#iday of Plan Year If a limitation under subparagraphs (a),

or (c) above applied to the Plan on the last dathefpreceding Plan Year, then, commencing on itse day of th
current Plan Year and continuing until the enrobetliary issues a certification of the adjustedling target attainme
percentage for the Plan for the current Plan Yemaif earlier, the date subparagraphs (3) or &yl apply to the Plar

(i) The adjusted funding target attainment percentdgineo Plan for the current Plan Year is presumedbeotht
adjusted funding target attainment percentagefeacebn the last day of the preceding Plan Yead;
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(b)

3)

(4)

(i)  The first day of the current Plan Year is a secti8f measurement da

Presumption of Underfunding Beginning First Dayrolurth Month. If the enrolled actuary has not issued a cediior

of the adjusted funding target attainment percentagthe Plan Year before the first day of therfloumonth of the Ple
Year and the Plar’adjusted funding target attainment percentagthtopreceding Plan Year was either at least 60¢
less than 70%, or at least 80% but less than 90%, @escribed in Treasury regulations Section @-4®)(2)(ii), then
commencing on the first day of the fourth monthhaf current Plan Year and continuing until the Badoactuary issut
a certification of the adjusted funding targetiattzent percentage for the Plan for the current Rlear, or, if earlier, tF
date subparagraph (4) below applies to the [

() The adjusted funding target attainment percentfigeeoPlan for the current Plan Year is presumelktthe Plarg
adjusted funding target attainment percentagei®pteceding Plan Year reduced by 10 percentaggspainc

(i) The first day of the fourth month of the currerarP¥ear is a section 436 measurement (

Presumption of Underfunding on and after First D&¥enth Month. If the enrolled actuary has not issued a cedtfie

of the adjusted funding target attainment percenfagthe Plan Year before the first day of thehenonth of the Ple
Year (or if the enrolled actuary has issued a ramggfication for the Plan Year pursuant to Tregsegulations Sectic
1.4364(h)(4)(ii) but has not issued a certification b&tspecific adjusted funding target attainment gratage for th
Plan by the last day of the Plan Year), then, conmuimg on the first day of the tenth month of therent Plan Year ar
continuing through the end of the Plan Ye

(i) The adjusted funding target attainment percentédleeoPlan for the current Plan Year is presumebetdess the
60%; anc

(i) The first day of the tenth month of the currentnPtaar is a section 436 measurement ¢

New Plans, Plan Termination, Certain Frozen Pland,Other Special Rul.
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()

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

First Five Plan YearsThe limitations in subparagraphs 1(b), 2(b), @) do not apply to a new plan for the first -

Plan Years of the plan, determined under the rofi€3ode Section 436(i) and Treasury regulationgi®Ged.436-1(a)(3)
().

Plan Termination The limitations on prohibited payments in subpaaghs 1(a), 2(a), and 3 do not apply to prohil

payments that are made to carry out the terminatfdhe Plan in accordance with applicable law. Autlyer limitation
under this Section 17.K of the Plan do not ceaspply as a result of termination of the PI

Exception to Limitations on Prohibited Paymentsem@ertain Frozen Plang he limitations on prohibited payments

forth in subparagraphs 1(a), 2(a), and 3 do nolyafgp a Plan Year if the terms of the Plan, a®ffect for the perio
beginning on September 1, 2005, and continuinguiiiiche end of the Plan Year, provide for no bérefcruals wit
respect to any Participant. This subparagraphh@ll sease to apply as of the date any benefitaiaamnder the Plan
the date on which a Plan amendment that increasesfits takes effec

Special Rules Relating to Unpredictable Contindevent Benefits and Plan Amendments Increasing Behiability .

During any period in which none of the presumptianger subparagraph 7(a) apply to the Plan andrhdled actua
has not yet issued a certification of the Pdaadjusted funding target attainment percentagehferPlan Year, tt
limitations under subparagraphs 1(b) and 2(b) shellbased on the inclusive presumed adjusted fgntinge
attainment percentage for the Plan, calculatec¢@or@ance with the rules of Treasury regulationstiSe 1.436-1(g)(2)

(ii).

Special Rules under Preservation of Access to foafdedicare Beneficiaries and Pension Relief Ac2@10 “ PRA 201(") .

1)

Payments under Social Security Leveling Option§or purposes of determining whether the limitatiounde

subparagraphs 1(a) or 2(a) apply to payments uad8ocial Security leveling option, within the meaniof Cod
Section 436(j)(3)(C)(i), the adjusted funding targdtainment percentage for a Plan Year shall beroéned i
accordance with the “Special Rule for Certain Yearsder Code Section 436(j)(3) and any Treasury egiguis or othe
published guidance thereunder issued by the Int&eaenue Service
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(d)

(2) Limitation on Benefit Accruals For purposes of determining whether the accrinaitdtion under subparagraph 2
applies to the Plan, the adjusted funding targeirahent percentage for a Plan Year shall be détedrin accordan:
with the “Special Rule for Certain Yearshder Code Section 436(j)(3) (except as providetbusection 203(b) of PF
2010, if applicable)

Interpretation of ProvisionsThe limitations imposed by this Section 17.K hal interpreted and administered in accord

with Code Section 436 and Treasury regulationsi@edt43¢-1.

8. Definitions. The definitions in the following Treasury regudais apply for purposes of subparagraphs 1 thrau

(@)
(b)
()
(d)
(€)

Section 1.43-1(j)(1), defining adjusted funding target attainmpercentage
Section 1.43-1(j)(2), defining annuity starting dat

Section 1.43-1(j)(6), defining prohibited paymer

Section 1.43-1(j)(8), defining section 436 measurement date;

Section 1.43-1(j)(9), defining an unpredictable contingent evamd an unpredictable contingent event ber

9. Effective Date. The rules in this Section 17.K are effective Rb&in Years beginning after December 31, 2009. €heirements «
Code Section 436 are hereby incorporated by reteranthe Plan for earlier Plan Years beginningraitecember 31, 200

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtoéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force affect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdanehis day of , 2012.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

FOURTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1.  Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has tiefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Sgsiand Investment Plan (the
“Plar”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restétedntirety effective as of January 1, 20

2.  Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, the Company has decided to arienglan for the following
reasons

a. To provide for the merger of the ACRA Control, 1d€1(k) Plan into the Plan effective April 1, 20.

b. To provide that all Members whose employment wlith €Company terminates on or after August 10, 2618 elect to have their
vested accrued benefits, if any, distributed inaliments instead of a lump sum if they are ages@ver when their employment
terminates

c. To specify effective September 1, 2012, that theniistrative Committee may authorize an eligibleeistment advice arrangemu
for Members who choose to enroll therein, the feesvhich may be charged against each such Me’'s Plan Accounts; ar

3. Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Comparantend the Plan at any time and from time to t|

4.  Section 12.01(b) authorizes the Administrative Cattaa to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of thegaomunder certain
circumstances

Amendments to the Plan:
1. Effective August 10, 2012, Section 9.02 is amernidéts entirety to read as follow
9.02 Form of Distribution

(a) Except as provided in paragraph (b) below, distiiliuof the Vested Portion of a Member’'s Accouritalsbe made to the
Member (or to his Beneficiary, in the event of dgah a cash lump sur

(b) The following rules shall apply if a Member’s emyoent with the Employer and all Affiliated Emplogeterminates on or
after Augus!




10, 2012, and such Member is age 55 or over oarh@oyment termination date (a “Senior Member”):

(i)

(ii)

A Senior Member may elect to have the Vested Pouichis Accounts distributed in accordance witle ofithe
following options:

(A)
(B)

A cash lump sum paymer

Monthly or annual installments, the number or dadlmount of which is determined by the Senior Mengyer ta
the date as of which distribution commences. limatatts will begin as soon as practicable afterdupiest is
received from the Senior Member and approved bythe Administrator. Each subsequent annual imséait

will be processed as soon as practicable on or edieh anniversary of the first payment. Monthistatiments

shall be processed as soon as practicable onevrtaé 15" day of each calendar month. All payments under this
option will be made in cas

A Senior Member who elects to receive monthly aruaat installments pursuant to this paragraph (@)ijnay
cancel or change such election at any ti

If a Senior Member receiving installments paymésntghired by an Employer, any remaining installinen
payments will cease upon his reemployment. Upostisequent termination of employment, such Senior
Member shall make a new election regarding the maimwhich the remaining Vested Portion of his éaets
shall be distributed at that tirr

In no event shall the total amount paid as instfite in a calendar year be less than the amouniteeiqunder
Section 401(a)(9) of the Code and regulations bshiereunder, as described in Section ¢

If the total value of a Senior Member’s Accountseeds $1,000 and the designated Beneficiary isuhaving spouse
of the Senior Member, the surviving spouse mayteldotal distribution or may elect to leave hiscdants in the Plan.
If the surviving spouse elects to leave his Acceumtthe Plan, he shall be treated as a Senior Meanid the
investment and payment options which are availabieSenior Member shall be available to the sumgigpouse

5




2.  Effective September 1, 2012, Section 4.08 is addedad as follows
4.08 Investment Advice Arrangement

The Administrative Committee may authorize thatften provide Members with a discretionary eligiioleestment advice arrangement,
within the meaning of and in accordance with Sectio8(g) of ERISA and Section 4975(f)(8) of the €pthe fees for which may be
charged against the Accounts of each Member whasaie enroll in such arrangeme

3. The ACRA Control, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the “ACRA CouoltPlan”) shall be and hereby is merged into thenRiffective April 1, 2012, with
the surviving plan being the Plan. Accounts tramsfito the Plan from the ACRA Control Plan shaillially be invested in the
Investment Fund designated by the Administrativen@ittee, which shall be the Fidelity Freedom Fuel@sted on the basis of the
Member's age. Any Member may thereafter changénthestment of his Accounts, including the transfdramounts, in accordance with
the Plar's provisions relating to the investment of Mem’ Accounts.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force affect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2012,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO -MECHANICAL CORPORATION

SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

SECOND INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has tiefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Electviechanical Corporation Savings Plan
“Plar”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restéttedntirety effective as of January 1, 20

2. Article XII.1 of the Plan permits the Company, lstian of its Board of Directors (the “Board”) ositlelegate, to amend or suspend the
Plan at any time and from time to tin

3. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, the Board has approved the amenidof the Plan for the
following reason
a. To suspend employer matching contributions fonaticollectively bargained employees effective fay periods beginning on or

after July 30, 2012, and ending before Januarp13:
4.  Article XIV.2 authorizes the Administrative Comnaét to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of the Coynyoasher certain circumstance
5.  This Instrument of Amendment is intended to incogp® in the Plan document provisions implementirgBoard-approved amendment

described abov¢

Amendment to the Plan:

1.

Effective July 30, 2012, Article 111.2 is amendey &dding the following new paragraph at the endebie

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Artidié2 to the contrary, in no event shall any EmyspoMatch Contributions be made
the Plan for the Suspension Period with respeanyp Employee who is not covered by a collectiveghming agreement. For tl
purpose, the term “Suspension Perigdall mean any pay period of the Company beginomgr after July 30, 2012, and ending be
January 1, 201




Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtneéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force afféct.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2012,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO -MECHANICAL CORPORATION
SAVINGS PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

THIRD INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has tiefere adopted the Curtiss-Wright Electviechanical Corporation Savings Plan |
“Plar”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restétedntirety effective as of January 1, 20

2.  Subsequent to the most recent amendment and rastatef the Plan, the Company has decided to arienglan for the following
reasons

a. To provide for an increase in the rate of Empldylatch Contributions

(i) Effective August 19, 2012, for collectively bargathEmployees who are eligible to participate inRhen and who are (A)
hired or rehired by, or transferred to, an Emplaysing the period beginning on August 19, 2012] ending on December
31, 2013, (B) not employed by the Employer’'s Bemsbasiness unit, and (C) not active ParticipanthénEMD Component
of the Curtis-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (t‘EMD Componer”) while eligible to participate in the Pla

(i) Effective December 1, 2012, for noncollectivelydmined Employees who are eligible to participattheénPlan and who are
(A) hired or rehired by, or transferred to, an Eoyelr during the period beginning on December 122@hd ending on
December 31, 2013, (B) not employed by the Empley@enshaw business unit, and (C) not active Rpéditds in the EMD
Component while eligible to participate in the Pland

(i) Effective January 1, 2014, for collectively bargadrand noncollectively bargained Employees whaehgible to participate
in the Plan and who are (A) hired or rehired bytransferred to, an Employer on or after Janua014, (B) not employed |
the Employ€e’'s Benshaw business unit, and (C) ineligible to bezactive Participants in the EMD Compont

b. To clarify that Employer Match Contributions shidét be made with respect to Participant Pre-Tart@butions that are not Roth
Contributions, then with respect to Participant-Pag& Contributions that are Roth Contributions, #meh with respect to Particip:
After-Tax Contributions




c. To specify effective September 1, 2012, that theniistrative Committee may authorize an eligibleeistment advice arrangem
for Participants who choose to enroll therein,féhes for which may be charged against each sudltipants Plan Accounts

3. Such amendments are consistent with applicablectole bargaining agreemen

4.  Article XII.1 of the Plan permits the Company, agtiby written resolution of its Board of Directdtie “Board”) or a duly authorized
delegate of the Board, to amend the Plan at arg &éind from time to time

5. Article XIV.2.b of the Plan authorizes the Admimetive Committee under the Plan to adopt certaém Rimendments on behalf of the
Company.

6. The Plan amendments described herein shall beciubjapproval by the Boar

Amendment to the Plan:

1. Effective August 19, 2012, Article 111.2 is amendiedts entirety to read as follow
2. Employer Match Contributions.

For each dollar a Participant contributes to trenRis either a Pre-Tax Contribution or an After-Tamtribution during a payroll
period, his Employer shall contribute into the Rfgwaint's Employer Match Contribution Account, @®s as practicable after the
end of such payroll period, the following applicabimount

a. Effective August 19, 2012, for Employees who aigilele to participate in the Plan and who are (t¢d or rehired by, or
transferred to, an Employer during the period beigig on August 19, 2012, and ending on DecembeP@13, (2) employed
in a unit represented by a labor organization beotepresentative which is recognized by an Engylag the representative
of such unit for the purpose of collective bargagnand has entered into a written agreement witBraployer providing for
participation in the Plan by the Employees in suct (a “Collective Bargaining Unit"), (3) not engled by the Employer’'s
Benshaw business unit, and (4) not active Partitgpa the EMD Component of the Curtiss-Wright Gogiion Retirement
Plan (the “EMD Component”) while eligible to paifiate in the Plan, the “applicable amount” is $1 €bject to a maximum
Employer Match Contribution of 6% of the Particif’s Compensation for that mon

b. Effective December 1, 2012, for Employees who #igebde to participate in the Plan and who arel{itgd or rehired by, or
transferred to, an Employer during the period beigigp on December 1, 2012, and ending on Decemhe2@®1B, (2) not
included in a Collective Bargaining Unit, (3) nahployed by the Employ’s
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Benshaw business unit, and (4) not active Partitgpz the EMD Component while eligible to partaig in the Plan, the
“applicable amount” is $1.00, subject to a maximEmployer Match Contribution of 6% of the ParticifarfCompensation
for that month

c. Effective January 1, 2014, for Employees (whethiarat included in a Collective Bargaining Unit) whce eligible to
participate in the Plan and who are (1) hired biresl by, or transferred to, an Employer on orrafenuary 1, 2014, (2) not
employed by the Employer’s Benshaw business undt,(8) ineligible to become active Participantshie EMD Component,
the “applicable amount” is $1.00, subject to a mmaxin Employer Match Contribution of 6% of the Pap@mnt’s
Compensation for that mont

d. Forall Employees who are eligible to participatehie Plan other than those described in paragraph.b, or 2.c above, the
“applicable amount” is $0.50, subject to a maximbmployer Match Contribution of 3% of the ParticifarCompensation
for that month

Employer Match Contributions shall first be madéhwespect to Participant Pre-Tax Contributions #va not Roth Contributions,
then with respect to Participant Pre-Tax Contritmsithat are Roth Contributions, and then witheespp Participant After-Tax
Contributions.

No Employer Match Contributions shall be made wéspect to Cat-Up Contributions made by a Participant in accocganith
Article 111.1.b or Roth Catc-Up Contributions made by a Participant in accoréanith Article IIl.1.e.

2. Effective September 1, 2012, Article IV.9 is addedead as follows

9. The Administrative Committee may authorize thatfen provide Participants with an eligible investrmadvice arrangement,
within the meaning of and in accordance with sectio8(g) of ERISA and section 4975(f)(8) of the Epithe fees for which may
charged against the Accounts of each Participantelécts to enroll in such arrangeme
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Except to the extent amended by this Instrumedtroéndment, the Plan shall remain in full force affect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been exdautethis day of , 2012,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The information below is provided, as of Decembir2012 with respect to the subsidiaries of theifemt, all of which are wholly owned
the Corporation, directly or indirectly. The nanoésertain inactive subsidiaries and other consiéid subsidiaries of the Registrant have
omitted because such subsidiaries would not comstit significant subsidiary, individually or iretlaggregate.

Organized Under

Name the Laws of
Curtiss Wright Controls (UK) Lt United Kingdom
Curtis-Wright Antriebstechnik Gmblt Switzerland
Curtis-Wright Controls Electronic Systems Ir California
Curtis-Wright Controls Integrated Sensing, |i Delaware
Curtis-Wright Controls, Inc Delaware
Curtis-Wright Electr--Mechanical Corporatio Delaware
Curtis-Wright Flow Control Company Cana Nova Scotie
Curtis-Wright Flow Control Corporatio New York
Dy4 Inc Delaware
Dy4 Systems, Inc Ontario
Indal Technologies, Inc Canade
Metal Improvement Company, LL Delaware
Novatronics, Inc Ontario
Peerless Instrument Co., Ir New York

Penny & Giles Controls Limite
Primagraphics (Holdings) Limite
Tapco International, In

United Kingdom
United Kingdom
Delaware



Exhibit 2%
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inifeggion Statement Nos. 33-65073, 333-116195, B&H41, 333-126543, and 333773
on Form S8, of our reports dated February 21, 2013, relatimghe consolidated financial statements and firdnstatement schedule
CurtissWright Corporation and subsidiaries, and the eiffeciess of internal control over financial repagtimppearing in this Annual Rep
on Form 10-K of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and sdizgies for the year ended December 31, 2012.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 21, 2013




Exhibit 31.1
Certifications

[, Martin R. Benante, certify tha
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omittadie a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15()) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and proceduries tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipor, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmanisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contals procedures, as of the end of the period coveyettiis report based
such evaluation; an

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the regigtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbmg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesse the design or operation of internal controkiofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinencia
information; anc

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a signifioéamin the registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

February 21, 201
/sl Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.Z

Certifications

I, Glenn E. Tynan, certify tha

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Forn-K of Curtis-Wright Corporation

2. Based on

my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omitide a material fact necessar

make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts under which such statements were made, nteadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on

my knowledge, the financial statementd, aher financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi

respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures {

defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15@)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt

13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a)

b)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresaused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made kno
to us by others within those entities, particulahlying the period in which this report is beingared

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahporting to be design
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assaraegarding the reliability of financial repogimnd the preparation
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting princijy

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsanisclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusio
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contals procedures, as of the end of the period coveyettiis report based
such evaluation; an

Disclosed in this report any change in the regidtsainternal control over financial reporting thatcomed during th
registrant’'s most recent fiscal quarter (the regists fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbmg that has material
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadf, the registra’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrant other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacommittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!

functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknes$e the design or operation of internal controkmofinancial reportin
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect thgistrants ability to record, process, summarize and refinencia
information; anc

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involveamagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrarg’
internal control over financial reportin

February 21, 201

/s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynar

Chief Financial Office




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-@t Corporation (the “Company”) on Form KOfor the period ended December 31, 2
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissio the date hereof (the “Reportijartin R. Benante, as Chairman and Chief Exec
Officer of the Company, and Glenn E. Tynan, as Chieancial Officer of the Company, each herebytifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sect
1350, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exg®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faidgesents, in all material respects, the financtaldition and results of operations of
Company.

/s/ Martin R. Benant

Martin R. Benantt
Chairman ant

Chief Executive Office
February 21, 201

/s/ Glenn E. Tyna

Glenn E. Tynar
Chief Financial Office
February 21, 201



